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INTRODUCTI1O N,

WHEN I began my researches in the Archives of
Simancas, cight years ago, the regulations then prevailing
in that establishment authorized its chief officer to refuse
to any historical enquirer the communication of all such
documents as he thought might reflect dishonour on
reigning familics and other great personages, or which
he considored to be unfit for publication for any other
reason. Although I was at first given to understand
that in my case no use would be made of this discretionary
poveer, not many months passed before it became clear
that some -papers, of the number and contents of which
1 could form no judgment, were being kept back.
If this partial suppression of historical information had
no other consequences than to securc to onc or other
popular hero or heroine of subordinate importance a
creater share of praise than was their. due, T should,

perhaps, have patiently acquiesced. The danger to
~ which it exposed historical research was, however, of a
much more serious-kind. -Whether King Ferdinand and
Queen Isabel, Henry VIII. and Wolsey, Francis I. and
his mistressés, Charles V. and Gattinara, Pope Leo and
~ Pope Adnan, were really the perfect rulers of church and
statec which their numerous admirers would fain make
us believe, are subjects too important in themselves to
be lightly dealt with. They filled places so prominent
in European history that they materially influenced its
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development. -But, however great the personal intenest
attaching to thewn may be, it is an ohjeet of still greater
moment _to discover whetlier it was possible, more than
three hundred and fifty vears ago, to administer the affairs
of nations on principles as Jure as, or even more so than,
those of our own day; all the great social, political, and -
moral questions as to whether mankind is improving or
is in a state of decay, being intimately connected with it.
To torm a careful estimate of our own time belongs to
the political philosopher; to bring to light facts -which
make o comparison with the past possible, is the first
and paramount duty jof the historian. And how can
that be done if the shortcomings of statesmen of past
centuries are concealed or explained away ?

~ Although wnwilling to give “trouble to the Spanish
Government, which had so readily granted permission
to search 1its vast depositories of historical documents,
I should have neglected a duty had T not endeavoured by
every means to persuade it to remove all the restrictions.
To obtain redress at Simancas having proved imprac-
ticable, T addressed the Director General of Public
Instruction at Madrid. It would take too much space
to describe the negotiations which ensued, and which
during more than six years formed the most difficult and
by no means clways the most pleasant. portion of my
labours. It may, therefore, suffice to state that when,
during the last ministry of Marshal Narvaez, the depart- .
ment of Public Instruction was entrusted to Don Severo
Catalina, now Minister de- Fomento, I found him
resolved to -do away with the obsolete regulations
regarding the Spanish archives. Instead of making
any difficulties, he procured a royal order, commanding -
that all the historical documents in Simancas, without
any rescrve or hmitation, should be communicated 4o me.
It affords me special satisfackion publicly to thank hiin for
this liberal and enlightened measure.
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When assured that no kind of information would any
longer be withheld, I endeavoured to a{eeﬂzfﬂn whether
the forther volumes of my Calendar, con#piled under less
favourable circumstances, had received any material in-
jury which it might seem advisable to repair. 1 was
not long in discovering two errors into which I had
been betrayed, the first relating to the private life of
Queen Katharine before and after her marriage to King
Henry VIII., and the other concerning the strange
marriage projects of King Henry VIL. with regard to
Queen Juana, the widow of King Philip, and mother of
the Emperor Charles V. The correction of these errors,
or rather the new information which® has come to light,
has been thought to be sufficiently 1nterest1ng to justify
the publication of this volume, which forms A supplement
to the first, and, tp some smaller extcnt to the second
volume of the Spanish Calendar.

The two subjects have no other connexion than that
they have been incompletely stated in the same work. I
shd¥, therefore, speak of them separately hereafter. As to
the docurients regarding Queen Katharine, they require
little comment; but the case of King Henry VII. and
Queen Juana is of a most complicated nature. The state
papers mentioned in the first volume of my Calendar
admit of no reasonable doubt that King Kenry was really
scrious in suing for the hand of the Queen, whose dowry
consisted of the crown of Castile, but who, according to the
unanimous verdict of history, was mad. Doctor de Puchla
was 1not only Spanish ambassador in En eland, but enjoyed
also 111 ar unusual degreec the confidence« of the King.
We hme therefore, no reason to question the accuracy of
his statement when he wrote to his master that the Eng-
dish seemed to care little for her insanity, especially since
he had assured them that it would not prevent her from
bearing children ;(*) and again when, five months later, he

(1) De Puebla to King Ferdinand, April 15, 1507, p. 94.
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informed King Ferdinand that Henry and his Counreil
desired exte¢me.y that the marriage should sbe concluded
“cven 1f worse things were said of her madness.”” (¥)

The correspondence which I am now enabled to
publish throws, however, grave doubts on the insanity of
Queen Juana, and the readér will find abundant materials -
in it to judge for himself whether she was not a victim,
firstly, of the tyranmy of her mother, and then of the
avarice of her father, her husband, and her son. If
it can be established that King Henry had suffieient
reason to suspect the real state of things, he must be
absolved from a stigma the most degrading which could
weigh upon his memory. If, on the other hand, he
belicved that his intended bride was mad, although that
may not nave been the case, his moral guilt remains
unaltered, afd “a group of other criminals is added
to the picture. It would be superfluous to dwell on
the si gnificance which these questions have in the eyes of
those who are interested in ascertaining the development
of civilisation 1n succeeding generations. Moreover, even
those who are inclined to lock with indifference on
the moral teachings of history must admit that truth,
for its ‘'own sake, deserves to be elucidated, (iuite -1rre-
spectively as 1o whether 1t upholds or refutes precon-
ceived opinions, and gratifies or hurts national or party
susceptibilities. |

Questions relating to the state of mind of a person
affirmed to be insane are generally of an intricate nature,
and this is the case with Queen, Juana. It is impossible to
form a judgment withouf reviewing the carlier part of her
fife, and taking into consideration all the surfounding cjr-
cumstances, which either influenced the formation of her
mind or explam the motives of her actions and th® con-
duct of her opponents. To give all the documents which
disclose the true character Qf her mother, under whose

N — & s - —_— LR—— —-—

(1) De Puebla to King Ferdinand, September 7, 1507, p. 113,
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guidance” she was educated, of King Ferdinand, King
Philip, and Charles V., by whom she “va$ imprisoned,
would require much more space than we have at our
disposal. I must, therefore, content myself with a few
prefatory observations concerning the general state of
things; but it has been my aim to give a complete
colection of those documents which have an immediate
and direct bearing on the inquiry whether, at the period
In question, she was insane or falsely represented as mad,
in as far as they are to be found at Simancas. The
letters here published are the identical reports and orders
which were respectively received and given by the very
persons by whom Juana was imprisoned ; not the bare
recitals of casual witnesses who might be mistaken ; and
many of them introduce us, as it were, to the presence of
the captive Queen,-for in them we find Her behaviour
minutely chr(}nigléd and her conversations literally re-
ported. As the documents of this period,_ however, are
neither numercus nor very explicit on the point in ques.
tfoi;h recourse must, to & cestain extent, be had to the cor-
respondence of later times, and it will be found that the
letters written during the years immediately preceding the
rising of the Commons in Castile are the most curious
and the most instructive. When the partisans of Charles
recaptured Tordesillas, in the month of December 1520,
and Quecn Juana was again the prisoner of her son, the
uninterrupted monotony of her prison life offers little of
interest to us. I add, therefore, only a few of such docu-
memts of that perjod as I think %erve more fully to
explain former occurrences.

This volume differs in one essentia) po';int from the
other volumes of the Calendar. Instead of giving mere
- abstraets, I have printed the state papers in full, in
fhe original languages in which they were written, pre-
serving the old orthography, the punctuation, and even
the grammatical errors which occur in the originals. The
documents are printed from transcripts which have heen
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carefully made by the best dopyists that could be obtained
in Simancag, that is to say, by the officers of.the Archives.
The copies are -leposited at the Rolls House, where they
can be inspected by whosoever wishes to compare them
with the printed documents. The translations do not aim
at elegance, but only at as faithful a rendering of the mean- .
ing of the originals as the great difference between old
Spanish and modern Enghish permits.




QUEEN KATHARINE.

Whatever the opinions on the merits of the divoree
case of Queen Katharine may be, no historian, as far
as T am aware, has impeached her private character;
and when I_had occasion, in the first volume of my
Calendar, to speak of her life after the death of Prince
Arthur, I could only join in the general praise of her
personal virtues. My unconditional commendation, how-
ever, was purchasad at the price of a partial suppression
of truth, and letters which the late keeper of the arghives
at Simancas had taken much care to conceal make a
reversal of my former Judgment an imperative duty. |

It secms as though exceedmgly few, if any, of the
men and women who were mixed up with the public
affairs of three or four hundred years ago can bear close
exarmination without their characters being more or less
lowered in our estimation. Of this Queen Katharine
furnishes us with new cvidence, .

When Princess Dowager of Wales, she asked her father,
in the year 15006, to send her a Spanish confessor. XKing
Ferdinapd was *then at Naples, and as no well-qualified
Spanish priest colld be found in Italy, he begged his
danghter to wait until his return to Spain. «But before he
had left Ttaly the Princess informed him in her letter of
the 15th April 1507, that she had found an excellent
"confessm and needed 1o other. (1) As long as Doctor de
Puebla was ambassador at the court of King Henry
we meet with no unfavourable comment on her conduct

(1) Pp. 102, 103,
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towards her s]g)mtual director. ‘Whether that is due to the
overprudent chdmcter of the Doctor, or to the loss or
suppression of aﬂportmn of his correspondence, or whether
the unfavourable reports did not obtain credit until a later
period, we are unable to decide. But in the year 1508,
Gutier Gomez de Fuensdlida, Knight Commander of -
Membrilla, was sent to relieve De Puebla from his post,
and not many months elapsed before he became aware
that the presence of the confessor was to the last degree
mjurious to the reputation of Princess Katharine. It is
always a delicate, often a dangerous, undertaking for a
subject to tell his king and master that the honour of his
daughter, and conséquently his own, is not beyond sus-
picion. Thus, the Knight Commander delayed speaking
in his dOS‘I}‘ltGll{“i of the imprudent conduct of the Princess
as long as he could, trusting that hé, and others might
be able to persuade her to behave in a~more becoming
manner, and to put an end to the scandalous rumours
which were rife at court. He spoke with the Princess,
and Juan de Cuerc made representations to the confessor,
but the only result was that Katharine regarded them as
her greatest enemics. (') At last, on the 4th of March
1509, the ambassador thought he could no longer delay
breaking the subject to King Ferdinand. (?)) That he laid
the blame principally on the confessor is natural enough,
but, if we understand his accusations aright, they are of
such a kind as only too much to involve the Princess

-

hersellf. . _
Fuensalida describes Fray Diego Fernandez as a monk

having neithey lmrmng Nnor appcarance, NOr IMANErs, NOT
competency, nor credit. He was light, haughty, and
licentious to an extreme degree. On another ocecasion
the ambassador calls him a “ pestiferous” person (¥} whe
could not too soon be removed from the presence of the
Princess. But, on the other hand, he was young, and does
not seem to have heen deficient in aptitude for the

T e va— [ — = = -

(1) Pp. 14, 18, 25, 28. (*) Pp. 13, 31. (%) P. 2.
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despatch of business, as he discharged not onlf the duties
of confessor but also those of chancellor %o the Princess.
He gaimed her copfidence and her affechion. The most
effectual weapon in the hands of a priest 1s the belief of
others that he is the dispenser of rewards and punish-
- ments in future life. Of thiS Fray Diego made a most
unscrupulous use, declaring everything to be a mortal sin
which displeased him, however innocent it might be.~(*)
Fuensalida gives us one striking 1ilustration. King
Henry had asked the Princess Katharine and Princess
Mary to go to Richmond, where he intended to meet
them. When the Princess Katharine was ready to start,
the friar came into her room, and said to her, ‘“ You shall
“not go today.” The Princess, it is true, had vomited
that night, but was again perfectly well, and the distance
she had to travel was at the utmost less than one leagué.
She therefore prqtested that she was not ill, and did not
like to be left behind alone. The friar, however, overruled
her objections in a high-handed manner by his catego-
rical command, “ I tell you that upon pain of mortal sin
“ you shall not go today.” The Princess, “not daring
“ to displease him,” had no choice left, and underwent the
humiliation of telling the Princess Mary, who had been
waiting for her more than two hours, that she was unable
to go. It is easy to imagine the feelings of the English
gentlemen who, having been appointed to escort the twe
princesses, rode off with the Princess Mary alone, leaving
their future quoen behind in the company of a young
Spanish monk of bad repufe and a few scrvants, one of
whom had arrived by mere chance. They could not have
been deceived by her pretext of indisposition, as they had
" seen her at mass and at dinner in perfect health. When,
qn thefollowing day, she went to Richmond, accompanied
by no other living creature than three women on horse-
back, her maestre sula, a chamberlain, and Fray Diego,
King Henry was so much incensed, that for several

— o ———— - e —

(*) P, 13.
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weeks he did not take the slightest notice of her,- although
during that *ints she really fell ill. “May God forgive
me,”” exclaimed the ambassador, “ but since T have known
““ 50 well the affairs of the Princess’ household, I acquit
““ the King of England of a great and very great portion
“ of the blame which I hitherto laid on him, and do not
*“ wonder at what he has done, but at what he does not
9 -,do'” Q! | |

Fray Diego made the infatuation of the Princess a
means of obtfaining pecuniary advantages. She was
living in absolute poverty, and her father had strietly
forbidden her to sell any portion of her plate and jewels,
which were to be. given in part payment of her dower
to the King of England. In spite of these injunctions
she sold scome plate, and would have sold more had she
fiot been prevemded by her servants, jn order to * satisfy
the follies” of the friar; and, unmthadful of her own
wants, she employed the money in buying books: and
other things for him. () N

All the circumstances hitherto -mentioned may easily
be explained as devotion carried beyond its proper limits.
Unfortunately for the reputation of the Princess, her
confessor himself renders this more charitable-interpreta-
tion rather difficult. One day he came to the ambassador,
and wished to have an explanation with him on the
reports concerning himself and the Princess. The Knight
Commander very properly, we think, endeavoured fo
avoid it, as only tending towards making her disgrace
more public, but Bray Diego insisted, and at.last said
these formal words : “ Be it so, but “in this house there
“ gre evil todgues, and they have cast slanderdus imputa-
““ tions upon me with respeet not to the lowest in the
““ house, but to the highest, which is no disgrace to me,
““ and if it were not for the sake of contradieting them
““ T should already be gone.” (*) The highest person
in the house of the Prinelss Katharine was evidently

—_— ——

——— . L - —E——— R  — ———— L FEEE UL .

(1y Pp. 25, 26, 27. (%), P. 28. (3) P. 15,
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the Princess herself, and the scandalous reports of
which the friar spoke related, therefore, ‘o her quite as
much as to him. , We have translated the word infamar
by slander, because it has no exact equivalent m  the
English language, and we were afraid of malking the
case worse by using too stiong an expression. But
infamar indicates something more infamous than slan-
der, and if we consider the circumstances under which
it was used, it would be mere affectation to pretend any
doubt as to what kind of infamy was imputed to the
Princess. The ambassador added, that he was so excited
that he could scarcely restrain himself from laying hands
on the friar. () We. readily believer him, for the so-
called explanation seems to have been a coarse gratifica-
tion of vanity rather than a serious denial of a report
which, as he said, dld not disgrace him. ° " ’

And how was jt pomﬂﬂu that King Henry could ]1{"‘11’1'1]13
such a state of thipgs to continue? We must remind the
reader that the Kine had caused his son to protest against
his marriage with Princess-Katharine, and thus roserved
to himself the right of Dreaking off the engagement at
any moment that might seem to him convenient. Bear-
ing this fact in mind, it will be easy to understand the
explanation of the ambassador, who stated that all the
English, and cspecially King Ilenry and cven Prince
Henry, abhorred to sce such a friar so continually in the
palace and amongst the women. () The King had remon-
strated with the. Princess “in very strong words;” as,
however, “his remonstrances remainéd as incfiectual as
those of the ambassador and the Spanish seryants, he did
not think it liis duty to interfere more cnergetically. But
rhi.t‘-;'r apparent acquiescence in what “displeased him so
much,”sand “ was constantly brought hefore his eyes,” was
“not considered as a good sign by those who knew him
best.” (*) 'The ambassador leaves us to interpret his
oracular words as well as we can.  We do not wonder at

. P -
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(M P, 13, 16. (2 0 16, 31. (%) P16, 27
Ip




Xviii INTRADUCTION.

his not being more explicit when speaking to the father of
the defamed’ lafly. As we, however, are pot labouring
under the same elisadvantage, we may .ask what meaning
could these phrases have, except that the ambassador
intended to state that King Henry was permitting the
bride of his son and heir Yo go on ruining her reputation
in order to obtain a reasonable ground to declare her
unworthy of becoming his daughter in law 7

We have not yet exhausted the case of the accusation.
The ambassador stated that Princess Xatharine was
guilty of things of “a .thousand times worse kind” ()
than, for instance, remaining behind with her young
confessor when shé was ordered to go to Kichmond ; and
in his letter of the 20th of March to the First Secretary
Gf State fie declared that he had written only in hints, or,
to use his own’ expression, in ¢ parablgs ” to the King. (%)
His despatch of the 4th of March wasesent to Spain by
Juan de Ascotia, a servant of the Princess, and chosen by
her to be the bearer of complaints against the ambassadqr.
Nevertheless the Knight CommMaer did not hesitate to
call him to witness; because, as he was living in the house
of the Princess, he must have seen what had been goiﬂg
on in it during the last two months. If King? Ferdinand
after having heard the servant, and after having been
informed of the complaints of the Princess against him,
should wish to know the truth, he would speak without
restraint, and ¢ without lying on any point.” (3)

After having stated the accusation, we may hear the
defence. The Princess Katharine was perfectly aware of
the reports which were circulated about her, for she
descants with great vehemence on the infamous sian,der‘
against her person and the honour of her house. But.
the friar, she pretended, was the best confessor tRat ever
woman in lier position had, with respect to his life as
well as fo his holy doctrine ;and proficiency in letters. (*)

He was sewmg ‘her f&lthfully, glvlng her good advice

—————— - ———r

(1) P, 27. (___,,) P.31. * (3) P.14, (4) P. 19._“
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and a good example, and nothing grieved her more than
that her poverfy did not permit her to rdward him as he
deserved. (1) No g¢ne, however, who reads the two letters
of the confessor contained in this volume, (*) and the com-
munications which he made to Luis Caroz,(®) can have any
doubt that, whilst his liferaly attainments were very
slender, his coarseness was so great that the Princess
could be misled only by her great ¢ affection” for him ;
and her case is certainly not improved by the circum-
stance that, some years later, Fray Diego, whilst still her
confessor, was judicially convicted of fornication. (*)
- In the yeax 1509 the Princess Katharine was not a
_ mere child, who might have been excused on the ground
of ignorance. -Born on the 15th of December 1485, she
was then a widow in her twenty-fourth Jear, and,
quite irrespectively of the question whethér her marriage
with Prince Arthur had been consummated or not, she
must have known what the ‘true nature of the accusation
was under which she was labouring. Any woman who
valued her honour wouldy under similar ecircumstances,
have sent away her young confessor, and thus put an
end to the scandal which had already continued far too
long - a time. Princess Katharine, however, adopted a
different line of conduct. She informed her father that
the friar had threatencd to leave her. We may suspect
that he was not in earnest; but the Prinecss believed
him, and implored King Ferdinand in passionate words
to prevent hime “ her greatest comfort” in her trou-
bles, who * gave her consolation and support™ in her
cheerless life, from carrying out his intention. Her
 judgment, génerally very clear, forsook her so entir cly
" on this occasign that she asked her father to write
to theé King of England to the effect that he had
commanded the friar to remain at his post, and that he
wished that he should be < well treated and humoured ™

by King Henry as "well as by the prelates of the king-

. . ——— —

() P 19. (3) 12, 34, 4+t (d) P. 43. (+) P. 45.
. b 2
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dom. Not satisfied with this ardent appeal, she implored
her father not to let her * perish,” threatening, at the
same time, to dO something in her deepair which neither
the King of England nor her father would be able to
prevent, and in her letter of the 20th of March she went
so far as to hint at her imminent death. (') Such con-
duct and such language could only confirm the suspicion
wiinch had been excited, and we must confess that the
defence seems to us almost as damaging as the accusation.

As 1s usual in similar cases, we have no direct proof
of a criminal intercourse of Princess Katharine with
her confessor, and may absolve her from that charge.
But, on the other hand, although she had declared that
in pretendmﬂ* to the hand of Prince Ilenry she was
consultmﬁ' the llltE‘l ests of her father rather than her own
Wlshes, (%) she did all in ler power-ta bring about that
marriage, and was actually living in the house of the
father of her late husband and of the man to whom
she had pledged her faith., If, urder such circumstances,
she Iaid herself open, throngh” her reckless con&uct ‘to a
suspicion which is the most degrading for a woman, and
involves one of the most heinous erimes s catholic can
commit, we think we shall not be too severe if we* pro-
nounce her to have forfeited the right to be considered as
a lady of spotless honour. She bitterly eompla,ined of the
contempt with which she was treated in England ; (3)
but as she never hints that the disrespeet shown to her
might to some extent have heen the cotisequence of her
own follies, we hope that she was not "conscious of under-

coing a well-deserved punishment, and that thus she was
spared this last humiliation,

The death of King Henry VII., which soon afterwards .
occwrred, released her from her painful situation. The
negotiations for her marriage, which had flageed for more
than a ycar, were resumed with renewed energy. If we
read the Spanish correspondence of ‘[hat peuod %gam

—_——

( y Pp. 21, 33, 84 (%) P.105; (*) For insiance, p. 17.
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many passages assumc a clearel significance. than Wwe were
hitherto able to assign to them. We tow perfectly un-
derstand the reaspns which prompted Keng Ferdinand to
implore his ambassador not to specak a word about what
had happened, and ¢ for God’s sake” mnot to complain
of the Princess to any one in England.(*) Even his
orders to corrupt some of the more influential English
councillors, by paying them money, and to gain over
the commissioners,(?) hecome more intelligible than they
have hitherto been, whilst, on the other hand, if, as
King Ferdinand suspected, the confessor protested against
the lawfulness of the marriage, (!) his protestation is
liable to a qufte different interpretation.

Six weeks after the death of King Henry VI1I,, the Prin-
cess Katharine was married to,the new King of England.
Those who believe,that King Henry VIII. was a prince of
great sagacity amd strength of will might expect to hear
nothing more of Fray Diego after the marrage. “They
would be mistaken. For Queen Katharine prevailed on
her husband to suffer her séandalous confessor to continue
his officé for five or siX years longer. Fuensalida was
recalled, and Don Luis Caroz sent in his place. The new
ambassador found that the friar still exercised an almost
unbounded power over the Queen. It depended on him
whom she was to see, and whether she was to receive even.
the representative of her father. As Fray Diego was
afraid lest Luis Caroz would endeavour to deprive him of
his influence, he forbade all communijcation between the
Spanish ambassadorand the Queen. Coaxing and flattery
were thrown away on him, and the ambassadpr states that
he_had nevef seen so wicked a person, whilst on another
_ occasion he suspected that he was not in his right mind.(*)

(1) Spanish Calendar, II,, p. 17. An exact copy of the document from
which the abstract is made is depnslted at the Rolls House,

(%) Ibid., p. 8, p. 12. A copy of thm document is at the Reolls House,

(*) Spanish Calendar. Vol IL, p. 9. A full copy of the document 13

deposited at the Rolls House. .
(*) P. 36, sqq.
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But to us 1t 1s of more importance to ascertain whether
the relations between the confessor ard the Queen were
still objectionabiy intimate. That a <onfessor is more
thoroughly acquainted with the state of mind of his peni-
tent than any other man may be natural ; but if -he boasts
that a married woman gives more exact information
about her bodily condition to him than to her own hus-
band, we think that his statement, if true, detracts from
his honour as well as from that of the lady. We read,
therefore, with concern the letter of Fray Diego to King
Ferdinand of the 25th of -May 1510, in which he pretends
that the Queen had communieated to him her hope soon to
cladden the country with a prince, whilst she was still
conccaling her condition from < all the world and the
King.”(*) On the whole, the friar seems to have con-
stituted himself the herald of her .pregnancies. His
descriptions are ds unbecoming a priestras his assertions
are preposterous. It was he to whom the inextricable
confusion of the never ceasing expectations of the Queen
to become a mother is due.” Yet what would be- too
absurd for a man who dared to tell King Ferdinand that
the Queen had been delivered of a still born daughter,
with no other suftering than that one of her knees had
pained her the night before, and that in spite of her mis-
carriage she had remained pregnant of another child.(?)
When, in the year 1515, in consequence of 8 Serious
quarrel between Ferdinand and Henry, followed by a re-
conciliation, the influence of the Catholic King in England
was at 1ts greatest helght Fray Dirgo was prosecuted
convicted of fornication, deprived of his office of chancellor
of the Queen, and sentenced by his judges, the Bishop
of Winchester (°) and the Earl of Surrey, to be delivered
up to King Ferdinand. There wasno person in the world
whom the friar dreaded more than the King of Spain.
He therefore fled, but indited from his hldlng place an

—_————————— o ——_——— .. | e — e —— e e e e . - —_——— _———

(1) P. 35. (2) Pp 34, 43,

(*) Huntonie, in the letter of the friar, instead of Wintonie, just as
ffu:zﬂmr instead of Windsor, etc.
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undated holograph letter to King Henry, comf)laining of
the injustice dgne to him, and stating that*to’fall into the
hands of ng Fepdinand would be cerigin death. He
begged permission to return, reminding Henry ‘that he
had it in his power to divulge the secrets of his house
. and his government.(!) The*letter bears no sign that
it was ever delivered either to the King or any of his
ministers, and its presence among the Spanish state papers
would be difficult to explain on any other supposition than
that King Ferdinand had discovered the friar’s place of
concealment, and captured him together with his papers.

In concluding this subject, we may observe, that, what-
ever the relations of Queen Katharine and her confessor
before her marriage may have been, they could not, ac-
cording to canon law, after eighteen years of married
life, be used as a ground for demanding fhe’ divorce, and
whether there is any reason to suppose that King Hemfy
remembered Fray Diego when he opposed absolute silence
tq the solemn appeal of the Queen, calling him to wit-
ness. that he had fouid er an untouched virgmn, we
must leave to the judgment of the reader.

The letter of Don Luis Caroz, of the 28th of May 1510,
contains a detailed report of a love affair of King Henry
and a sister of the Duke of Buckingham (*), which may
have been the first step to the disgrace of the duke which
ended in his execcution.

To the letters lately discovered at Simancas is prefixed
one which was. found in the collections of D. Pascual
' de Gayangos at Madrid. It is from Don Pedrode Ayala
to Q,ueen. Tsabel, and the information contained in
it about thé life of Katharine 1mmed1a,tely after her
, mamage to Prince Arthur seems to us the more 1im-
portant, as ‘the letter was written before any one could
have foreseen her future ill fortune. We shall speak of
its contents when we come to the divorce.

(1Y . 44. sqq. (%) P. 39. sq.



QUEEN JUANA.

Tn the month of July 1500 Don Juan, the only son
of King Ferdinand and Queen Isabel, and their eldest
daughter, together with their grandson by her, having
been removed by death, their second daughter Juana
" thus became undisputed heiress to the crowns of Castile
and Aragon. Queen Isabel was suffering from a series of
long protracted illnesses. 1t was therefore expected that
e would die before her husband, and in that case King
Terdinand would have had to content himself with the
small kingdom of Aragon, leaving Casfile to his daughter.
His “plan of forming a united monarchy of Spain would
have been jeopardized, if not entirely frustrated.

Fuana was married to Archduke Philip, who was to
be a Queen’s consort in Spain, with no right of his own
to participate in its government.  Although he had no
great political plans, he and his councillors werc exceed-
ingly eager to appropriate to themselves the revenues of
Castile. -

Charles, being the eldest son of Philip and Juana,
was heir presumptive to the Austrian dominions, the Bur-
gundian states, Castile and Aragon, with their depend-
encies, and it was never seriously doubted that he would
he the successor of Maximilian on the imperial throne.
Trom his eariiest years he had always beenr taught that
God had vouchsafed to him so much greatness for no
other purpose than that he might realise -a uriversal
Clristian empire—the nonarquid, so often mentioned in
the state papers of the time, and by means of it “ secure
“ peace to Christendom, and defend the cause of our
¢« Qaviour against both infidels and heretics.” But whilst
the Burzundian domihions devolved on him in the year

-—
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1506, and it was expected that he would soon succeed his
grandfather in the Austrian principalitibs*and in the
empire, if the lawful succession was to lg observed, he
would have had to wait for the Spanish crowns until the
death of his mother, who was young, and in fact lived
almost as long as he. To thihk of forming a universal
empire without Spain would have been folly.

Thus the richt of Juana to the Spanish inheritance was
incompatible with the plans of her father, the greediness
of her husband, and -with what her son considered to be
his duties towards God and the world. In the very
clearness of her title, which could not be explained away,
consisted her greatest danger. Her death, however, would
not have benefited either King Ferdinand or King Philip.
Had she died, her son, and not her father, wdéuld have
been her successor in Castile, whilst her huSband would
have lost even th(; pretext he had for meddling in the
‘affairs of Spain. Both could, therefore, gain only if she
continued to live, and yet was prevented from exercising
her royal prerogatives.® To bring about such a state of
things was certainly no easy undertaking. |

To use the phrase of the time, “ God interfered in favour
¢« of his truest servant.” Philip died, and Juana, we are
told, was so much affected by grief at the sudden death of
her husband that her reason gave way, and she never re-
covered. Unable to govern, her father became ¢ sovereign
administrator ” of Castile, and gained the time nceessary
for consolidating, the Spanish monarchy. After his death
in 1516 #il the kingdoms of Juana, viz., Castile, Aragon,
Naples, and Sicily, together with their dependencies in the
old ahd new world, devolved on her son, :who, by this

accession, was placed from the beginning of his reign in a
positiom earrestly to think of realising his never fulfilled
but most seriously entertained day-dreams. Thus the
madness of Queen Juana was, as it were, the foundation
stone of the political edifice of Ferdinand and of Charles,
which would have immediately ecrumbled to pieces if she
had: been permitted to exercise her hereditary right.
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Philip was as hard and cruel a husband as he was a
despicable prince. He robbed his wife of her dower and
penston from. Spain, and permitted her to live in destitu-
tion whilst he squandered her money in orgies with his
mintons and disreputable women. But women, before and
since Queen Juana, have loved unworthy husbands, and -
she may have been of their number. If we, however, endea-~
vour to inform ourselves of the circumstances of this curious
case, from contemporary or nearly contemporary sources,
we soon. discover that the information we are able to
gather is in the highest degree unsatisfactory. Maquereau,
who was a servant either of King Philip or of a member
of the family of Croy, gives a minutely detdiled account of
the death of the King, apparently as an eyewitness, but he
is not cven aware that the Queen had been suspected of
having gon¢ rad on that occasion. Johannes de Los,
Abbot of St. Lawrence, near Lidge, wrote the annals of
his time. He is evidently bewildered by false rumours, for
he informs us, not that the Queen, but that the King had
become mad and died insane.- “ Rex autem Philippus per
““ suam uxorem, ut putatur, dementatus ...... vitam
‘“ amisit et regnum.” Sandoval, who wrote about a cen-
tury later, but whose Historia de la vida y hechos del _
Emperador Carlos V.1s the first work on Charles V. which
deserves the name of a history, dedicates to this most im-
portant event in the life of his hero not more than thirty-
seven. words in a composition which, in the Antwerp
edition, fills 1346 pages 1n folio. And.even this short
notice of the madness of the Queen he thought it prudent
to temper by the addition “ pues dicen,” as it is said. It
is evident he had his doubts, and did not like to spéak on
the subject. '

The story of a young Queen losing her reason from ex.
cessive grief at her hiusband’s death is so piguante, so sen-+
timentally romantic, that grave philosophers, romance
writers and painters, have vied with each other in de-
picting the most touching scenes in the most tender
colours., 1f, however, the truth is to be told,}the story
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of Queen Juana’s madness must, we are afraid, be aban-
doned, and replaced by another drawn ini strong, hard
lines, and coloured with the darkest tints. «

The Infanta, afterwards Queen Juana, lived durmg the
first seventecn years of her life, that is to say, until she
was married to the Archduke” Philip, with her mother,
who superintended her education. Queen Isabel left
behind her, or, more accurately speaking, acquired after
her death, the reputation of having been almost a saint.
A pious Queen educating her daughter is a gratifying
spectacle, but unhappily the sanctity of Isabel was only of
a spurious kind. Her subjects who had suffered from her
iron rule had formed a widely different {dea of her. When,
on Tuesday, the 17th of November 1504, she died at
Medina del Campo, crowds assembled under thé windows
of her palace, but not to bless her memory. From curious
criminal proceedings instituted some years later against
Sarmiento, Corregidor or mayor of Medina, we learn that
he did not hesitate openly to declare “that her soul had
““ oome direct to hell for her cruel oppression of her sub-
« jects, 4nd that King Ferdinand was a thief and a
“ yobber.” Nor was Sarmiento the only person who
thought this, as the witnesses deposed that all the people
around Medina and Valladolid, that i1s to say, where the
Quecn was best known, had formed the same judgment of
her. (1)

However that may be, we are not reduced to depend
upon public opirion, knowing enough of her to judge for

ourselves, and to any one acquainted with the lawless times
of her youthful years, it must be obvious that, had she
really been s6 pious, so meek and self-sacrificing a princess,
"as her admirers would fain have us belheve, she would
have béen trodden under foot, instead of usurping, as she
did, the crown of her niece.

The history of this usurpation is one of the most dis-
araceful on record, the different parties entering, as it

R —_—

(V) Archivo General de Simancas, stado. Legajo 1. . 192,
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were, imto a competition - as to which would outdo the
other in pefjury, gross calumny, and treachery. None of
them ever kept their sworn promiscs, none hesitated for a
moment to accuse their adversaries of revolting atrocities,
In this competition Queen Isabel was the winner, after
having entered into a formal compact with the elerical fac..
tion, the Arclibishop of Toledo, Alfonso Carillo, being at
their head, and after having strengthened her party by her
marriag*e with Prince Ferdinand of Aragon, who, under
the guidance of his mother, Dofia Juana Enriquez, had
already given proofs of his eminent capacity for disem-
barrassing himself of inconvenient competitors with a
better title by, as it was generally believed, poisoning the
Prince of Viana, and getting rid of his step-sister Dofia,
- Blanca in a manner more atrocious than simple murder.
With such help Isabel branded the heiress to the throne
- with the disparaging name of la Bgltra%@'a, forced her
to flee, and seated herself on the throne of Castile. Tn
times of great political depravity it may be an advantage
1if the strongest amongst #he -wicked destroys minor
oifenders, but if it be a virtue at all, it is certainly not
one which entitles to a reputation for sanctity.

The so-called Beltraneja found an asylim in the
neighbouring kingdom of Portugal, and the eves of all
the adversaries of Isabel were constantly turned towards
her.  In order to defend her illgotten kingdom, Queen
Isabel was, therefore, forced to continue her disgraceful
mtrigues against the muchacha, the girl, as she called her
niece, and could not have freed herself, even if she had
wished, from the influence of the party which had raised
her to the throne. Priests remained powerful at her court,
and men, like Torquemada, Cisneros (Cardinal Ximenéz),
and others who are less known but were scarcely»less n-
fluential, soon rose to pre-eminence. Into the hands of
these men was given the terrible weapon of the Spanish
inquisition, and the Queen, instead of feeling compassion,
boasted of their cruelties. (')

(1) Sce Spanislh Cﬁlundﬁr, vol. I, p. xlil. 04,
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If, after this long, but necessary, digression, we return
to the picture of a pious Queen superintending the educa-
tion of her daughtey, we at once perceive that the colours
have considerably darkened. What an education could
such a mother give to her daughter ! Itf-was not then the

- custom in Spain, as it became about sixty years later, for
the royal family, with the whole court, to attend the Aufos
de T4, in order to give them more eifect. Thus Juana

- was spared the misfortune of being made an involuntary

eyewitness of these hideous spectacles. But the court,
being the central point where all the freshest news of
burning and flogging and tormenting converged, and
where they were commented upon in a repulsively sancti-
monious tone, as edifying examples of the “love of Christ
and Iis Holy Mother,” the young Infanta was obhged to
hear religious doctrines enunciated daily which must
either corrupt the soul or provoke opposition, and she
had too frequently presented before her mind’s eye scenes
which must either bhrutalize or horrify. 'The better nature

n he1 rebelled, but, as the Marquis of Denia, who after-

wards was her master of the household, informed the

Emperor, her mother forced her by severe punishment,

and even Ey the application of torture, to comply out-
wardly with the dictates of religion and duty, as religion
and duty were understood by her. (%)

It would evince little knowledge of human nature, if
we were astonished at hearing that such punishments
inflicted wunder such circumstances produced a quite
different &ffect from. what Quecen Isabel had intended.
Scarcely had Juana been sent to Flanders when sinister
rumours aliout her mode of life reached Spain.
| In the year 1497 Queen Isabel sent the Friar Tomas de
Matienzo, Sub-Prior of the Convent of Santa Cruz, to
Brussels, with instructions to inform himself respeeting
her daughter’s life, and to lead her back to the truc
faith, if she had erred. The iriar was very coldly received.(*)

"
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(1) 1. 404, (%) Pp. 47, 49,
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He found the Archduchess in excellent health, more hand-
some than ever, and had even the satisfaction of learning
that she still kept up devotional cxepcises in her house.
But she could not be induced to confess, nor would she
write even a word to her mother, nor give her the smallest
token of love. () )

Friar Andreas had been the tutor of Juana. MHe
had written to her letter after letter proffering pious
advice, but she had never sent him a single line in reply.
At last, on the 1st of September, probably of the before-
mentioned year 1497, he wrote to her for the last time,
describing the felicity of the ladies in Spain, possibly
meaning the sisters of Juana, who considered it a privi-
lege when he instructed them in their religious duties.
Ie complained of her silence, and then broke out into a
passionatc invective against the Parisian priests who stur-
rounded and corrupted his former pupil. He had been
told that she had given one of *“those drunkards™ thirty
florins, that he might make good-cheer. She must never
do so again, and must take-a confessor from s Spanish
convent, a friar who does not and cannot possess even “so
much as a pin” of private property. After she had left
Spain, he had retired to his convent, and *“ there,” he went
on to say, “In my monastery I am more happy living on
“ bread and water than your Highness with all you pos-
““ sess.” () A man who dared to hold such language to
a Princess who was to be his future Queen was certainly
not despicable ; but Juana had suffered teo much from him
and the party to which he belonged to be touched by his
pathetic words of love, whilst his offer to leave his convent
and in spite of his great age to go to Flandérs could only
alarm her. She returned no answer, |

If we read attentively the letters of the Sub-Prior and
of Friar Andreas we plainly perceive the influences of the
education to which Juana had been subjected. By nature
probably more intelligent than energetie, her character

—— il Ll - e
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(1 Pp. 49, 50, - (2) Pp. 50 seq.
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had had no room for healthy growth and free development
under the narrow, hard and oppressive rule of "her mother.
Fear, not love, predpminated in her, and wyas the motive
of her actions to a- greater extent than could have been
wished. But although she submitted to the domination of
others, she was always conscioud of the wrong done to her,
and never permitied herself to be entirely conguered.
Thus her life was a succession of attempts at rcbellion,
which, however, collapsed as soon as she was called upon
to vindicate her independence by active measures. Al-
though she was especially afraid of her mother, and would
please her in small things which required no great- cx-
ertion, yet in matters concerning her conscience, or such
as demanded energy, she opposed to Queen Isabel a pas-
sive resistance, and an inertness which it was ilmpossible
to overcome. The Sub- Prior, judging from his standpoint
of a mere c1tatu1t, of the Queen, was probably not en-
tirely wrong when he accused her of a hard and pitiless
heart, (') and yet she jwas equally right in indignantly
denymg it, for even heraccuser was forced to confess that
she was not in want of good reasons to defend her cause. (%)
That the differences between mother and daughter referred
to religious questions as well as to politics can hardly be
doubted. Her refusal to confess (])) or to accept a con-
fessor at the hands of Queen Isabel (*}, the complaints of
her former tutor of the perverting influence of the Parisian
theologians (*), and the accusation of the Sub-Prior that
she had no piety {°), admit of no other explanation.

Her deViations from the true faith, as 1t was understood
at the Spanish court, may appcar shght to many of our
readers but ‘we must remind them that Quecn Isabel had
| burned hundreds of her subjects for much smaller offences.
To be “not well disposed towards the true doctrine” was
enough to justify death on the stake. To punish the Arch.-
duchess Juana was out of the question, because she, being

_ e T R A TaL T LT SRR _FFENr ] ",
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the wife of a foreign sovereign, was not subject: to-.the
jurisdiction of Spain. But although Queen Isabel had:no-
power to show # her love of Christ and His Holy Mother *
on this occasion, could she allow a heretic to ascend .the
throne on which she was seated, and to destroy all she
had spent lLer hest yearsin building up? The ¢ Holy ™"
Inquisition was cspecially in danger, and she could not
desert the  cause of God” without commIttmg 2. mortal
sin.  Ferdinand, we have already seen, had personal
reasons for not permitting the wrath of the Queen to GODI
down. '- S *

Under these circumsiances ib Was declded to pre?ent'--
Juana from becoming Queen. The plan seems fo have
been ripc in the year 1501, and was communicated to
the Cortes, who held their sittings, in the years 1502
and 1503, first in Toledo, then in Madrid, and ﬁnaﬂy in .
Alcald de Hénares. (!) To make the_ﬂtrue reasons public
would have been a humiliation, and perhaps not without
danger, considering the great unpopularity of the Inquisi-
tion. Somec pretext was, therefore, absolutely necessa}y.
In the Rolls of the Cortes it is only stated that King.
Ferdinand, after the death of Queen Isabel, should con-
tinue to carry on the government, in casc J uana should
be “absent, or unable, or unwilling ” to exercise her royal
prerogative.(?) In an additional elause to her testament,
the Queen ordered, once again, and more explicitly,
that her husband Ferdinand should be her immediate
successor, without mentioning the conditions of her
daughter’s ¢ absence, unwillingness, or inecapacity.”(®)
This clause was confirmed by the Cortes and by the Pope.
The Rolls of the Spanish Cortes are, unhappily, as dcanty
as the English Rolls of Parliament of that time, and it is
impossible to learn more positively from them cn what |
grounds the cxclusion of the lawful hieiress was deereed.
That some at least of the leading men knew the real state
of things is probable,as the rumours of the supposed infidel

(1) P. 66, (%) P, 64, (%) P. 63
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opinions of Juana were not confined to the narrow circle
of the moat—*intimate ministers of Queen Isabel. But, on
~ the other hand, it.is not less probable #hat the great
~ majority had then already been given to understand that
- Juana was'suffering from some mental derangement.

~ «  In November 1504 Queen IsaBel died whilst Juana was
in Flanders., Ferdinand on the same day mounted a large
- scaffolding -erected in the square before the Royal palace,
and-announced to the assembled people that he had taken
the crown of Castile from his head and given it fo his
daughter Juana, but that he would continue to reign in
her name as * governor and administrator of Castile for
life;” In the Cortes which assembled hot many months
aftefﬁifﬂﬁr&ﬁ{ﬁ@rq, he delivered an excellent speech from
the throne, and Tis powers were confirmed by the repre-
sentatives of the kingdom. )

Philip, however, who, as husband of the Queen, had
assumed the title of King of Castile, sent a protest from
Flanders against the wsurpation of his father-in-law.
Speaking in a state paper addressed to Gonsalvo de Cor-
dova, of the injuries he had received from Ferdinand, he
writes that his father-in-law, in order to colour his usurpa-
tion, * takes care that a rumeur bespread that the Queen
“ hi§ dawnghter is mad, and that he Is consequently
“ entitled to govern in her stead, (adding) that the King
“ (Philip) keeps her prisoner, and other lies and insinua-
““ tions without end.”(*) Thus, we not only meet during
the lifetime of XKing Philip with the rumour of the
insanity of Queen Juana, but sece also from what source
it proceeded, and the interest which those who originated
it had that it §hould be helieved.

- After long and exceedingly unfriendly negotiations
begween® the *father and the son-in-law, Philip, accom-
panied by his wife, came in the spring of 1506 to Spain,
with the avowed purposec of taking possession of the
throne of Castile by force of arms. The Castilian
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noblemen were divided between the two rivals, but de-

fection began to thin the ranks of the Catholic King as

soon as his adversary advanced further into the counfry.

FerdJn&nd accustomed during many years to have his

way in almost everything, yielded to his strong passions,

when he saw that in this ‘most important affair one failure,
was closely followed by another. Mad with rage, **he
wanted to fly at King Philip with cepe y spada,”(?) his
cloak to cover him, and his sword to plunge into the breast
of the hated intruder. This outbreak, however, was not of
long duration. A third party was in the course of forma-
tion with the Condestable of Castile at its head. Their
intention was to drive both rivals out of the country, and
to set up Juana as their rightful Queen.(*) Of the two
adversaries of Ferdinand Juana was the more dangerous.
She was born a Spanish Infanta, and the lawful heiress to
the crown. Her government once esta,bhshed would have,
1t might be expected, the support of all in favour of legiti-
mate succession, whilst Philip, -whatever his momentary
success might be, was a stranger and a usurper, who _p;f)ba;-
bly would soon be forsaken by all the Spaniards. Besides,
a remnant of natural feeling forbade Ferdinand to employ
against his daughter such violent means as he would not

scruple to have recourse to against his son-in-law, whom
he had long ago accustomed himself to regard as a stranger.
For these reasons he decided upon allying himﬂe_lf with his
less dangerous against his more formidable dntagnnist. - On
the night of the 1st of June he slept in. the little hamlet
of Villafranca de Valcarcel, whence.on the mext morning
he sent Cardinal Cisneros with a message of love to his
son-in-law, asking for a personal interviéw, when they
could arrange their differences,

Early in the morning of the 27th of Juhe, ]?erdmand
and Philip met 1n the village of Villafafila. Philip had
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('} Letter of Almazan to the Cardinal Cisneros, dated La Vafieza, Tth of
Junc 1506, In the archives at Simancas,
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come to the rendezvous at the head of armed horsemen,
whilst Ferdinand had left behind the greater portion of
his attendants,” and accempanied by a few of his most
trusted servants mounted on peaceful donkq s, ‘met his
son-in-law with <love in his heart and peacc in his hands.”
After the first effusion of paternal love, Ferdinand invited
Philip to follow him into the village church. None of
their attendants were permitted to accompany them, but
those who kept watch at the entrance could occasionally
see the kings and hear their voices, without being able to
understand their words. King Ferdinand spoke much,
with great animation and in a most carncst and im-
pressive tone. * Philip, on the other hand, was evidently
perplexed. There was no doubt the Catholic Xing was
once more achieving one of his many intellectual
triumphs. _ . .

Great, therefore, was the astonishment of both parties
when, the private interview over, it was known that Fer-
dinand, instead of raising the least difficulty, had made
greater concessions to Philip.than had ever been demanded
of him. .Two treaties were drawn up, signed, ratified,
sworn to, and exchanged on the same day. In the first,
Ferdinand ‘ceded all his claims to the government of Cas-
tile to his * most beloved children,” that is in fact to
Philip, who in the joy of his heart proclaimed it before
the ink had had time to dry. Added to it was a secret
contract, in which Ferdinand and Philip stated that Queen
Juana “refuses’ wunder any clrcumstances to occupy
herself with the government of the kingdom, but if she
should change her mind and attempt to exercise her pre-
rogatives, it svould lead to the total destruction of the
country, considering her infirmities and sufferings which
'decency- forbids to be stated here.”() The contracting
paltles bound themselves, therefore, to prevent the Queen
and her adherents by their united forces from taking part
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in the gotvelnment The subject of the long and impressive
speech of King Ferdinand in the church was no longer a
secret. It was clear that he, who had not seen his daughter
for the last two years and a half, had persuaded Philip,
who had lived in daily intercourse with her, that he was
mistaken in denying her®insanity. For the words *her.
infirmities and sufferings, which decency forbids to be
stated,” could not be and were not interpreted in any other
sense than madness.

This, however, was not all. Secarcely had Ferdinand
and Philip sworn on the Holy Gospels to deprive their
daughter and wife respectively of her erown and freedom,
than Ferdinand closeted himself with his first secretary
of state, Miguel Perez Almazan, who at the same time was
apostoli¢ and imperial notary, and declared before him
that, unarmed and attended by only a dew servants, he had
fallen into the hands of his son-in-law, who had been at
the head of a great armed force. Moreover, his son-in-law
had “ kept prisoner his daughfer, the lawful Queen of
Castile.” Thus, he and the Queen having been deprived
of their hiberty, he protested against the validity of the
treaties, and declared that he did ““not consent that his
““ daughter should be deprived of her liberty, nor of her
“ rights as hereditary Queen of the kingdom.”(%)

Ferdinand had another interview with Philip, took leave
of his “beloved son” in the most touching manney, and
went to Naples in order to show him that, he had gLven up
all idea of regaining the governtment of Castile. He had
an old servant, Mosen Luis Ferrcr, who being a born
subject of the erown of Aragon, and having been for many
years gentleman of the bed chamber of the King, énjoyed
his full confidence. Mosen Ferrer was selceted for the
post of ambassador at the eourt of Philip, snd instmcged
to take carc of the interests of the Catholic King during
his absence, with a speecial injunction to do all in his
power to promote the frientlship between Ferdinand and

T—

(1) P. 81, sqq.
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his son-in-law. These instructions, dated Zaragoza, 29th
of July 1506, arc extant.(*) Speaking of his daughter
King Ferdinand admonished Philip to treat her always
with love, to gain her affection, and that they should live
together a5 a good hushand and wife ought to do.(*) By
doing so he would fulfil the will of God, improve the health
of his wife, and further his own interests. Is it possible
to suppose that even a man like Ferdinand would have
advised Philip to live with her as a good husband and
to gain her affections if she had been mad? What Ferrer
did to promote matrimonial love we are not in a position
to state; but as to his taking care of the interests of
King Ferdinand we may observe that, before the Catholic
King reached the shores of Naples, Philip died after an
illness which lasted from Sunday night until 11 o’clock
on Friday morning, - The general opinion was that he
had been poisoned, although two physicians declared
that such was not the fact, But what were such declara-
tions worth? The physicians had not even had time
to examine the case, as the*bowels of the deceased were
buried a few hours after his death. The accusations were
not only general and positive, but were declared publicly,
whilst the officers of the law did not dare to call to aceount
those who made them, for fear lest the fruth of this
«« delicate case ” might. come to light.(*)

Queen Juana being a young widow with a rich inheri-
tance, her suitors were TIUMerous. King Henry VII. of

raah

(1) We have not reprinted this lengthy document, of which only a small
portion interests us, becaiuse it is already printed in full and in its
original language, in the Papiers d’Etat du Cardinal Granvelle, Vol. I,
pp. 48, sqq. ’

(*Y. . ¥ que la mayor seguridad para esto seria estar muy conforme el
v la reyna mi fija, y en mucho amor y como muy buenos casados . . " 1, c.

@) The'case of a certain Lopez de Araoz, from Ofate, is most remark-
able. He remained unpunished for other offences, because he had coupled
his highly treasonable language with the assertion that they had given a
bocado, a morsel, to King Philip, anfl the judges were afraid he might
speak out more clearly. Letter of the Alcaldes del Crimen, of the Chan-
cery at Valladolid, to Charles, 34 of February 1517. Archivo General de
Simancas, P. R.  Comunidades de Castilia, L. 1. 1, 1.
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England, and the Count de Foix, a near kinsman of the
King of France, were the most prominent amongst them.
Ferdinend, hdéwever, it is self-evident, would object to
a second marriage of his daughter on every account.
To colour his refusal he wrote most affectionate letters
to England and all the other courts of Europe, in which -
he described in great detail Juana travelling with the
body of her deceased hushand, and although he did not
positively state in his official correspondence that she
forced the great of the land to pay it reSpect as though it
were alive, there is little doubt that he countenanced
such rumours, which he himself had perhaps taken care
to spread. Poor ‘Juana! When she was represented as
forcing the grandees of Spain to pay royal respect to a
corpse, she was a miserable prisoner, and none of the great
were permitted to appreach her. " The secret treaty of
Villafafila indicated clearly enough thai strong measures
were Intended against her 1 order to deprive her of her
freedom and the comment on it,"contained in the instruc-
tions of King Ferdinand to Mosen Ferrer, do not leave the
least doubt that alveady in the month of July 1506 the
question was debated whether she should or should not be
locked up in some dungeon.(') We are, however, not in
want of more positive proofs. For when in the month of
August 1520, her own servants, as they were -called, "her
jailors, as they in fact were,; could speak without fear, they
declared that she had been in prison for fourteen years.
Fourteen years reckoned back from the month of August
1520 would reach to ihe same month of 1506, that is to
say, to a period when King Philip was still alive; and all
uncertainty is dissipated by Cardinal Adrian, who stated
that the ©“infamy,” that is fo say the imprisonment of the
Queen under false pretence, was imputed tquhi]jnp as well
as to Ferdinand and Charles.(®*) It is true that after the

—

(13 Lien. Si por venturs se fablasse en poner en alguna fortaleza a la
rcyna mi fija, como ya hovieron platicado en ello . . .” Papiers I’Etat
du (‘ardinal Granvelle, Vol. I., pp. 48, sqq.

(¢y P. 3006.
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death of her husband she travelled from Burgos to Torde-
sillas accompanigd by his corpse. But a prisoner may be
removed from one .place to another without recovering
liberty. Wg are not acquainted with any authentic in-
formation concerning her removal from Burgos to Torde-
- sillas. If, however, on that occasion precautions were
taken such as were to be observed at later periods, when it
was intended that she should go to Arevalo and to Toro,
her journey to Tordesillas would not break the monotony of
prison life. 'When in the year 1522 the Marquis of Denia,
thought that she would be better guarded at Arevalo, he
proposed that she should be placed at night in a litter,
and without stopping on the road, be carried to her new
prison.(!) As to the arrangements for her intended
journey to Toro, we may hear the Marquis himself: “The
«« journey is to be performed in the manner I have already
«« described, thatds to say, her Highness must start hence
« gt eleven or twelve o’clock at night, and go to a place
three leagues distant, called Pedrosa. There she must
« repaain the whole day. °The next night at the same
« Hour shé must start again, and reach Toro before day.
« When she enters the town care will be taken that no
« one sees her. That is necessary, for, in"t‘f‘tjlth, I am
¢« aghamed at what is said and done.”(*)

If Queen Juana was mnot a free agent she cannot bhe
made responsible for the arrangement that the corpse of
King Philip accompanied her on her journey. But,
besides, there was nothing absolutely unreasonable in
it. Although Philip had  died in Burgos, his final
resting place was to be at Granada, by the side of
Queen Isabel. As Tordesillas lies on the road from
Burgos to Granada, a considerable amount of expense
would be spared if his remains were accompanied by the
same cortége which conducted the Queen. But if it 1is
allowed to interpret this case by a later similar occur-
rence with which we are well acquainted, we cannot help

™

4

y

. e — — - = _— e —

(!} The Marquis of Denia to the Emperor, January 25, 1542, p. 405,
(2) The Marquis of Denia to the Emperor, October 16, 1527, p. 426,
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suspecting that pecuniary considerations were not the only
grounds for~the arrangement in question. The vault at
Granada being,. unfinished, the corpse_of f’hilip remained
many years in the church of the convent of Santa Clara,
at Tordesillas, only a few hundred yards distant from the
palace in which Juana lived, and yet, although she often
wished to visit the convent, she never expressed the least
desire to visit his tomb. On several occasions she spoke
of him, but never thought that he was alive or would
awake from his long protracted slumber. On the contrary,
she mentioned his death just as any other widow would
have mentioned the decease of her husband.(?) It was,
therefore, quite wunnecessary, for her sake, to disturb
the corpse of Philip in its resting.place. Nevertheless,
when the Marquis of Denia wished to remove her to
Aranda in fhe month of August 1518, one of the first
things he thought of was to repair the, funeral cart, in
order that the ‘dead body of Philip should accompany
the Queen. (*) A huge funeral cart, indistinetly visible in
the dim- torchlight, followed: by a captive Queen, and
startling the inhabitants of the villages in the midst. of
night, would have been well caleulated decply to impress
the imagination of the people, and to prepare it for the
most absurd rumours. The journey did not take place,
but the funeral cart had, during the removal of the Queen
from Burgos to Tordesillas, taken so strong a hold of
the popular mind, that in the description of the night
when Tordesillas “was carried, which Gomez de Santillan
sent to Cardinal Adrian, we again meet the Queen and
the cart, although, from the more sober letter of Lope
Hurtado to the Emperor, we know that she: had not left
her palace.(®) | )
During the- nine years that Ferdinand survived-Philip, |
Queen Juana was kept in such strict imprisonment that
she was as completely debarred from all communication,

-

(*) See, for instance, Marquis of Denia 1o the Emperor, p. 198,

() P. 174.

(3) Gomez de Sautillan to Curdingl Adrian, December 9, 1520, p. 341.
Lope Hurtado to the ¥mperor, Decomler 10, 1520, pp. 311, 344,

.
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with the outer world as though she had reposed in her
grave. We hear nothing of her, and she did not even
learn the death of her father.(') Moseyy Ferrer, he who
was strongly suapected of having poisoned King Philip,
was her jailor, and from later letters we learn that he
perpetrated horrible cruelties on her.

Ferdinahd died on the 23rd of J zmuary 1516, and
Cardinal Cisneros was viceroy of Castile during the
absence of Charles. He sent the Bishop of Mallorca to
Tordesillas, with instructions to see that the persons
employed in the palace should remain in their offices, and
that the arrangements of Ferdinand for watching the
Queen should *be continued. The Biskop, however, found
such atrocities had been committed, that he thought it
his duty to send a report of them to the Cardinal. On
receiving it Cisneros made further inquiries] and Mosen,
Ferrer was suspeﬁded from his office because he ¢ was
suspected of endangering the health and life of Her High-
ness.”’(?) e remonsjrated, assuming the air- of an
innocent victim of a base intrigue. He could not, he
said, be sa bad man, else so good and wise & prince

b

£

(1} See, for instanece, :he letter of the Marquis of Denia to the Emperor,
Numero 47, 48. TheCartas del Cardenal Don Fray Francisco Jimenez de
Cisneros, dirigidas & Don Diego Lopez de Ayala, published a few months
ago, at Madrid, contain a letter of the Cardinal to Ayala, dated Alecala, 15th
of January 1516, in which the presence of la rreyna nuestra senore in that
place is mentioned. The learned editors are of opinion that Queen Juana,
and not Queen Germaine, was meant, for, they say, the Cardinal would
not have called the' Queen of Aragon nuestra sehora, our lady ; and, be-
sides, Queun Germaine had remained in Catalonia when King Ferdinand
went to Andalusia. In the archives at Simancas, Estado, Legajo 3, {. 112,
however, is a lgtter of the Secretary Calcena to the Cardinal, dated 28th
of eJanuary 1516, in which, speaking of Qucen Germaine, he calls her
nuestra senora. Thus, the first argument collapses. As for the second,
1';.]:113 same letter*mentions the arrival of the Queen of Aragon at Guadalupe,
where Ferdinand had died. It is therefore clear that she must have gone
from Catalonia to Andalusia to see her husband, and on that journey she
most naturally passed through Alcali, Thus, there can be no doubt that
Cisncros spoke of the Queen of Aragon, that is to say, Queen Germaine,
and not of Queen Juana. They are, however, often confounded.

(%) P. 143,
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as Ferdinand would not have placed confidence in him.
He could not have ill-treated Juana, because she was
Queen of Avagen, and he an Aragonese. He could not
restore her health, as it was not the will of God, and King
Ferdinand, her father, had not succeeded in doing so, and
ab last, “to prevent her from destroying herself by absti-
““ nence from food, as often as her will was not done, he
“ had to order that /e« cuerdae should be applied to pre-
““ serve her life.” (%) |
Lo cuerda, the rope, was the form of torture then in
use In Spain. The vietim was suspended by a rope with
weights attached to his feet. We have met with various
other 1nstarnces of the use of this torture, and have always
found, as for example, in the famous case of A cuiia,
Bishop of Zamora, that the judge, before applying it,
warned the prisoner that he was in dapger of having his
limbs broken or dislocated, and eyen of losing his life.
We think it superfluous to add a single word of comment
t6 such an admission as that of Mesen Ferrer. ]
Cardinal Cisneros sent the Count Hernando de Andrada
to Brussels, to inform Charles of what was golng on in
Tordesillas. On the 30th of April Charles answered that
it was very mecessary to watch the Queen, that he would
send another person from Flanders to fill the place of
Mosen Ferrer, but that he had no time to Inﬂ»ke; the
appointment. Meanwhile, he continued, the Cardinal was
answerable that the watching of the Queen should be so
complete, that, whilst she was treated well, no person
should have access to her who might endeavour to
counteract his “.good intentions.” ¢ In this;” he con.
cluded, ““the greatest vigilance is necessary. For, as it
““ belongs to no one but me to look after the honour of
* the Queen my lady, those who desire to meéddle in this
““ affair can have no good intentions.” (%) |
What was the meaning of this cautiously worded an-
swer P Was_Mosen Ferrer to continue in his office as

(1) P. 143. (%) P. 147,
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keeper of the Queen, after having confessed that he had
tortured her? , Was the injuncfion to treat her well an
empty phrase? Iteseems so, for the declamtion of Charles
that he would regard anyope who meddled in this affair
as an ill-intentioned intruder could have no other meaning
than that he strongly disapproved the measures of the
Bishop of Mallorca, and even of the Cardinal himself.

Cisneros, however, who hated not only the Aragonese
party in general, but the Ferrers, father and son, in special,
was nothing daunted by the ungracious answer, and
appointed Hernan Duque de Estrada governor of the
house of the (Jueen, at the same time instructing Diego
Lopez de Ayala, his political agent in’ Flanders, to speak
again with Charles on the subject. In Flanders, however,
passion was at that time running higher than even in
Spain. Monsieur de Chieévres and the Chancellor Sauvaige
advised Ayala not to speak with Charles about the Queen,
and Hernan Duqgue seemed to be “ a ruined man.” ¢ For,”
Ayala declared, ‘according to what 1 see they speak here
“ preter formam of her {the Queen’s) health, and that
““ not because they wish it. They are dangerous people,
““ and one must hold one’s tongue here.” (3 Nevertheless,
Cisneros remaired firm, Mosen Ferrer was not reinstated
in his office, and Hernan Duque remained governor (%)
until Charles came to Spain, when he appointed, on the
15th of March 1518, Don Bernardino de Sandoval y Rojas,
Marquis of Denia and Count of. Lerma, governor and
administrator of the houschold of the Queen, with power
to command and govern all persons belonging to that
establishment, and the magistracy and commonalty of the
town of Tordesillas. (*)

The letters of the Marqus of Denia are numerous, and
ave afe enabled by them to form a correct idea of the

(1) P. 150.
(%) See Cartas del Cardenal Don Fray Francisco Jimenez de Cisneros,

publicadas de real orden por D. Pascual de Gayangos y Vicente de la
Fuente. Madrid, 1867, p.215.

(3) P. 153,
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manner in which Queen Juana was treated. We must,
however, mention at once, that two sets of correspondence
were carried op between him and his, royal master, the
one destined to be seen by the Privy Councillors, the other
by Charles alone. The first class represented things in
the light in which it was wished they should appear. They
did not, indeed, eo so far as positively to state that the
Queen was mad, but the short allusions to her ¢ infirmity ”
were conceived in such terms that it was easy to interpret
the “infirmity” as insanity. The private letters, how-
ever, spoke with less reserve, and contained secrets which,
with good reason, it was thought dangerous to allow to
be known even to- the intimate advisers of the crown.
This division of the corrcspondence into official and most
strictly secret communications was not a custom that had
grown out of mere-convenience. Tt was the consequence
of a positive order of Charles <. .. and you shall neither
“ talk nor write to any person about the affairs of Her
“ Highness, except to myself, and always (send the let-
“ ters) by trustworthy messengers. That is Necessary ;
“ although it seems superfluous (to give this order) fo so
‘““ intelligent a person, and to one so much attached to my
“ service as you, nevertheless T have thought it advisable,
““ because the case is so delicate and of so much im-
““ portance to me.” (*) This letter of Charles is dated
19th of April 1518. On the 27th of the same month the
Marquis answered that he was fully aware of the precau-
tion necessary, and that he had not confided the secrets
of the palace to any one but him. IIe added that when
the Infante Ferdinand was leaving Spain, a Jetter was
written to him. That could not be avoided, hecause the
Infanta Catalina, who was living with her mother, had
heard of the intended departure of her brother,’and Wwished.
to give him a token of her love. ¢ But if he (the Infante)
“ were to stay a hundred years in these kingdoms, T would
“ not write or say a single word to him about what is

-y

(1) . 157
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“ goilzg on here.” () As even the son was precluded
from all knowledge of the manner of life of his mother,
we must look Yor the truth im-the most grivate letters of
Denia to Charles, all theother correspondence on this
subject being either intentional lies to give a pretext for
the detention of the Queen, or containing the statements
of those who had been imposed upon. The letters of the
Marquis are written in an exceedingly bad hand, but only
o few of them are in cipher, and of these the original
decipherings, made for the Kmperor, are preserved.

The ancient palace at Tordesillas was a structure of
moderate size. 2) It was fortified, and defended by a
strong tower, ‘which in the year 15622 was demolished. To
~ the south it overlooked the bridge and the river Duero,
beyond which streteched an undulating sandy* plain, re-
lieved from May to September by the foliage’ of vineyards.
This was the only view it had, the back and both sides
of the building being surrounded by poor ugly houses.
It contained, according to Spanish fashion, one large
room, and a great numbor of others, small, ill lighted,
and ill ventilated. The Queen had not the whole of the
palace at her disposal. The Infanta Catalina was staying
with her.” The Marquis and the Marchioness of Denia
‘and their daughters occupied another portion of the
building, whilst the twelve and occasionally more women
who watched her day and night, and the tutor of the
Infanta, and other officials, were not permitted to live 1
separate houses. Thud, the space occupied by the Queen
was limited. The windows of her large room opened to-
wards the river, but she was not allowed to remain in it,
and never was she at liberty to look out of the windows

for fear that she might be seen by a passer by or call
| him te her sassistance. (°) Except on extraordinary occa-

__!: .
(1) Pp. 139, 160. _
(2) Ford, in his IIandbook for Spain, has confounded it with the Cunvent
of Santa Clara,
(3) Pp. 400, 401, 406.
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sions, when she was most strictly watched, she was forced
to retire to a# back room without windows, the only light
which entered Reing candlelight. (%) .

The allowance for her and her household, the Princess
Catalina included, was at first 30,000 scudos, irregularly
paid, and afterwards reduced to 28,000 scudos, and even
less. (*) The incomes of the Spanish grandees were then
immense. The revenues of the twenty one Dukes ranged
about thirty years later from 70,000 to 125,000 scudos (*),
and even amongst the Marquises some were to be found
who had 40,000 and 60,000 a year to spend, as, for
instance, the Marquis del Priego and the Marquis de
Vallay, of the house of Cortez. Although the fortunes of
the nobles had been fast increasing during that time,
we do net think we arc wrong in supposing that the
allowance of the Queen was congiderably below the
income of many of her subjects. Moreover, a portion
of the salary of the Marquis of Denia, and all he wanted
for the sustenanceé of himself and his family, was to be
paid out of her grant. Under such circumstances we are
not surprised that she was often suffering from pm;erty.
The allowance was paid into the hands of her treasurer,
Ochoa de Olanda, and she was not permittéd to have
even the smallest sum of money in her possession. As
long as her father lived she received from time to time
little presents, a jewel or a trinket, to gladden her.
Charles, however, not only discontinued this custom, but
stripped her of whatever he could convert fo other uses,
as on occasion of the marriages of his sisters, Eleanor and
Catalina. FEven the Empress, when she came to visit
the Queen, carried away whatever she theught worth

—_— T B e s ———— - . _ o ——_——— - - - ——— i m ar t mm mmmpa . . - e —_ -

(1) . 401.

(%) See the budgets of the kingdom of Castile. Simandas. Consejo y
Juntas de lo Hacienda, Legajo 9.. We have refrained from printing
these budgets, because they are voluminous, and the passages relating to
Queen Juana are not more explicit -than the short notice we give in the
text.

("} 12,0004 to 25,000/, See Relacion del valor de las remtas, ete.
Simances. Estado. Legajo 2021. f. 211,
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having, (*) rendering thereby the palace or prison of her
mother-in-law still more gloomy and cheerless than it had
been, * . ° |

Leading such a life, it is only natural that hér health
gave way frequently. She suffered especially during the
great heat of the summer fromefever and other illness, and
yet she was not allowed a physician. In the spring of
1519 the Infanta Catalina had the itch. o have recourse
to a medical man was a necessity. The Marquis of
Denia was placed in great difficulty about devising
means to introduce a physician into the palace, and
yet prevent him from speaking with the Queen. When
at last he folind that that was impossible, he bethought
himself of another expedient. In the town of Tordesillas
lived a Doctor Soto, who had accompanied *Juana to
Flanders, and had not forgotten her when she was sunk
in the deepest misery. Dismissed from his office, and
deprived of his pension, he had settled not far from her.
As he certainly knew the secret, or part of it, the marquis
thought less harm would be done by having recourse to
him than by admitting a stranger. Nevertheless, he did
not regard it as superfluous to buy his silence, and asked
Charles to show him favours, * for it is impossible to pre-
“ vent Her Highness from speaking with Doctor Soto if
‘“ he enters (the palace) and visits the Infanta.” (*) On
another occasion, when the Queen was scriously ill, and
suffering for ten days irom a strong fever, the Marqus
wrote to Charleg that ht had refused her repeated demands
to have tedical assistance.(*) 1t is true that he added the
words, ¢“ ag the fever subsided,” but we do not reproach
him with refusing to admit a physician when the fever

was over or subsiding, but for leaving her without attend-
| ance during the ten days, when, according to his own
confession, it was * strong.”

The number of women who watched the Queen was
considerable. They amounted never to less than twelve,

[Ep—

(1) P.430. (2) Pp. 182, 183, &e. (?) P. 200,
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and sometimes to many more. The Marquis and Mar-
chioness founld it occasionally hard work to subject them
to the striect rules of the house. 1f the Marchioness
reprimaﬂded them, they combined and mutinied *like
soldiers,” saying, that what was done to one was done to
all of them. It was of no use to order the monteros, that
Is the soldiers who mounted guard in the palace, not to
permit them to go out, as they were afraid of them.
‘“* They were a bad lot of women.” That they were bad
we readily believe. Good women would not have stooped
to do the work which was exacted from them. But as
to the proofs adduced by the Marquis we must demur to
them. There was no marriage celebrated in the town, no
christening, no burial to which they did not want to go,
even if. it concerncd people to whom they were related only
in the fourth degree. It was not an ascetical hatred of
marriages, christenings, burials, and other ocecasions for
merrymaking, which made the Marquis so strongly de-
claim against them. He had other reasons, * The con-
“ sequence-of their visiting is, that they cannot forbear
*“ talking to their husbands, and relations and friends, and
““ gossiping of things which ought not to be known, for,
““ indeed, secrecy is a neecessity,. Members of the Privy
* Council have written to me things which they cannot
“ know except through the Licentiate Alarcon, husband
‘“ of one of these women, called Leonor (Gomez, who never
““ can hold her tongue. None must know what passes
““ here, and least of all those of the Privy Council.” ¢ Tt
“ 18 not good to have married women, and least of all
““ wives of Privy Councillors.” (*) 'Why not ? Charles and
the Marquis were taking the greatest pains t¢ pass Queen
Juana .off as mad. The knowledge of any extravagance
committed by her would only have confirmed*their asser.
tions. That could not be the secret. But if the seeret
was that she was not mad, and was kept a prisoner, it is
easy to understand why it would be dangerous, if people

(1) Pp. 166, sqq.
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in general, and in special the Privy Council, were to know
it. In the years 1518 and 1519 Charles was not yet firmly
seated on the throne. s :

Iff there was a lack of medical assistance, there were
plenty of priests. TFray Juan de Avila, guardian of the
Franciscan friars, and tutor of the Infanta, was con-
stantly residing in the palace, and the general of the
Predicant friars and others were frequent visitors. The
ground of their visits was that Charles had defermined
to convert his mother, who formerly had objected only to
confession, but would now neither confess nor hear mass.
Early in the year 1518 he had ordered that mass should
be said in her presence. Fray Juan de Avila and Fray
Antonio de Villegas were to assist the Marquis in carrying
out this command. To render mass less objectionalle, if
was proposed, probably by one of the friars, that the altar
should be erected in the corridor, that is to say, the open
gallery running along the building, in the courtyard,
whilst the Marquis wished it to be placed in a more dig-
nified spot, namely, I an apartment near the room of
the Queen.: But whether the chapel was to be erected in
the one place or the other, Queen Juana showed no readi-
ness to comply with the wishes of her son. The Marquis,
who had the discretion not to write any detailed report
to Charles of the means which he employed, informed him
on the 22nd of June : ¢ Concerning mass, we are occupied
“ with this subject. Her Highness wishes that it should
“ be said in the eorridor where your Highness saw her,
““ and I wish that 1t should be said in an apartment next
“ to her chamber ; but in the one place or the other mass
‘“ shall be said soon.” (*) More than six months later he
was only able to state, “ We are daily occupied in the
“ affair of saying mass. It is delayed in order to see
““ whether it could not be done with her consent, for that
“ would be Dbetter, but with the help of God Her Iigh-
““ ness shall hear 1t (mass) soon.” (?) On the 12th of Sep-
tember mass was said for the first tume in a little chapel

(1) P. 104, 2y P. 169.
(
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erected at the end of the corridor. No persons were
admitted except the Queen, the Infanta Catalina, then
twelve years old, Fray Antonio Villegas,"who said mass,
the g’uardmn (Fray Juan), and a boy of the chapel. The
Queen went through all the ceremonies, knelt down, said
her prayers, chanted frome the prayer book (oras), and was
besprinkled with holy water. But when they brought her
the ““evangelium ” and the “ pax® she could not conguer
herself sufficiently to accept them, and made a sign that
they should be given to her daughter.(!) .

On the margin of the letter which contained these
tidings, a note is written by Cobos, who was already
sharing all the secrets of Charles: ¢ Has hiad much plea-
“ sure, and where he and the Marchioness are, ete., and so
‘““ he,must continue.” This short note contains the sub-
stance of the letter which was to be sent as answer fo the
Marquis. Its meaning was that Charles was much satis-
fied at hearing that news. The ‘ etc.” meant the usual
phrase, that where the Marquis and the Marchioness were
Charles was sure that all would be done that was best.
No inquiry was made concerning the means by which the
sudden conversion was accomplished.

Having been made acquainted with the cuerda, and the
insufferable pain occasioned by that torture, Juana may
have submitted from fear; or, still nourishing the hope of
wearing the crowns of Castile and Aragon, she may have
regarded it as bad policy to carry her opposition in matters
of religion too far. But, however that, may be, inwardly
convinced she was not. When the rising of the Castilian
Commons had been suppressed, and every prospect of
gaining her liberty had vanished, she did not think it
any longer mecessary to conceal her disdain for the Cere-
monies of the Church. On Christmas Day of 4he year
1521 Divine Service was celebrated in her chapel, the
Infanta Catalina taking part m it. The Queen, however,
came out of her room, made a disturbance, and took her
daughter away from the altar, which she ordered to be
removed.(!) In his letter of the 23d of May, probably of

M Pp. 177, 178. (%) P. 406.
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the year 1525, the Marquis mentioned a similar scene.()
Her women came directly in sufficient strength, and when
it was threatened to employ force, the Queen retired to
her apartment. On both occasions, howeveff, the Marquis
of Denia thought it proper to ask permission of his master
to employ strong measures of coercion against his mother.
““ T have always thought that her Highness being so indis-
‘“ posed as she is, in punishment for our smms, nothing
““ would do her more good than some premia, although 1t
““ is a very serious thing for a vassal to think of employing
““ it against his sovereign.”(*) In order to be secure that
the premis would produce the desired effect, more priests
were to be called in to assist the Marquis. What 1s
premia ? Judging from the language of the letter, 1t must
be a very evil thing. And certainly it is, being nothing
else than a more technical and forensic term for' the
popular word torturc. The premia spoken of by the Mar-
quis was the cuerda, the rope, which Mosen Ferrer had
already employed. The Marquis was right; it was a very
serious thing for a subject’ to ask permission so to employ
it, but it was not less serious for a sovercign to grant it
against his mother, whose crown he had usurped. Charles
seems to have avoided giving a direct answer, recommend-
ing only in general terms that the Queen should be well
treated. But if the Marquis should come to the conclusion
that torture was compatible with good treatment, had he
not well founded reasons to expect that his master would
approve it ? Although such a supposition would be extra-
vagant if we were interpreting the conduct of honest men,
there is nothing strange in it when applied to Charles and
the Marquis “of Denia.  The Marquis did not conceal his
opinion that torturing the Queen would be a “secrvice
rendered to God and to herself,” that “persons m her
disposition require it,” for their owm good, and that her
mother, the pious Queen Isabel, had also tortured her.(*)
Charles, on the other hand, as we have seen, had no

——r. = e . .

(1) P. 423. (2) 1. 423, (%) P. 403.
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seruple 1n very plainly stating his convictions that where
the Marquis and the Marchioness were no wrong could he
done. Clear~and positive orders would certainly have
been prefel able, but as the Marquis could not obtain them,
he wrote at last on the 11th of October 1527, when he
wished to remove the Queen by force to Toro, telling the
Emperor that he was fulfilling the duties of a good son by -
recommending that his mother should not be ill treated,
but, he added, it is not to be supposed that I, being your
‘“vassal, could do anything except what is conducive to
* your service and to that of her Highness.”(!) By means
of this understanding, Charles might henceforth indulge
in fine phrdses, and yet be sure that his instrument
would do all the most cruel things his selfishness could
suggest, if any advantage could thereby he obtained.
Under such circumstances, the silence of the Marquis of
Denia concerning the employment of torture to force
Queen Juana to hear mass, and to obey his commands in
other things, is no surety that he had not had recourse to
such means. But whether by reason of the persuasion of
priests, and the pains produced by the cuerda, he forced her
into isolated acts of submissiveness or not, this much is
clear, that she was never entirely converted. *Even in the
last letter but one, published in this volume, the Marquis
could speak only of his hope of being instrumental in the
salvation of her soul. (%)

Fray Juan de Avila was not a bad priest after the fashion
of Spanish monks of the 16th céntury.. His opinion was
that to secure the salvation of the soul of the Queen was
the first duty incumbent on her son, and it isnot probable
that he would have shrunk from the employment of any
means calculated to bring about that effect. © Her conver-
ston, however, once accomplished, he declared that it was
the will and command of God that she should be lmmoured
and treated with all the respect duc to her.(*®) On this
last point, however, e had the misfortune to differ from

-— —_— ——
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Charles and from the Marquis. There was a certain thing
which Charles wanted from his mother, but which he
dared not to commit to paper, having given his instruc-
tions by word of mouth. Examining all the circumstances,
we believe that he wished fo obtain from her an act of
abdication. However that may be, Fray Juan, satisfied
with the Queen hearing mass in September 1518, showed
his sympathy with her, and had even the courage,
although in a feeble manner, yet certainly in good faith,
to entreat Charles to discontinue his brutal treatment of
his mother. The consequence was, that, although he
had rendered valuable services during the rebellion of the
Commons, he was first persecuted by the Marquis, and
then driven from Tordesillas. He implored help of the
Emperor.(') All was in vain. His laterletters remind the
reader of a drowning man, whose voice grows feebler and
feebler, until it is no longer heard. Fray Juan disap-
peared from the political theatre, and we do not know
what became of him. o

What we have hitherto related is bad enough, and yet the
worst, in our opinion, remains to be told. Queen Juana, not
being permitted to see any one who was in communica-
tion with the outer world, save the Marquis of Denia, had
- sometimes conversations with him which lasted four or six
hours. She wished to know what was going on in Spain
and in KEurope, and did not even disdain flattery in order
to induce him to becomg more communicative. When
anyone well acquainted with the history of that period
reads the reports of those conversations he grows confused
and bewilderdd, and does not know what to think of them.
Personages who had long reposed in their graves were
constantly rising from the dead, carrying on the business
of ¢this world, and freely mingling with the living. One
fancies oneself to be in a lunatic asylum. The strange
statements, however, were not made by Queen J uana, but
by the Marquis of Denia.

(1) Pp. 391, 392, 419, sqq.
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King Ferdinand had died in January 1516. Up to the
month of August 1520 the Marqguis tolé Juana that he
was still alive and King of Spain. "One of his letters
begins : “ After having written the other letter, the Queen
““ our lady asked me inte her presence, and told me she
““ was much dissatisfied with me because I denicd that
‘““ the King her lord (Ferdinand) was dead, and asked me
“ to tell her whether he was alive, as it was of great
““ importance to her to know it.” The Marquis assured
her that King Ferdinand still lived, and the Queen said,
“It is well.”(*) Charles had assumed the government of
Spain immediately after the death of Ferdinand, and came
to Spain as King in the year 1517. For the sake of
appearances he was obliged te pay a short visit to his
mother. The Marquis, who could not deny his presence in
Spain, told her that he had come for no other purpose
than to ask Ferdinand to freat her less cruelly. (?) The
Emperor Maximilian died in January 1519. Up to the
month of August 1520 the Marquis spoke of him as a
living man. After the election of Charles as Emperor,
the Marquis concocted an absurdly sentimental story. -
The Emperor, he said, loved his grandson Charles so much
that he had abdicated in his favour, and induced the
Princes Electors to recognize him as German Emperor.
All the mformation he gave the captive Queen about her
children, the Infante Ferdinand, the Infanta Eleanor, etc.,
was entirely false. Nor was that all. He attempted to in-
duce her to write letters to deceased persons, as, for instance,
to the bmperor Maximilian, who, he said, had not only
shown by his abdication his great love for her son, but
had also written and inquired after her. He went even so
far as show her a letter(") which, there can, be no doubt,
was a fabrication. She, however, suspected the Marqtuis,
and refused to write the desired reply. In explanation
of this tissue of lies we shall hear the Marquis himself.
“ T have told the Queen our lady that the King my

(1) . 209, ?) P. 154, (3) P. 194,
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lord, her father, is alive, because 1 say that all that 1s
“ done and displeases her Highness is ordered and com-
““ manded by the King. The love which she has for him
““ makes her bear it more easily than she would 1if she
“ knew that he is dead. Moreover this is of great
“ advantage in many other respects to your Highness.” (%)
If we ask what these ¢ other respects’ were, the answer
is not difficult to find. The story of the Queen carrying
the corpse of her husband with her, and believing that he
still lived, had served its purpose many years, but was
now worn out. A new proof of {insanity would have been
very welcome. If then it could be shown that she dis-
believed the death of her father and ‘of the Emperor, and
still better, if she could be induced to write a letter to one
who was dead, Charles would be provided with @ piece of
evidence of incalculable value to justify his conduct. Nor
is it impossible to understand the reason which induced
the Marquis to invent the abdication of Maximilian. If he
wished to induce her to -abdicate, it was not unreasonable
to hold up before her that imaginary act of the Emperor,
as an example to be followed. Nevertheless there remains
enough for which no such special reason can be assigned,
and which reminds us of the words of Diego Lopez de
Ayala that they wished her mad. At all events, if we
consider her absolute loncliness, and all the other circum-
stances, we must come to the conclusion that Charles and
his abettors were utterly regardless of the consequences of
their conduct. * .

It would not be at all surprising if a perfectly sane per-
son put in the position of Juana had soon gone mad. Let
us, therefore, see whether we can discover signs of inei-
pient insanity. The worst case mentioned in the nu-
rgerous® letters of the Marquis, is the following. On the
evening before the day of Bantiago the Queen beat two
of her women. When the Marquis heard of it he entered
her room, and said, “ What is this, Sefiora? Ought your

A r— _ § e —— - - . - - - —
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% Highness to comport yourself in this way towards those
“ who serve you with so much zeal? The Queen, your
““ mother, never so treated her servants.” The Queen,
seeing the Marquis, rose to explain her conduct, but the
women thought she would beat him, and ran away. When
they had left the rooms the Queen came up to the
Marquis, and said that she was not so overbearing that
she would use him ill, and assured him on her faith that
she intended to treat him as her brother. (') To beat ser-
vants was then, and at a much later time, not so unusual
a thing. The anecdote of Louis XIV. throwing his cane
out of the window, because if he had retained it he would
have beaten one of his courtiers, was ecirtulated in the
polite Versailles, more than 200 years later, as a sign of the
high breeding of the Grand Monarch. Queen Isabel, the
mother of Juana, more than once gob so enraged that her
courtiers thought it necessary to interfere, as, for instance,
in the curious scene in the Aragonese Cortes, related by
Mariana. But whether the behaviour of Juana was
excusable, considering the provocation such women as her
jatlors were most likely to give her, or not, it is certainly
no sign of insanity. On the contrary, her conduct towards
the Marquis shows that, even in moments of f)assion, she
was still able to control herself. The othep complaints
made against her are of even less wetght. She did not
take her meals regularly, she did not g0 regularly to bed,
nor when she went to bed did she rise regularly. Such
habits of life were prejudicial to hep health, but could they
be construed into signs of msanity P She was untidy, and
neglected her dress. Tt is scarcely worth while to answer
such an allegation. What inducement coutd the Queen
have to dress if she must pass her dreary days in a dark
and lonely room ? There is, however, one eircumstange
on which the Marquis seems to have laid great stress. It
was absolutely impossible, he sald, to permit the Queen
to see anyone except the inmates of the palace, and every
occasion on which she could make her vojce heard, by even

(") Pp. 155, 156.
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a passer-by, must be carefully avoided, because she would
make a scene, which might have serious conSequences. (%)
Certainly, if Queen, Juana had had an opportunity, it was
probable that she would have called upon the pﬁs&ers-by
to liberate her, as any other person placed under similar
circumstances would have done. All these allegations of
the Marquis werc most probably true, and, moreover, the
Queen was sometimes so weary of her life that she spoke
of making an end of it ; but these things do-not prove that
she was Insane.

If even the Marquis of Denia could not adduce any
more substantial proof, he, on the other hand, men-
tions many inktances of great sagacity, sound judgment,
true maternal love, and kindness towards her former
servants. Whilst she was suffering from want, she often
inquired whether the pensions of her attendants were
regularly paid, and the Marquis did not dare to confess
the truth that they were discontinued.(*) Brooding day and
night over the stories the Marquis was constantly telling
her, she discovered that they were not true. But where
to learn ¢he truth ? In her palace or prison it was im-
possible. She took advantage, therefore, of every circum-
stance, of the climate of Tordesillas, of an access of face-
ache, &c., to urge her demand to be transferred to Valla-
dolid, or to be permitted at least to visit the convent of
Santa Clara. She had been in Valladolid atter her return
from Flanders, and remembered the place perfectly well.
Once she had her clothés brushed, dressed with more than
usual care, and with her head gear on, defied the Marquis
several hoyys, declaring that she would go to Santa Clara
and hear mass. The bait of hearing mass in public was
certainly alluring enough, and the Marquis confessed that
Lie was almost persuaded to let her go, ¢ only there are
nther reasons of greater importance against it.” (°)

Fre

() P.406. (%) P.188.
(%) Letter of the Marquis of Denia, of the 26th of September, 1519,
pp. 184, 185, 192.
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Had the Queen been mad her illusions would have more
effectually prevented her from perceiving her miserable con-
dition than did ¢he lies of the Marquis, and she might have
been less unhappy. As she, however, was fully conscious
of the cruelty with which she was treated, it is not to be
wondered at that she was occasionally driven to despair.
Even her jailor could not always conceal his compassion
for her.  In an undated letter of the year 1518 the Mar-
quis confessed that her words were so good, * ‘fantas
buenas,” that he stood * aghast” how she could pronounce
them, and that bhe and the Marchioness found it difficult
to resist her.(!) In other letters he stated that her com-
plaints were so touching that he could not help having
compassion for her, and that her language’ would have
“moved stones.” The only consequences which he drew
from these statements, however, were that it was a,bsofutely
necessary that the Queen should not “be permitted to see
any one, because none could resist her: that he wanted
to write in cipher, that he begged-the Emperor to destroy
his letters, and not let them be seen by any one except by
a person in whom he confided as much as in himself.(?)
How Charles could read such letters, as that for instance
which bears the number 48, (¥) in cool blood, would be
hardly conceivable if we did not know how hard men were
three hundred and ﬁfty years ago. - :

One of the most perplexing c1rcumsta,nﬁés in the strange
history of Queen Juana is that the Infanta Catalina, ﬁas
permitted to share her prison. At first sight it may
appear incredible, but it is not the less true, that considera-
tions of economy had something to do with this arrange-
ment. Whilst the Flemish followers of Charles were
enriching themselves at the expense of Spain, his exchequer
was so empty that even a few thousand ducats % year
seemed a great gain. Moreover, it was deemed prudent
not to exasperate the Queen to the commission of some
desperate act which possibly would create general indigna-

Jr S ..
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tion. The Infanta, born when her mother was already a
prisoner, had never known any other than a prison life.
The palace at Tordesillas was her world, the hills which
confine the horizon in the direction towards Medina de!l
Campo were her wultima Thule. When she was about
twelve years of age, she began to write letters to her
brother Charles, whom she had never seen, but whom she
loved dearly. Her letters were somewhat stiff, 1t 1s true,
there was a want of freedom discernible. But was that to
" be wondered at ? As for the rest, she was happy. She
loved her mother, she loved the Marquis and the Mar-
chioness, her tutor Fray Juan, and did not even complain
of the dreadful women. On reading her letters one
wonders how it was possible that a young girl of twelve
or fourteen years of age could be so entirely inured to
such an atmospherc, and did not observe what was daily
passing around her. At last, however, comes the solu-
tion of the riddle. In the month of August 1521, the
Infanta found an opportunity of writing to her brother
without the knowledge of the Marquis. All her pretty
letters had been frauds. They had been written under
the dictation™6f the Marquis and -the Marchloness In
a memoir which she drew up on this” oceasion, she
begged the Emperor not to permit the Marquis and
‘Marchionéss to maltreat her in the house of her mother.
She complained that she was not permitted to see any
one, nor to write to any one. She told him that the
Countess of Modica, wife of the Admiral of Castile, had
sent her a letter, and that when the Marquis and Mar-
chioness heard of it, they wanted to ““tear out her eyes,”
searched her, and made inquiries as to who had brought
the letter. They did not allow her to speak even with her
~servants or those of the Queen. She begged the Emperor
not to persecute the guardian (Fray Juan), but on the
contrary to see that he did not forsake the Queen, “who -
stands in great want of consolation.” The daughters of
~ the Marquis took her robes from her, wore them, and -
behaved as though they were her equals. These, and
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several other complaints, filled pages. In the last para-
graph she implored the Emperor “for the love of God”
to provide that! if the Queen wished +o walk for her re-
creation in the corridor on the river or on the other side,
or if she wished to go to her large room to refresh herself,
she should not be preventéd from doing so. For it had
become. the custom at Tordesillas that when the Queen
visited her daughter, the servants and daughters of the
Marchioness entered unobserved the room of the Infanta,
and from their place of concealment directed the women
by signs not to let the Queen go to the large room, but
immediately to lock her up in her dark chamber. (%)
Accompanying this memoir is a short letter written in
another hand, but signed by the Infanta. <1 implore your
*“ Majesty to believe what I write, and soon to give your
““ orders. We, the Queen my lady and I, have no other
* comfort and help but your Majesty.” Added by herself
are the words, “ I beg your Majesty to forgive me that the
““ letter is written in a strange hand. I can no more.” (*)
From what we have stated, we believe, it will be taler-
ably clear that the reasoning faculties of Queen Juana
were by no means impaired, and that, whatever opinion
we may be inclined to form of her character and her
religious convictions, we cannot pronounce her to have
been insane. One important question, however, remains
to be answered. How was it that, after having been
imprisoned for fourteen years, and having had an oppor-
tunity to regain her liberty during the- rising of the
Commons in Castile, she permitted that opportunity to
slip without making use of it ? The answer is plain. The
same persons who had deceived the world duriig so many
years about her real state of mind succeeded also in
decelving her in the most cruel way. .
Where are the grandees of Spain? Where are the
_ nobles of my kingdoms ? These questions had incessantly
occupied her mind, and to devise plausible answers had

—

(1) P. 396, sqq. (2) P. 395, 396.
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taxed to the utmost the ingenuity of the Marquis.(') But
the Queen did not once ask, Where is my people? And
yet the nobles did not make the slightest move in her
favour, whilst the people rose at last in open rebellion,
marched to Tordesillas, and drove away her jailors. The
Commions, it is true, did not rize for that purpose, having
to redress many other wrongs which more directly con-
cerned them. Nevertheless, it would be a great error to
follow the common tradition, and suppose that they made
use of the name of the Queen only after their rising had
taken place, to give to their revolutionary measures
an appearance of legality. More than a year bhefore
the outbreaki, the Marquis had complained that the
secrets of the palace were oozing out, and that the
people were indignant, and openly accused him of
being a tyrant, who kept the Queen prisoner under false
pretences. (*)

Towards the end of August 1520, Juan Padilla and other
captains of the Commons were at Medina del Campo, only
a few leagues distant from Tordesillas. It was known
that they had orders from the revolutionar y government,
assembled at Avila, to rescue the Queen from the grasp of
her oppressors. Tordesillas was a place of considerable
strength, and had a sufficient garrison of old, well-disci-
plined troops. Tt might have been successfully defended,
if the troops could have been relied upon. But the officers
of the household, from the women who watched her up to
the higher rankg, behaved aftor the usual fashion of mer-
cenaries,* and were the first to betray their ignominious
taskmaster, denouncing the Marquis without reserve for
his shamefulk conduct towards the Queen. The excitement
of the citizens increased, and they gained over the garrison,
who refused to fight.

The position of the Marquis of Denia was, , to say the
least, extremely precarious; but he was not a man easily to
be daunted. When he saw that resistance by force was

(1) See for instanee, pp. 190, 195, &e. (*) For instance, pp. 166, 184,
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impossible, he betook himself to a stratagem. Frightening
the Queen by telling her that the Commons were rebels
of the worst description, who wanted to carry her off to
some durgeon, he asked her to send afh order forbidding
them to enfer Tordesillas. No doubt the word < rebel »
fell with an unpleasant sound on her ear. Nevertheless,
her distrust of the Marquis being stronger than her
fear of the revolutionists, she refused to sign. Foiled in
this attempt, the Marquis addressed himself to the Infanta,
who, heing accustomed implicitly to obey all his behests,
wrote to the captains, telling them that the Queen
was 1ll, wanted repose, and would deeply resent it if they
should march to Tordesillas' against her desire. On the
23rd of August 1520, however, Bernaldino de Castro,
lieutenant corregidor of the town, accompanied by several
other members of the town council, forced their way to
the Queen, and informed her, in. the presence of the Mar-
quis, of “a great many things which had happened since
“ the death of her father, the Catholic King.” (!) Strange
though these revelations must have been to her, she did
not lose her self-command, but ordered her treasurer
Ochoa de Olanda to summon to her presence the Bishop
of Malaga and the Licentiates Polanco and Zapata, all
of them members of the privy council, because she
wanted to confer with them on important matters of
state. They were old servants of the crown of Spain,
and she had known-them in former times. Ochoa did
not carry out her order; and on the following day,
the 24th of August, Juan Padilla occupied Tordesillas.
That the Marquis and the women who watched the Queen
were not at once sent away is not surprising, for in the
cyes of the uninitiated they were her servants. But al-
though they were permitted to remain, their power was at
an cnd. On the 29th of August the Marquis wrote tc
Cardinal Adrian, that he was treated almost as a prisoner,
and forbidden to leave the fortress.(?)

(1) P. 204. - () P. 210.
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The first and most interesting question which the Com.-
mons had to decide was whether the Queen was suffering
from such mensal derangement as prevented her from car-
rying on the government, and it was only natural that her
servants who knew her best should be examined on the
subject. It is a great loss to history that their depositions
are not extant, They were probably destroyed at the com-
mand of Charles when his partisans scized the papers of
their adversaries. The substance of them, however, 1s pre-
served in various letters of Cardinal Adrian to the Emperor.
Adrian had not only been the tutor of Charles, but at the
very moment when he wrote these letters he was entrusted
with the task of carrying out the Emperor’s policy in
Spain, and he did not obtain his information from the
rebels, but from his own agents in Tordesillas. He
cannot, therefore, for a moment be suspected of stating
the facts in a more unfavourable light than need be, and
thus accusing himself and his master of greater crimes
than they had to answer for.

Nevertheless he thought it his duty to inform the Em-
peror on fhe 4th of September 1520, that almost all the
servants of the Queen said that she had been oppressed
and detained by force during fourteen years in the fortress
of Tordesillas, as though she had been mad, when in fact
she had always been in her right mind, and as prudent
(prudente) as when she married. (')

And again, in the same letter, he stated that it was no
longer a question of suffering some pecuniary losses, but
that Charles was threatened with a total and perpetual
downfall, ¢ because your Highness has usurped the Royal
« name, and imprisoned the Queen as though she were
‘* ingane, when she was not mad, according to what, as I
““ have said, 1s stated.”
® A fortnight later, on the 14th of September, the Car-
dinal wrote to the Emperor that the report had been
spread throughout the kingdom by her servants that the

(1} Pp. 217, 218,
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Queen was perfectly sane, and as able to govern as the
Queen Isabel her mother had been, and that the Commons
were of opinior: that the people ought not to obey and
cxecute the orders of the Emperor, but only those of the
Queen. ()

We could easily increase’the number of similar quota-
tions, but we think what we have stated will suffice to
show that the servants of the Queen positively and
consistently declared that she was not mad. It is true
the Cardinal repeatedly stated his opinion that the servants
were Influenced by their hatred of the Marquis rather than
by strict regard for veracity, and that people in general
were more inclined to give credit to what was advanta-
geous to them than to what was true. We are here, how-
cver, not concerned in what the Cardinal believed or pre-
tended to believe, but only in what the witnesses deposed,
and shall offer afterwards a few 'observations concerning
the credit which Adrian himself deserved.

During the 103 days which intervened between the 24th
of August and the 5th of December 1620, Queen Juana
enjoyed almost unlimited liberty in her palace. The Mar-
quis and the Marchioness of Denia were sent away from
Tordesillas on the 19th of September, and the women who
had watched her were, at her own request, dismissed a few
weeks later. She was left with only one female servant
to attend upon her, and yet in spite of the extremely diffi-
cult position in which she was placed, she did not commit
a single act which even her most unscrupulous adversaries
could construe into a proof of insanity. She was, as could
not be otherwise, deeply agitated. At first she did not 20
to bed or take her meals, or, as the Cardinal Adrian
wrote, the Commons wanted to kill her by first denying her
food during three days, and then giving her all at ontee the
meals due during that time.(?) This statement is stmply
preposterous. The Queen became by degrees more calm,
and her life no longer appeared so gloomy to her as hither-

to. In the month.of November she began even to oceupy

—_ - - [— R

(1) I, 225. () I. 269,
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herself with her long neglected toilet, dressing herself- in
her best robes, and seeing that her daughter was well
adorned -when she, went out. The Cardinal sneeringly
called that efavio, finery.(')

As in private, so she conducted herself in public with
perfect self-posscssion. On the 1st of September. 1520,
Juan Padilla, Juan Bravo, Juan Zapata, and Luis Quin-
tanilla, commanders in chief of the several contingents
from the cities and towns of Castile to the revolutionary
army, knelt down before her in the presence of numerous
witnesses, and asked her to permit the Junta to come from
Avila to Tordesillas. She replied that she was satisiied
with the Junta, that they might come, and that it would
afford her great pleasure to confer with them on the mea-
sures which concerned the welfare of her kingdoms.
“ 'With all that is gaod,” she concluded her answer, 1
«« shall be pleased, and for all that is wrong I shall be
«« gorry. I hope in God all will end well.” (%)

The proceedings at the audience which she granted the
Commons on the 24th of September 1520 are recorded In
oreat ‘detatl. She had not the least difficulty in following
the long discourses of the various deputies who addressed
her, and her answers were clear, dignified, and always to
the point. On certain disagreeable subjects which she
could not entirely avoid, she spoke with great caution and
delicacy. As for the Flemings who had plundered Spain,
she did not utter a single word in their excuse, and the
Marquis of Denia and the other “bad people” who had
deceived her with lies fared hardly better. But whilst
complaining, of them, she avoided all irritating detail, and
attempted to extenuate the fault of her father by hinting
at The bad influence her stepmother might have had on
him., With respect to her son, she did not mention a
smgle circumstance which was unfavourable to him.(°)
There is no doubt that only a person of much higher

—

(1) Cardinal Adrian to the Emperor, 17th November 1520, p. 320,
() P. 214, (%) Pp. 245, squ.
&
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intellectual power than the common average could have
behaved as she did under similar circumstances. The pro-
ceedings during the audiences of the Queen are reported
in public documents drawn up by the public notaries
at the demand of the Commons. It might therefore be
supposed that they would present her in a more favourable
light than was compatible with truth. Such, however,
was not the case. For not only did Cardinal Adrian
never pretend that these attestations were false, but the
reports of his own agents who were present at the
audiences fully supported them; and it is certainly not
an insignificant circumstance that even Adrian was forced
to acknowledge she behaved with great prudence. It
1s true he added, that from *certain statements she
made it was clear that she was not perfectly in her right
mind.(') No wonder that a man who was unacquainted
with the secret history of the palace at Tordesillas should
regard as inventions of a diseased brain certain things -
which were stated by her to have happened during _her
captivity. 'We, however, who know at least a portion of
the truth, must admit that her statements ivere sober
and moderate. -

But although the personal conduct of the Queen was
marked by common sense and tact, her policy was by no
means judicious. Her cruel experience had not yet taught
her the stern lesson not to confide in any one who had
Iinterests opposed to her own in politics, even though he
were her son. * >

lhe principal object of the Commons was to get rid of
the Flemings and their partisans, who were hated for their
almost unexampled insolence and greediness.(?) By set-
ting up the Queen, who was unconnected at that time

mar.

(1) Pp. 209, 210.

(*) Amongst other things, the Spaniards complained that the Flemings
called them Indios, or, as we would 82y now, niggers, and it is certainly
significant that even the Admiral of Castile, the most patriotic of the

Spanish grandees, used that expression in letters to partisans of the
Flemish party.
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with Flanders, as their lawful sovereign, they would have
attained their ends, and it was most probable that they
would have been. loyal subjects. Another®grievapce was
the Inquisition, which since the nomination of Cardinal
Adrian as Inquisitor General had become more insupport-
able than under Torquemada. IHis almost frantic cruelty
towards the old woman Blanchina, and the shameful oc-
currences at Cuenca, had roused the Indignation of the
whole of Spain. Moreover, Lutheranism was rapidly
spreading, the writings of Luther against the Roman
church having becn immediately translated into Spanish. ()
As the Queen had been a victim of her disbelief in Roman
orthodoxy, 1t was not unreasonable to expect that she
would favour the new doctrine, and thus create a fresh
tie between herself and her subjects.

The Spanish nobles, on the other hand, had as many
and even more cogent reasons for being opposed to a
government of the Queen than the Commons had fo favour
it. They had been greatly enriched simce the death of
Queen Isabel at the expense” of the public domain. Fer-
dinand and Charles had bought their connivance by grants.
If, then, these last two governments had been declared
unlawful usurpations, it was clear that the mnobles would
~ have lost their ill-gotten acquisitions. Morcover, they saw
in the Commons men who were by nature inferior to them,
but who endeavoured to raise themselves to an equality
with them. This feeling 1s expressed In many documents
of the time, but nowhere more strongly than in the circu-
lar letter of the Marquis of Villena, inviting the nobles to
form a Junfa in opposition to that of the Commons. ¢ Our
““ Lord,” he %said, ‘“created gn his justice and mercy the
«« distinction between classes and ranks from the begin-
“ ning *of things,” and 1t would therefore be impious not

(1) The instructions given by the privy council, the grandees, and the
prelates of Spain, to the Duke of Alba, who in April 1521 was sent to
Charles to inform him of the rapid spread of the Lutheran heresy in Spain,
Pp. 376, sqq.
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to trample down the rebels.(*) Preposterous as would be
now the idea of dating the difference of rank from the
creation, it wes then general, earnestly believed in, and,
as is the case with all honest prejudice, of great power.
That the aristocracy were good Catholics can scarcely
be doubted, after their solemn declarations of the 12th,
13th, and 14th of April 1521.(*) Thus, opposed by personal
interest and political as well as relicious considerations
to the state of things which seemed unavoidable if Queen
Juana ascended the throne, they could not hope suc-
cesstully to resist the popular movement unless they
persevered in their assertion that she was mad. They were
not numerous enough to fight single handed, and could
not expeet to persuade their tenantry to follow them,
unless they could make them believe that the monks who
were wandering through the kingdom in all directions,
preaching a crusade for the deliverance of their rightful
Queen, were impostors. Even as it was, we meet with
more than one declaration that the peasants were only too
prone to side with the Comnrons and the Queen against
their lords and the Emperor, and resistance seemed some-
times so hopeless that. the grandees thought _they must
inevitably submit, and accept Juana as their sovereign.
Such being the state of things, a statesman, acting
from political considerations, would not have wavered for a
moment as to which party he ought to espouse. In poli- -
tics the right way is often attended with great difficulties.
Such, however, was not the case Wwith Queen Juana. Had
she aceepted the services of the Commons, and’ signed a
single decree, declaring that she had decided o take the
government of Spain into hgr own hands, all resistance
would have been at an end. That is not a mere opinion of
our own. Cardinal Adrian wrote over and over again that
1if the Queen signed he would have no choice, but be
forced immediately to leave the country ; (¥) and all the

—_——— L R T U - . ———— e

(") simancas.  Listado,  Legajo 1. f, 496, 497, (?) Pp. 376, sqq.
(%) Sce for instance pp. 304, 3235, ete.
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accounts concerning the grandees and the mnobles were
unanimous in this respect, that they would have hastened
to make their submission to the Queen, amd to reconcile
themselves with the Commons, without attempting any
further resistance. Thus, she had her destiny in her own
hands.

But the Queen was no politician, nor was she in a
position to know the real state of affairs and the true
intentions of the different parties. When she was no
longer a prisoner, she found herself surrounded by men of
one faction only, and of that faction, too, which, however
justifiable thelr rising was, had usurped powers which by
law did not belong to them. Could she believe what
they stated to her? The Commons, fully aware of this
disadvantage, invited Cardinal Adrian and the Privy
Council to come from Valladolid to Tordesillas, to discuss
with them in the prescnce of the Queen the measures of
state which it was thought necessary to take. Had their
invitation been accepted-she would have heen in a position.
to form a judgment of the merits of the plans pursued by
the one and the other party; but neither the Cardinal
nor the Coyncillors went to Tordesillas.

" T.eft in the dark as to her true interests, the aristocratic
and absolute propensities of her youth prevailed. She
knew that her father had been an cminently successful
prince, and she thought that the ministers of such a king
could give her only good advice, not suspecting that they
might be traitors to her. She had always seen that the
grandees Shared in the government of the country, and
the thought never entered her mind that they might be in
league with her enemy. But, above all, she had forgiven
Charles the cruel injustice which she had suffered from
him, ahd seemed to be more solicitous for his interests
than mindful of her own advantages. From a despatch
of Lope Hurtado de Mendoza, whom the Emperor had
sent to Spain with special orders to tell him the truth,
we learn, among other things, that when the Commons
told the Queen that Charles had assumed the title of king
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to her prejudice, she only found excuses for him, pretend-
ing that it "was a custom in Spain that the eldest son of
the Queen shorld have that title, althqugh she must have
known that it was not true. When they accused him
of having committed acts of great injustice, and caused
great misery, she exclaimed, “ Do not' disunite me from
“ my son. All that is mine belongs to him, and he will
“ take good care of it.”(") [Politically speaking, we
cannot condemn this error too strongly ; but, on the other
hand, it is impossible not to sympathize with a mother
who could not find it in her heart to believe that her son
would repay with acts of consummate villany the love
she bore him. ’

Charles, Cardinal Adrian, and the partisans of the Im-
perial faction availed themselves of the confidence the
Queen had in them, and of her love for her son. Before
the army of the Commons had occupled Tordesillas, the
Cardinal sent the President of the Council of Castile to
warn her not to show any favour to the insurgents, and
especially not to sign any proeclamation. When Tordesillas
was held by the popular forces, his communications with
the Queen were not interrupted, but continued {0 be carried
on in secret. Whilst she was believing him to be a per-
fectly honest man, he was intentionally leading her by his
advice to destruction. 'We have already seen that Adrian
knew full well that if she had signed the proclamation
which the Commons implored her to ratify by her hand she
would have been Queen in reality, and fer ever beyond the
danger of again being imprisoned as insane. * And yet,
instead of being ashamed, he elorified himself beecause it
was he who through his agents, Fray Juan do Avila, Fray
Francisco de Leon, and others, prevented her from doing the
only thing which could have saved her.(®) Charles spoke

b

(!} Lope Hurtado to the Emperor, December 10, 1520, p. 344.

(*) Adrian to the Emperor, September 14, 1520, pp. 226, 227,
Fray ¥rancisco de Leon to the Cardinal, November 13, 1520, p. 293.
Adrian to Lope Hurtado, November 13, 1520, p. 318,
Adrian fo the Emperor, November 17, 1520, p. 325,
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only of his devotion to his mother, enlarging on his * un-
speakable grief” at the insult anc disrespect $hown to the
Queen * my lady.’(*) The nobles of Spain imitated his
example, and the Constable of Castile protested' that he
would sacrifice his property and life in the “holy and
just” enterprise to “set at liberty > the Queen,  our
Sovereign Lady,” and to rescue her from the tyranny of
the ° barbarians.”(®*) Not a word, not a hint, 1s to be
found in these letters indicating that she was insane, and
it is even doubtful whether she ever knew that it had |
been reported she was mad. We have no positive proofs,
but it is in the highest degree probable, that the Cardinal
communicated the contents of these and similar declara-
tions of loyalty to the Queen, in order to confirm her In
her erroneous conceptions. When the army of the nobles
appeared before Tordesillas, they still pretended that they
had come to serve her as faithful subjects, and even after
the capture of that place it was thought prudent to keep
up false appearances for,a time. The Count of Haro, who
had led the dttack, when irforming his father, the Consta-
ble, of the latest occurrences, wrote: I kissed the hands
“ of the Queen yesterday, and told her that you had been
«« informed of the want of respect with which she and the
¢« Tnfanta had been treated, and remembering the loyalty
« with which our forefathers had always served the crown,
« you had sent me and these noblemen fo restore her
«« Highness to liberty. She replied that she was much
« obliged to you for your solicitude for her, adding that
« ghe was glad that I had arrived, and that she had an
«« opportunity of makmmg my acquaintance.” (°)

Queen Juana permitted herself to be utterly deceived.
1f, however, we must admit that persons of perfectly
sound 5judgment and even of considerable perspicacity, are
liable occasionally to commit such a gross error as to
believe their enemies to be their friends, we may the
more excuse the Queen, who had just been released from

(1) P. 238. (2) P. 275. (%) . 381.
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utter seclusion. As for carrying out her sulcldal policy
there can b& no doubt*that she did it with consummate
skill. Tad she signed a proclamation, She would have
ruined the aristocratical party ; had she deprived the
Commons of all hope they could have chosen another
sovereign.  Her cousin, the so-called Beltraneja, was
still living. She had a better right to the crown than
even Juana, and was perfectly sure of the full support
of France. There was Pedro Giiron, captain general of
the armies of the Commons, advancing in an underhand
way his claims to the throne, as representative of the
elder branch of King Alonzo, who had been driven by
violence and treachery out of the country.’(*) Rither of
them would have excluded all the descendants of Queen
Isabel, Juana as well as Charles, from the succession
in Castile. To procure for the grandees the time neces-
sary to assemble an army, and yet not to drive the
Commons to despair, was indeed no easy undertaking.
Juana, however, accomplished it,. putting them off from
day to day and from week to week, under a variety of
pretexts.  One day she excused herself with failing health,
another day she wanted to confer with the mmisters of the
crown, whom she said she had ordered into her presence ;
then she pointed out that the proclamation would be in-
validated if it were not signed on the back by the Secre-
taries of State, and so on. On one oceasion, when a false
alarm was spread that the Constable, with an army, was at
the gates of the town, and the members of the Junta were
pressing her unusually hard to sign the prociamation,
she answered that it was night, and that during night
ttme it was unbecoming to transact business of state,
giving them at the same time the assurance that the
Constable would do harm to no one. Wheneverall her
reasons were exhausted she affected that her strength
was worn out, and retired to her bed room. (*) The great

] —_————.

—

(H) . 319.
(?) Sce, for instance, Fray Francisco de Leon to the Cardinal, Pp. 288,
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misery to which Juana had been subjected induces us to
~ judge her leniently, but if we wish to form an impartial
opinion of her ‘character we cannot entigly absolve her
from @ certain amount of cunning, and suspect that if she
had not been the victim she would most probably have
victimized others. —

‘Ag she had so often excused herself on the plea of ill
health, it is natural enough that the Commons thought of
procuring for her medical assistance, and it is not to be
wondered at that ignorant priests came to Tordesillas, pro-
fessing to be able to heal her by incantation.(!) When,
however, Cardinal Adrian wrote that the Junie had re-.
course to conjurors, () he stated a thing which he knew
was not true. The Jumta -had ordered public prayers
in the churches, a custom prevailing then, as now, in
Spain and other countries during a real or supposed illness
of the sovereign.(*)

At last, when the army of the mobles was really on
its march to Tordesillas, the Commons made a desperate
effort. They declared to the Queen thui they would not
give her or the Infanta anything to eat until she had
signed. When they, however, saw that they could not
frichten her, they went down before her on their knees,
and holding up before her the proclamation, the ink and
pen, implored her to sign. She refused, and finally and
irrevocably rejected her only true friends.(*) Two days
later the grandees and cavaliers took Tordesillas by storm,
plundered and burnt it. The Queen had in vain ordered
the gates of the town to be opened, but she received "with
joy her supposed liberators at the entrance of her palace,
was led up to her apartment by Don Juan Manrique and
Don Geronimo Padilla, who had been the first to arrive,
and had the long desired satisfaction of seeing herself sur-
rounded by the gran&ees', and of conversing with them. (%)
The Marquis of Denia, however, was among them. A few

(1) P. 293, () P. 3045. (3) P. 254. (1) 17, 348.
(%) Lope Hurtado to the Emperor, December 10, 1520, p. 345.
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days later he took possession of his office, and Juana was
again his prisoner. That was the “holy enterprise,” that
was her .“ libergtion from the tyranny of tThe barbarians,”
with which Charles, Cardinal Adrian, and the nobles of
Spain had deceived her; a dark room, wherein to weep
over her crrors, and the torture, as an instrument of
coercion, to keep her quiet and to make her hear mass.:

- We must add a few words on the principal actors in this
tragedy, viz., the three governors or viceroys in Spain,
Cardinal Adrian, Don Fadrique Enriquez, Admiral, and
Don Inigo Fernandez de Velasco, Constable of Castile.

- Adrian has enjoyed in his native country, and in the
northern parts of Europe in general, the reputation of
having been an honest man ; the Italians considered him
as one of the greatest hypocritcs of his age. The
Spaniards spoke of him in their letfers to the Emperor,
before he was Pope, as a well-intentioned man, who,
however, was so credulous that nothing was easier than to
impose upon him. If, however, we examine the circam-
stances under which he was said to have been deceived, we
find that he allowed himself easily to be duped.-whenever
the acknowledgment of the truth would have oxposed him
to the alternative either to confess that he was domg wrong,
or to act up to his duty, and to incur thereby the danger
of some sacrifice or the displeasure of his master. As
often, however, as the recognition of the truth was pro-
fitable to his personal interests, it was rather difficult to
impose upon him. We must confess we doubt the honesty
of such a man, and suspect that it was rather his aptness
for accommodating himself to the worst deeds of his
master which raised him by degrees from the depth of
poverty to the highest dignity in Christendom. With
vegard to Queen Juana he behaved as might be expected
from such a person. At first he informed Charles with
tolerable frankness of what was said about the Queen’s
soundness of mind. When, however, the Marquis and Max-
chioness of Denia had been driven from Tordesillas, they
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on the 21st of September, and had a long affer-dinner
conversation. It was only too convenient for* the Cardinal
to believe every word which the Marquie told him, and
having quieted his easy conscience he did not thenceforth
once mention the reported sanity of the Queen without
most positively stating his disbelief of it. His real con-
“victions may have been formed from the course of events,
only that there are certain circumstances which make us
suspect that he was guilty of something more reprehen-
sible than mere credulity. Adrian came to Tordesillas
in the train of the conquering army, and stayed there a
considerable length of time. Knowing that the madness
of the Queen was at least disputed, it certainly was his first
and most imperative duty, as lieutenant of the Emperor, to
assure himself by his own eyes and ears of the truth, and
yet he never saw her for a moment. Was he afraid to
learn an unpalatable truth P(*) The most practised
dissemblers, however, have their unguarded moments.
Thus Cardinal Adrian, jn order to stimulate the energy of
Charles, asked him on one oceasion whether he would like
to wait for the death of the Queen, his mother, before
being permitted to govern in Spain.(*) If Adran really
believed Juana to be mad, how could he suppose that,
once installed on her throne, she would be able to remain
at the head of the government until the end of her days?
From his own words, therefore, it is clear that he knew
that the motive which guided the Emperor was not the
desire to prevent an ihsane person from doing harm to
herself and to others, but the criminal purpose of a son
to rob hig mother of her crown; and in this he coun-
tenanced him.

“The Constable of Castile was a thorough partisan of the
‘Marquis of Denia. This suffices to explain his conduect.

BECETAE C s m A A emebkd = G T T T
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(1) We may here remind the reader, that a few years later, when Adrian
was Pope, the Imperial ambassador in Rome wrote that he permitted the
most scandalous eorruption to be practised at his court, but avoided hear-
ing the truth. See Spanish Calendar, Vol. I1., p. cxlii. and p. 139,

A% I I
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The Admiral, althongh he had many and great farlings,
was on the whole a man of much more elevated character.
He at first refused the offered place of governor, and
accepted it only on condition that the Commons should
be trcated with leniency after the victory. When they
were conquercd, he wrote to the Emperor, on the 15th of
April 1521, begging him to be a “ good prince,” and pro-
mising to accept his clemency towards the vanquished as
an indemnification for his great private losses. With
regard to the Queen, he never stooped to utter direct lies.
Having had long and frequent conversations with her he
had the courage, when the other grandees spoke of her
insanity, indignantly to declare that she was of sound
mind,(*) without qualifying his declaration by any depre-
ciating addition. ITe cndeavoured to create for her, if
not an influential, at least an honourable position, and
would even have assigned to her some participation in the
despatch of public business. His counsel was overruled, as
the Comendador Mayor, Juan de Vega, in his letter to the
Constable of the 8th of Decembrer, wrote, * because it would
be the greatest misfortune for Spain to have two kings. ”(3)
The Comendador may have been right, but, if so, what
importance cag we attach to the declaration in his letter
to the Emperor, in which he stated that Juana was unfit
for the despatch of public affairs in consequence of mental
disease ¥ It was the language of a courtier who did not
dare to offend his sovereign ma,ster by giving utferance to
what he knew was the truth. 5

The treatment of Queen Juana during her second cap-
tivity was more cruel than during her first: The Marquis -
and Marchioness of Denia were irritated by the shights
they had received in the time of the Commons, and de-
sired to revenge themselves. The Queen, when she saw
the cruel deception to which she had fallen a victim, grew
excited and in her exmtement sometlmea unmanageable.

- ——— . ——

(1) Letter nf ane Hurtadﬂ de Mcndcazﬂ, nnt dated but evidently
written in December 1520. <. . asy dixo que la Reyna tenia por
~ cuerda,” p."353. (%) . 336.
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The Infanta was jaken away from her mother, and
married to the King of Portugal. It was expected that
the Queen would not survive this separaion,(') but she
did, dragging on a lonely and monotonous life with her
keepers., Under such ecircumstances death is the only
friend, but death came slowly. She lived five and thirty
years in her second imprisonment. No wonder that by
decrecs her reason gave way. During the latter years of
her life she believed that shie was possessed by evil spirits
which prevented her from being good and loving her
children, or the rites of the Roman Church. She imagined
that she saw a great cat laccrating the souls of her father
and of her husband. But these wild fancies were not
unfrequently interrupted by periods of calm and sound
judgment. Physically she sank down to a deplorable state
of almost brutish existence. Tor weeks and months some-
times she did not leave her Dbed, which reccived all the
evacuations of her body, and was never cleaned. Two
things she disliked until the close of her life. It was
painful to her to receive®a visit from any one of her
family, and she wished not to be disturbed by rehigious
ceremonies, In April 15565 1t was known that she was’
near her end. Charles, worn out by mental and bodily
sufferings, and discouraged by the ill suceess of the great
plans for which “he had sacrificed his conscicnee,” was
meditating his abdication in TFlanders, whilst his daughter
Juana was at the head of the government in Spain, She
might have lete her grfandmother die in peace, but the
honour Jf the Imperial family required that Queen Juana
should not, depart without receiving the holy sacrament.
Stormy scenes took place in the interior of the old palace,
and the sereams of the Queen were heard in the neigh-
bouring houses. At last, Fray Domingo de Soto was sum-
1110113(1 to Tordesﬂlas, where he arrived in the morning of
the 11th of April, and had a long conversation with the
Queen without witnesses. ¢ Thanks to our Lord,” he

- e . - e— e — —_— e — —_
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wrote on the same day to Juan Vasquez, who was chief -
Secretary of State in Spain, “when we were alone, she
““ spoke words®which consoled me. . Nevertheless, her
““ Highness is not in a disposition to receive the sacrament
““ of the eucharist, but the sacrament of the extreme
“ unction, I think, may be given to her. Even for this,
“ however, we must wait until she has less discernment,
*“ for that sacrament does not require much (discernment),
““ and we are afraid that, as long as her Highness has so
““ much judgment as she has. now, she will, from consi-
“ derations of honesty, refuse to submit to it. I think she
“ will not survive this night.”(*) In fact the Queen was
sinking rapidly. At an advanced hour of the night she
received the sacrament, thus sparing her children the
shame of having had what they called an infidel mother,
and on Good Friday, 12th of April, between five and
six o'clock in the morning, she expired, * thanking our
““ Lord that her life was at an end, and recommendin
““ her soul to Him."(?) . I
Such 1s the rough sketch of the life of one who should
have been a great Queen, and was the ancestress of
the Austro-Spanish dynasty. It goes far to regoncile the
humblest with the lowliness and hardships of his position ;
but we do not know which of the two to pity the more,
Queen Juana or Charles. The only alternative left to him
was to choose between uprooting all human feeling  from
his breast, and of renouncing everything that makeg. life

(') ¥ray Domingo de Soto & Juan Vasquez. De Tordesillas & 11 de
Abril de 1555, Simancas. Istado. Lejago 108, f.69. ¢« . .
“ despues me quede solo con Su Alteza muy gran rato, yspor cierto ben-
“ dito nuestro Sefior me ha dicho a solas palabras que me han consolatio
“ pero su Alteza no esta para el sacramento de la eucharistia, pero me
“ parece se le de el sacramento de ia extrema uncion, aunque ge Ssparars,
* a que tenga menos juicio, porque para aquel sacramento no es menester
“ tanto y tenemos que su Alteza con el juicio que agora tiene por su
“ honestidad no lo sufrira, pero tengo por cierto que no saldra desta
“ noche . . ..” :

(2) La Princesa al Emperadnr, 13th of April. 1855, Simancar Teia 1.
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worth having, or of accusing himself, in the midst of all bis
Imperial grandeur, of being a mean and miserable delin-
quent. ‘That was the price he had to paf for his plan of
universal monarchy. It would be high at any time, but
naturally was highest when right, virtue, and honour were
cheapest.

Such a character as that of Charles seems to be mon-
strous. The giant lizards of antediluvian -periods appear
to us also as monsters which could not have lived, but it
they were viewed amidst the nature which then surrounded
them they would lose much of their monstrosity. In
a similar way, Charles, considered in connexion with
the world in which he lived, still remains a bad man, but
not abnormally hideous. He was not the worst prince of
his time. When we become acquainted not only with
the smooth and by. far too much polished surface of
bygone ages, but also with the hidden springs and motive
power, the uncontrolled passions, the unscrupulous
violence, the sordid avarice, and unblushing lies which
abounded in their depths,”we all shall confess that we
have made progress in morality as well as in learning.

-

-

We must return to the marriage projects of King
Henry VII. That Queen Juana, in the year 1507, was
incapacitated by insanity for matrimonial life we think
will hardly any. longer be pretended. But did Henry
know that the rumours which were spread were false?
The decision of this question we must leave for the
future historian. Henry had seen the Queen a few
months before the death of her husband, but at a time
when reports of her mental diseasc had already been
insidiously spread. Thus, he was in a position to judge
for himself whether these earlier rumours were true.
He caused the Princess of Wales to write a letter to her
sister, the purport of which was a sufficiently clear
declaration of his wish to marry her. Although we may <
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think Henry capable of any sort of baseness, we cannot
suppose him to have been foolish enough to send-a Ilove
letter to a lady “vhom he believed to be mad. On the other
hand, however, if Juana was not insane when she was on
her way to Spain, she may have become so while staying
there ; and, in fact, the most accredited repmt was that the
sudden death of King Philip.had deprived her of reason.
Moreover, the truth® was so strictly concealed that it must
have been difficult even for Henry to learn it, and if he.
had been really aware that the insanity of Jpana was an
invention, it is hardly conceivable that De Pyebla could
malke in his name such statements-as he dld, cancer mng -
his not caring whether his intended bride were mad or not.
That Henry should have &valded positively cﬁntmdlctmg
King Ferdinand is intelligible enough as he did not wish -
to oitend him, but why he should have made &MJQSI{}HS
which went even further than . the assertions- of the
Catholic King, it would be difficult to explam, excePt
on the supposition that he did nat 001151&91' insanity to be-
an obstacle to marriage. Perhaps we should not be far
from the truth if we were to suppose that he had formed
no decided opinion on the merit of the subjeetf and did
not care for it, but that he was quite prepared to MAarry
Queen Juana, mad or - not mad, for the sake of her

dower.
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~ Acabadas las fiestas y partidos ansi los espafioles como .
yngheses a sus casas el Rey quiso entender en lo que le
cumplia. delando a iohan d& cuero le entregase las joyas
e plata quel dottay le abia dicho se le embian de dar en.
pago de la ultima paga. Respondiole como no las abia de

' entregar sino pesar 8 apreciar y tomar su carta de pago y

tener las ‘én su poder eomo hasia. Segund a parescido
pasaron algutias altercagiones sobrello. e en esto por el
Rey como no se asia .o su proposito y le parescia abia resce-
vido afrente en demandar esto antes del tiempo rescivio
alguno corrimiento ¥ bino- degpues de aver 4quinze dias
pasados sienpre entendiendo en la negociacion a la eamera de
la . p. e en presencia de dofia elvira manuel y mia le dixo
estas palabras Sefora hija, no dubdo ayays savido yo
demande & ¥ro guardaropa me diese cierta plata ¢ ioyas en
la suma de tantos mil descudos que*yo tengo de rescebir en

- la terzera paga en cuenta y pago de los dozientos mil escudos
~ que yo tengo de réscevir en la terzera paga en cuenta y pago

de los dozientos mil escudos de ¥ro dotte. quiers que vos

~8epays como y porque yo losrdfmande; Uwm dia antes que

yo os biese en el camino a-do os desposastes el dottor de

puebla bino a mi e me dixo Sefior porque eonoscays

—— ool e
(TRANSLATION.)

When the feasts %ere over, and the Sphniards as well as
the English had returned to their houseg, the” King pleased
to occupy himsell with looking after his interests, He asked
Johan de Cuero to defives to him he jewels and plate
which, the doctor had said, he had been ordered to give
8 pazt,.of the' last instalment. He answered that he had
not to deliver them, but to weigh and to value them, to
aalﬁa, receipt for them, and yet to guard them, as he hitherto
had done. It seems that some altercations took place on
this subject. Meanwhile, ag the will of the King was not
done, and he thought he had received an affront, having
asked [the jewels and plite] before the time they -were due,
he was somewhat ashamed ; and after having continued these
negotiations during a fortnight, he came to the room of the
seflora Princess, where he said to her, iy the presence of doiia
BElvira Manuel and me, the following, words: ¢ Sefiora, my
“ daughter, I have mo doubt that you know that I asked
“ from your keeper of the wardrobe certain plate and jewels,
“ worth so many thousand ducats, which Iehave to receive
“ ag part of the third instalment on account an® in pay-
“ ment of the 200,000 scudos which are due to me as part of
“ the third instalment on account amd. payment of the

" 200,000 scudos of your dower, I wish you to know why

“ and for what reasons I asked them. One day, before I
“ saw you ol the road where you were betrothed, the Doctor
“ de Puebla camg to me, and said: ‘Sefior, in order that
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come yo no pienso sino en gerviros beres lo que he fecho y

- obténido de mis soberahos ¥ es §uo xxxy. ,\/ ducades

que la ultima paga aveys de aver en perlas y piedras e oth
e plata y tapicerias yo he fecho que luego se entregue -segund

~ por esta carta que Sus Altezagme escriben beres, la qual carta

dize le leyo y contenia lo quel dezia de la qual nueba obo
mucho plager e despues de pasadas las fiestas le torno a re-
querir si queria rescivir las dichas joyas y como mno iue cosa
para recusar que el Je dixo era contento y llamo al dicho
cuardaropa y benidos al efeuto le dixo como lo que se abia
de azer apreciar y pesar las dichas joyas y plata y tomar
su carta de pago de la tal suma y se abia de quedar en poder
y manos del dicho guardarops de lo qual el abia sido
maravillado . por que razon se le pidiese carta de pago de
lo qie no recivia, y como el le avia rgplicado Senor guarde
ine secreto e yo os dire por que causa he procurado como
gervidor ¥ro esto y es- que sl Yra magestad quitre tomar
mi, consejo yo are comd la princesa quedara eon todas
estas sjoyas e plata y tapicerria y mis principes compliran
con vos a los terminos gue les tengo obligados si agora
no réscibe estas joyas y sera desta maners. la princesa

il b -

» o
- ) (TRANSLATION.)

« ¢you may know how much I take care of your interests,

# ¢ you shall see what I have done and obtained from my

"« ¢ govereign Lords,  You will learn by this letter from

« # their Highmesses that the five-and-thirty thousand ducats
“ < which you have to receive in pearls, jewels, gold, silver,
«“ ¢ and tapestry, on account of the last instalment, are with=
“« < out delay to be delivered to you.”” This letter he read to
him, and it contained what he had said. He was very glad
to hear this. When the feasts were over he (de Puebla) again
asked him whether he would like to receive the said jewels,
and, not having any reason to refuse them, he answered that
he woulll. He called the said keeper of the wardrobe, who,
fiowever, when they came to the point, told him that the
jewels and plate were to be valued and weighed, and that
he was to receive a receipt for their value, but that they
weré to remain in the keeping of the said keeper of the
wardrobe. When he [Henry] was astonished that he was
expected to give a veceipt for what 'he had not received, he
[de Puebla] said to him, * Seiiér, keep my secret, and 1 will
“ tell you tlie reason why I, your servant, have arranged
« this. If your Majesty will accept my advice, 1 promise
% you to conduct the affairs in sugh a wanner that the
“ gefiora, Princess shall remain .in the possession of all her
“ jewels, plate, and tapestry, and my sovereign Lords never-
« theless fulfil the obligations to you which I have imposgd

« on them in case that these jewels be not accepted. The
B 2



1501.

QUEEN I{ATHAR'INE;.

se servira de todo ello este tiempo despues sera verguenca
grangle de mis soberanos rehusande vos de no recevir lo que
ella a usado para el servicio de su persona y casa de selo
tomar., dexar se loan y compliran con vos e ya yo he hablado
con la princesa e la tengo di mi parte para que esto asi sea
guiado, yo sefiora hija aun que conosco que aziendose ansi
como este dize a vos e a mi seria probecho e es cosa hazedera
de procurar que ¥ros padres os den las tales cosas para ¥ro
servicio e uso sin las contar, yo no soy contento por tales
bias lo aver e pesame mucho en grand manera por yo aver
demandado las tales joyas, mas la causa fue la que yo os he
dicho e no otra, agora veo en esto ay cautela yo no con-
sintire que se ympute a mi. yo me tengo por contento
con lo que las escrituras rezan y no demando ni deman-
dare otra cosa mayormente que no la podria hazer auh
que quisiere porque estas joyas son de la ultima paga.
Ruegos escribays a los sefiores Rey e Reynma como yo os

‘he dicho lo.que oys "en que yo no demande ni deman-

dara nada sino fuese apretado y condortado por el dottor
diziendome lo tenia hecho e ‘asentado asi e agora . dize
me gue la carta de Yos sefiores Rey e Reyna a visto mejor e

.

-

( TRANSLATION. )}

“ manner is the following: If the Princess uses all this now,
“ and you afterwards refuse to accept it, my sovereign Lords
“ will be ashamed to take from her what she has already
“ used as her own on her person as well as in her household.,
“ They must then leave it to her, and falfil their obligations
“ towards you. I, have already spoken with the Princess,
“ and won her over on my side, so that it may be done
“as I have said.” « Sefiora, my daughter, although I know
“ that, if’ 1t is done as he says, it would be advantageous to
“ you and to me, and although it could thus be arranged
“ that your parents give you these things for your use with-
“ out counting them, nevertheless I am not inclined to
“ obtain [any advantage] by such- means. I am exceedingly
“ sorry that I have asked for the jewels in question, but the
“ reason was that which I have stated and nothing else, .1
“ see now that there is a crafty design, -and I shall not con-
“ sent, that 1t be attributed to me. I-shall be content with
“ what the treaties stipulate, and do not ask ner shall I
“ ever ask anything else, especially as I could not do it
“ even if I.would, because these jewels form part of . the last,
“ instalment. 1 beg you to write to the King and the
“ Queen all 1 have said to you, as you hear it, and I'to
# tell them] that I have not, nor should on any account

“ havez~prottered the demand without betng instigated and

“ animated by the Doctor, who told me that he had arranged. -
“ and settled 1t in that manner, bitt now says that, having
“ read once more the letter of the King and the Queen, he
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dize le mandan tome la dicha carta de pago y que queden
en podér de iohan de cuero y no puedo pensar sino que aya
sido mafia suya y que aya dado a entender a gus altezas algo
que no sea verdad ansy como a fecho a mi e. a vos por
nos tener sienpre en pendencias paresceme en (') una grande
alebosia que aya de dezir a sus principes e a vos e a mi
las tales cosas. Ruegos sefiora hija e a vos doha elvira e
a vos don pedro que dello deys abiso a sus altezas porque
no quiero que me tengan por tal persona que aya de
demandar antes de tiempo lo que no me eran obligados,
porque bendito firo Seflor no tengo necesidad para que
siendo menester por amor suyo y ¥ro seiiora hija yo podre
despender un millon de oro sin enpeharme. mostro fener
muy grand corrimiento por aver demandado le fuese entregado
I6 tal y como sele denego y teme sera ymputado por cob-
dicio%o e ansi se partio de la princesa este dia. |

" luego el dia siguente me llamo y me dixo como estava
en grand congoxa porque conbenia enbiar al principe en
pales y su consejo e el del principe estaban diferentes porque
abia dos opiniones. los unos dezian era bien la yda de la
princesa en pales los otros no y que cada uno dellos daban a
su opinion buenas razones y no sabia en que determinarse,

(1) Sie. es?

— i

(TRANSLATION.)

“ must confess that they oerder him to ask the said receipt
“ and yet leave [the jewels] in the keeping of Johan de
¢s+('nero ; and I cannot but think that it has been an artful
- % {rick of his, and that he. has given their Highnesses to
 understand something that is not- true, just as he has
“ deceived me and you in order to involve us continually 1n .«
“« difficulties. It seems to me to be a great breach of trust
to say such things to his Sovereigns and to you and to me.
“ T beg you, Sefiora, my daughter, and you, doha Elvira, as
“ well as you, don Pedro, to inform their Highnesses of the
“ truth: because I should not like to be held for a person
o .who asks what is due to me before the time. God be
““praised, I am mnot in want, and, if it were necessary, I
~“seould, for love of them and of you, my senora daughter,
“ spend a miliion of gold without contracting a debt.”

He was evidently much ashamed that he had asked that
the said things be delivered to him, and that his demand
was refused. He is afraid to be thought a miser. In such a
digposition of mind he left the Princess that day. |

Next day, having ealled me into his presence, he told me

- that he was very uneasy because it was necessary to send the
Prince to Wales, and his council and the council of the Prince
entertained different opinions. Some said that it would he
aood for the Princess to go to Wales, and others said no, and
each of them supported their opinions by such good reasons

(11
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le dixese m1 parescer yo. se le dixe era la quedada abria
paragmejor consejo porque seria "para muchas cosas muy
probechosa mayormente que ansy la princesa como el prin-
cipe tolerarian inejor el apartamiento y conversacion estando
ella en companiya suya e de la Reyna porque suplirian ellos
toda gravedad que del apartainiento del principe se le hiziese
lo qual no podria asy tolerar estando en su casa en gales y
otras muchas razones que bien pocos dias antes cl mismo Rey
me abia dado a mi por que se mobia a tener la princesa estos
dos afos benideros en su compafiia. otro dia siguente el
mismo ablo con la princesa el qual le dixo lo mismo que a mi
me abia dicho como conbenia Ia partida del principe y las
diversgs opiniones que los de su consejo temian pero que el ni
lo uno ni lo otro no determinaria salvo aquello que fuese su
voluntagd declarandole no haria otra cosa de lo que ella
quisiese, su respuesta fue en esto ni en otra cosa ninguna
boluntad tenia salvo aquella que su alteza tubicse, que de todo
lo que determinase de aquello seria contenta, tornole a replicar
le rogaba no }o dexase a su voluntad del porque podria ser
determinase el pensando azerle plazer de lo que recibiese
enojo.  afirmose en su primera respuesta e en est pendencia
b truco quatro dias y en este tiempo aziendo quel principe
travagase con la princesa ella dixiese queria mas v que

 (TRANSLATION.)

that he did not know what to do. He asked my advice,
What I answered was, that I thought 1t mwch better that the
Princess should not go, for that would be preferable in many
respects, and especially because the Prifice and the Princess
would -more casily bear being separated and [their abstinence
from] imtercourse if she remained with him and the Queen,
who could alleviate her sorrow for being separated from the
Prince, & thing which 1t would be much more difficult to bear
if she were to live in his house in"Wales, adding many other
reasons which the King himself had given me only a few days
before for retaiming the Princess during the next two years
near his person. The following day he (the King) himself
spoke with the Princess, and told her the same thing he had
sald to me, viz, that it vras necessary that the Prince should
oo to Wa.les and what difference of opinfon existed amongst
hig cnuncﬂlmrg adding that he would nét determine either in
the one way or the other, but do only what she tked, and
declaring to her.that he would do only what she wished. Her
answer was, that netther in this nor in any other respect had
she any other will than his, and that she would be content
with what he decided. He replied that he asked her not to
leave the decision to him, because, although wishing to be
agreeable to lier, he might nevertheless ‘?etermine on what
would give her annoyance. She repeated her first answer.
This vndecision continued four days, during which he caused
the Prince to use lis influence with the Princess, and fo
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queday gy como esto no quisiese dect hacitndo demostracioln]
¢l Rey de mucho pesar declaro conbenja fucse en gales aunque
era la cosa’del mundo que mayor pesar rescehia la qual yda
se puso en obra la biedpera de la pa. . . (%) viendo que no se
azia ningund asiento en la casa de la princesa mas de nombralle
quantas personas espaficlas abia de tener doila clvira
abiendo ya segund paresce muchas vezes ablado con el dottor
en cllo e abiendole el dicho como ansy lo que la senora
princesa abia de tener para sostinimiento de su estado como lo
que cada uno de sus servidores y servidoras todo lo tenia
asentado como eonbenia aziendo el Rey muchas ofertas a la
dicha dofia clvira le dixo ella le suplicaba le quisiese dezir lo
jue en esto estaba asentado el qual como lo oyo resce.. .(Y) grand
alteracion diziendo era cosa muy nueba para cl la tal demanda
porque fasta la orfa] destonces nunca en tal se le abia ablado
dizietidole como la costumbre desta tierra era 1(’) . . maridos dar
a sus mugeres lo que obiesen necesgrio lo qual aria el prin-
cipe su hijo segund estado y conbenia a su hontra y el le
prometia no consinteria fuese ella ni sus servidores sino muy
hien tratados diziendo algunas otras razones e ansi se desca-
bullo dello. “otro dia signiente el dottor bino al Rey el qual
paresce ser(?) le dixo palabrag no buenas diziendole por que

{1y Papel roto. {*) Sic.

r N
b

*

(TRANSLATION. )

‘persuade her tasay that she preferred vather to go than to
stay, and, as she vefused to say it, the King, making show of
great sorrow, decided that she should go to Wales, although
nothing in the world he regretted more. She went on the even-
ing before ., . () her departure nothing was provided for the
household of the Princess, except that it was determined how
many Spanish servants she was to have. As dotia Elvira, it
scems, had alrcady oftentimes spoken with the doctor, who
had told her that he had settled how much the sehora Princess
was to have for the sustenance of her household, as well as for
cvery one of her male and female servants, and that the King

"had made great offers to the said dona Klvira, she asked him ()

to state what had been decided. When he heard this he was
much surprised, and said that such a demand was an cntirely
new thing to him, for until then nothing had been mentioned
to him about it, and it was the custom in this country
for husbands to give to their wives all they want, which .the
Prince his son would do, ‘according to his rank, and as his
honour required, He would never consent, he said, that
she and her servants were otherwise treated than very
liberally. Adding some other reasons, he dismissed this.subject.
The following day the doctor went to see the King, who, it

seems, spoke by no means friendly words to him, asking him

('y Paper gon () Him seems to mean the King, *
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razon en todas estas cosas que estaban negociadas el abia,
tenido cautelas prometiendo o diziendo abia mas de lo que
estaba asentado en las escrituras porque dofia elvira le
abia ablado la tal cosa. el qual le respondio ue no creyese
su alteza el obiese ablado ni eserito ninguna cosa otra
de lo que las esérituras recaban mas que aquello que dofa
clvira o la princesa o otras personas demandaban o ablaban
todo era a requesta e ynducimiento de don pedro. el Rey le
replico no creya fuese asy salvo que el tenia estas maneras por
entretener a Vras altezas e a el en pendencias no de buena
disisticion (*) e otras palabras no muy honestas lo qual fue
delante de su consejo.

la, partida de los sefiores principe e princesa se determino
Yy puso en obra martes xxi. de diziembre para tener la
tiesta xl millas de aqui lo que despues de su partida alla,
oviere pasado e subcediere dalla daran cuenta a ¥ra alteza
dello.

agora quiero dizir a V. al. lo que destas cosas vo he
entendido e creo y he fecho. quanto toca a lo de las
joyas el Rey bien quisiera como se le ofrescio se las dieran
y entergaran y a lo que yo creo y por sefiales he yo bisto
claras todas o la mayor parte de ellas o su equibalencia
el selo diera porque en grand manera a rescevido gran-

(') Sie.

(TRANSLATION.)

why he had hehaved so artfully in all those affairs which had
heen negotinted, saying and promising, a¢cording to what doiia
Kivira had told him, more than really had been seftled in the
treaties. He answered, that his Highness ought not to believe
that he had spoken or written anything but what was con-
tained in the treaties, and that all that dofia Elvira and the
Princess and other persons asked or were speaking of was at
the request and persuasion of don Pedro. The King replied
that he did not believe it, but knew that with no good inten-
tion he purposed in this manner to involve your Highnesses
and him in difficulties, adding other woyds by no means
Hattering. This passed in the presence of the council,’

The departure of the Prince and Princess was fixed and
took place on Tuesday the 21st of December, in order to pass
the holidays 40 miles distant from here. Of ail that, after
themr departure, has happened and will happen, they will

.nform your Highness from there.

L wish now to tell your Highness what I have heard
and believe, and what I have done concerning this busi-
ness.  With respect to the jewels, the King would like
that, as they were offered him, they be given and delivered
to him, and that, according to what I believe, and from
unmistakeable signy conclude, all or the greater part of them,
or their equivalent, should be given to him, because he has
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disimo contentamiento de todo quanto ¥ras altezas an hecho
y sobre todo tienese por muy abenpturado despues que a
conoscido“esta sefiora ser la que €s. y como siempre el
tubiese esperanca esto se le abia de entergar nunca
probeyo dar un alfiler a la princesa. allose muy corrido de
lo aver demandado v no darsele y lo que no abia (') fecho
lo que con esta esperanga abla dexado de azer crese como
aca aya mucha boluntad de adguerir lo que se puede aber
¢ como le tublesen ya abisudo que usando e traxiendo lo
princesa, todas estas cosas que trae vuestres altezas avriom
enpacho despues de mandar le fuesen quitadaes y eciter
gadas « el en pago delo que abia de aver delibero que
[, yda de gales se dziese porque seria forcado servirvse de
todo lo que traya. pov parte mia que algo desto ¢ entendido
no se a dexado de abisar todo lo que se pudiere escusar
de #0 wusarse i trafarse estas cosas semejanies se escuse
porque es cierto otra niguna razon mas principal no a abido
para Ja yda porque es muy contra la voluntad del Rey por
otros pensamientos que tiene, y por mi parte e donia elvira
por la suya diximos al Rey creyamos Vras altezas sabida la
muy tierna cdad del principe abrian antes plazer que
pesar por algunos dias no estubiesen juntos. Respondio a

¥
&
-
[ ]

(1) Bie.

( TRANSLATION.)
received the very greatest pleasure from all your Highnesses
have done, and above all, since he knows what a person the
Qefiora is, he congiders himself a fortunate man. As he al-
ways hoped that these (the jewels, &c) were to be delivered
to him, he never provided so much as a pin for the Princess ;
bhut he is much ashamed that be has asked and met with a
refusal, and that he has neglected to do that which he has
loft undone, because he had that hope. It is belicved that
the hest will exists here to aequirve all that can be got, and
as Le has «lready been told that, if the Princess. uses all
the things which she takes with her, your Highnesses will
fimd, it difficult to order afterwards that they be taken from
her, and delivered to him as purt payment of what 18 due
to lim, he has decided that she should go to Wales, because
then she would be obliged to wse all she takes with her. On
my part, as I have heard something of this, it has not been
neglected to advise that a8 much as it can be avoided #hése
thimgs should not be used. ¥or it is certain that there has
been no other reason of any weight for her journey, which s
very contrary to the wishes of the King vn other respects. 1,
on my part, and doba Elvira on hers, have told the King
that we believe that your Highnesses, knowing the tender
ago of the Prince, would rather be pleased than dissatistied
if they for some time did not live together. He answered
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esto como se maravillaba porque una de las cosaf porque
se ahia determinado azerlo abia %ido porgue uno de los
principales que Vras altezas con la Princesa abian enbiado
para su servicio le abia hecho una muy larga abla sobre
este caso y el fin delln abia sido por parte de ¥ras altezas
como onbre que sabia sus voluntades le rogaba en ninguna
manera del mundo no los separase antes que la enbiase
con su marido porque no aziendose asy Vras altezas
serian mal contentos e della sabia se desesperia.  obo
siendo muy ynterrogade de declarar abia sido alexander
el que esto le dixo con parescer e ynduzimiento de! dotor.
la causa porque no se save glosar otra salvo porque obiese

- ocasion de usar las dichas cosas a equse de la partida e

biniese « su proposito lo que ordemaba. aun que en este
caso ni en otro ninguno no debria de tener atrebimiento
de dezir a vias al. mi simple parescer mas confiando recivra
la boluntad con que lo digo dire como si tiene determinado
esto que aca esta aya de servir para en la cuenta de los
dozientos mil scudos que seria bien luego mandasen se le
cntregasen porque creo serviria a dos cosas lo uno a que
no fuese reusado, lo otro qde al presente seria en mas
tasado que despues lo seria y no dubdo aprobecharia lo tal

(TRANSLATION,)

to this observation, that he was astonished to hear it, for one
of the reasons which had induced him to do it had been
because one of the principal personages whom your High-
nessed had sent with the Princess to serve her had spoken
to him, and asked him, in the name of your Highnesses, as a
man who knows your intentions, that on no condition in
the world should he separate them, but send her with
her husband, and that if that were not done your
Highnesses would be dissatisfied, and she, he knows,
would be in despair, Being much pressed he had
to confess that Alexander had told him this, with the
approval and according to the advice of the Doctor.

His wntention, for no other cambe found, is to procure
her an occasion to use the said things, ih consequence of
her gowrney, and thus by what he ordered to atiain his ends,
Although I ought not to have the boldn&ss to state in this
or mn any other case my humble opinion' to your Highnesses,
nevertheless, hoping that the good will with whiclf T state
it will be acceptable to you, I shall say that, if it ig
determined that that which is here is to be gi¥en on gccount
of the 200,000 scudos, it would be good to order that it
be delivered immediately, because I think it would serve
iwo purposes, viz, firstly, that it would not be refused,
and, secondly, that it would now be more highly valued than
afterwards, and T do not doubt . would produce so good an
eftect that the King would giye it back to her ; but if it
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a que el Rey gelo tornase y si se dilata a no darse lo fasta

la unltima_paga, ¢reo el dilatava a, no talle ) ninguna
cose pues twene bien lo que o menester wnsy Ppare s servico
como para el del principe al qual tan poco ninguna
cosa de adreco de casa wi waxille o dado ni entiende
de dar antes ¢ ordenado esten junios y comon Juntos
porque aya ocasion de servirse con la de la princesa.
quanto toca a esto no se otra causa que dezir pueda.

Bien creo V. Al ya sabra como he dicho para su estado
ninguna cosa sefialada tiene ni menos para sus servidores
ni oficiales acostamientos ni pensiones salvo que aran todo
lo mejor que pudieren segund la renta quel principe tiene
requieren, yo no creo que V. Al fenga creydo fasta agora que
esto aya de ser asy porque seria sy amsy fuese con deter-
minacion de la prober cada ailo de lo que le faltase e si
ansy” es deben luego wvuestras altezas prover em que se
asiente lo que debe que mo aziendose luego a los principios
seria. grave despues. la seiiora princesa me & mandoudo
algqunas bezes entendiese en algunas cosas semejantes. no e
obedescido en este caso su mandamiento pues de vuestra
alteze no le tengo.

(1) no talle for no dalle,

( TRANSLATION.)

*were delayed, and not delivered to him until the last

instalment, in such a case I believe he would delay to assign
ahything to her, because she has every thing she womis «s .
well for her own service as for that of the Prince, to whom he
also has given mnothing at all wherewith to furmish his
house, nor any table service, novw does he wntend fo give, bul,
on the contrary, le has ordered that they live together and
take their meals together, so that he must use the things of the
Princess. With respect to this subject I know no other
motive that could be alleged.

I think your Highness knows already that nothing has

* been assigned for her household, and much less have the

salaries and pensions for her servants and officers been
provided, but they all will manage to live as well as the
revenues of the Prince permit, 1 do not think that your
Highness bas believed that this was to be the case, for if
it were you would have to provide her annually with
what she wants. If 1 am right, your Highnesses must
immediately take steps that what is due to her be also settled
on her, for if that is mot done at the begimning it will be
difficult afterwards. The sefiora Prineess has several times
ordered me to enter imto megotiations about such similar
subjects, but I have mot obeyed her orders in this, because
T hawve no power from your Highness.

&
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{What follows is written in the hand of D. Pedro de Ayala.]

Perque presto entiendo escrevir” otra ves a Vras altesas
ne dire aqui  asta saber muy clerto algunas cosas que
aca me an dicho se ordena aver. parecermeya como a
vr. alteza escrevi estotro dia luego deve proveer y mandar
los que aca estamas ansy onbres como mugeres nos con-
formemos y ninguno sea osado de negociar particularmente
cosa que a el m1 a otro ecumpla porque ecada uno se va
a leer y procura y abla lo gue quiere en tal manera que
s¢ age mas daiio que provecho. quando de aqui partio la
Sra. princesa se asento su casa y mandaron a cada uno en
lo que avia de servir y a do avia de entrar y estar orde-
naron no sirviese el maestre sala y davan le oficio de
huxer y a Juan de Cuero ansimismo esto sc fico dezpues
de partidos de aqui. yo no fuy a gales por atender aqul
cartas de ¥ras Altesas y aun porque en alguna manera

era menester m1 quedada ansi por no estar aun *
¥ % # * % % * *

[ Zhe conclusion of this despatch is lost.]

—

(TRANSLATION,)

[The following is holograph of the ambassador don Pedro -
. de Ayala.]

I intend soon to write again to your Highness, and shall,
therefore, not mention several things which T am told
bave been ordered, until I am quite sure of the truth. It
seems to me that, as I have already wtitten to your High-
ness the other day, you shonld without delay provide and
order that all we who are here, men as well as women,
act In unison, and that none be so bold as to entertain
separate negotiations, which neither he nor any other has a
right to do. Now every oné reads, and asks, and speaks what
he likes, and thus causes more disadvantages than advan-
tages. When the sefiora Princess left, her servants were
appointed for their several places, and every one received
his orders where he was to serve. They have now decided
that the maestre sala should not serve in that quality, and
have given him the office of usher. The same with respect
to Juan Cuero. That was done after *their departure from
here. Idid not go to Wales, because I here awals letters
from your Highnesses, and also, in some other respects, it
15 necessary that I remain here, for I am nét yet . *

* * " *

(Lhe conclusion of this letter is mot extant.)
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4th March. 2. The Kniour COMMANDER OF MEMBRILLA, Spanish Ambas-
sader in England, to KiNg FERDINAND THE CATHOLIC.

[ Arckivo General de Simancas, Patronato Real. Cupitulaciones con Inglaterra.
Legajo 5 (sin folio), Holograph.]

A Su Alteza del Comendador de la Men-
brilla. iiij de Marco de mdvi).

Catholico y muy podereso Senor, |
Mucho e trabajado por salyr vyrgen de inglaterra y
por quitar a vuestra magestad de cnojos y esperava de dya en
dya quel casamyento de la pryncesa de gales se hyzyera y que
syn dar enojos a via Alfteza se remedyaran los desconciertos
de la casa de la princesa y yo confyeso que ha sydo error
porque sy con tyenpo se uviera escryto puediera ser remediado
v no pasara tan adelante mas mejor es tarde como dyzen. sepa
via slteza que ay mucha necesydad de una persona que
govierne esta casa y que sea tal persona que Su. alteza le
tenga en onor y los de su casa le tengan acatamiento porque
agora se govierna le casa por un frayle mogo que la princesa
tiene por confesor y a mi ver y a ver de todos yndino de tener
tal cargo v baze cometer muchos errores a la princesa y como
«u alteza sea tan llena de bondad como esy tan puesta en
conciencia y este su confesor todas las cosas. de qualquier
calidad que sean las haze pecado si a el no le plazen y con
esto haze que se hagan muchos errores y porque va este

]

(TRANSLATION.)

2, - To his Highness, from the Comendador de la
Membrilla, 4¢th of March 1509.

Catholic and most powerful Lord,
Much have I laboured to depart spotless from England,
and to save your Majesty from vexation, hoping from day to
- day that the marrage of the Princess of Wales would take place,
.ud that the disorders in the house of the Princess would be
remedied without annoyance to your Highness. I confesg that
it has been an error, because 1f 1 had written in time it might
have been possible to remedy it, and not have gone too far
forward : but it is better late, as they say [than never|. Your
Highness should know that there 1s much need of a person
who can rule this household, and that it should be such
a person whom her Highness holds in honour, and those
 of this house hold in respect, for now the household 1is
governed by a young friar, whom the Princess has for con-
Fossor, and who, being in my view and in that of every one
unworthy of having such a charge, causes the Princess to
commit many errors. As your Highness knows how full of
coodness she is, and so conscientious, this her confessor makes
S ain of all acts, of whatever kind they may be, if they dis-
please him. and thus causes lier to commit many faults,
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otyado de la pryncesa a V. Alteza despachado a escuso de mi
por dat lugar a los que de mi querran dar querellas no dyre
aqui todas las cosas que tienen necesidad de enmyenda syno
remitirme & que V. Alteza mande interrogar a este del
estado en que esta la casa de la princesa y las cosas que de
dos meses aca an sucedido y de su relacion sabra mas de lo
que yo podre escrevyr que despues que sepa que han dado a
Vta Alteza sus querellas de mi sy Via Alteza quisiere saber
la verdad aunque sea contra my yo la dyre y syn mentye
e un puncto 4 vuestra Alteza mas por quel pryncipio y
imedyo y fyn de los desconcyertos es este frayle que
digo, y dygo gque es mogo y libiano y  sobervyo y en
estrema manera escandaloso y sobrel el Rey dynglaterra a
dycho a la pryncesa harto rezyas palabras y porque yo e
dicho algo que no me parecya byen deste frayle a la prin-
cesa y el frayle lo 'supo ha podido tanto que me ha puesto en
tanta desgracya de la pryncesa que sy yo le ubyera hecho
alguna traycion no me uviera tratado peor y tengo algunas
cartas guardadas para mostrar a Vuestra Alteza que la
princesa, me a escrito que por cierto symo tuviera la fe que
tengo al servycio de Via Alieza temor de perder lo que

tengo ny de poner a pelygro la vyds no me detuviera mas

en ynplaterra que ya me fuers ¥ydo mas el servycyo de

~ (TRANSLATION.)

This gervant of the Princess goes despatched behind my back (*)
to your Highness, to give time to those who wish to make
complaints of me. I will not say now all the things which
have need of correction, submitting to-the opinion of those
your Highness may order to interrogate him [the servant] as
to the condition in which the house of the Princess 18, and
as to the things which for two months past have happened,
and from his report you will know more of it than I should
be able to write, 1f, after havihg been informed of their
complaints of me, your Higliness should desire to know the
truth, although it may be against me, I will tell it to your
Highness without lying on any point. Because, however,
the bEginnjng, and middle, and the end of these disorders is
this sald friar, I say that he is young, and light, and haughty,
and scandalous in an extreme manner y and the King of
England has said to the Princess very strong words about him.
Because 1 have said something to the Princess waich did
not appear to me right of this friar, and the friar knew i,
Le has been so far able as to put me so muck out of favour
with the Princess that if I had committed some freason she
could not have treated me worse; and I have some letters
preserved to show to your Highness, which the Princess has
written to me. Certainly, unless I were so faithfully devoted
to the service of your Highness, neither the dread of losing

—_————— . — ———— i — — —

(1) A escuso de #hi, that is, avoiding me,
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Vuestra Alteza puede tanto sobre my gque no tengo el libre
arbytrio que dios me dio para poder hazer otra cosa sino moryr y
serviros. & Yia Alteza suplico que oyda la ynformacion queste
que esta lleva hara porque es criado de la casa y sabe todas
las cosas que Via Alteza remedie la persona y la casa de
la princesa enbiandole ~un econfesor vigjo y onrado y de la
orden de San francisco porgque el tal podma estar en
ynglaterra mas syn escandalo que este esta y mas a voluntad
del Rey dinglaterra. y porque Vuestra Alteza conosca de que
seso puede ser este frayle dyre lo que a my mismo me dixo,
y fueron estas palabras formalmente sin afeallas ny hermo-
seallags. dyxome yo se que os han dycho muchas cosas de
my. yo le dixe por cyerto padre no me han dicho nada de
vos. dixo yo lo se que quien os lo dyxo me lo ha dicho.
yo le dixe bien puede cada uno levantarse falso testimonio
mas yo os juro por el corpus Xpti que no me han dicho
nada gue yo me acuerde. dixo sia (') que en esta casa ay malas
lenguds y me an ynfamado y no con lo mas baxo de la casa
syno con lo mas alto y esto no es mengua 2 my y por no
hazello verdad estoy aqui que ya ine serya ydo. por cyerto
dygo a vuestra Alteza verdad que estuve movido y casi

(1) sic.

————— . WL L ——eee = =i = P T s —_——— === L= —

(TRANSLATION.)

that which I have, nor of putting my life in peril, would
detain me longer in England. I would already be gone, had
not the service of your Highnéss such power over me that
I have not the free judgment which God gave me to do any
other thing, except to die and serveé you. I entreat your
Highness that, having heard the infortuation which he who
brings this letter, and who is a servant of the house and knows
every thing, will give, your Highness amend the life and the
household of the Princess, sending her an old and honest con-
fessor and of the order of San Francisco, because such an one
might stay in England with less scandal than this one, and
more according to the pleasure of the King of England.

In order that your Highness may know of what kind this

friar is, I will tell you what he said to me, and they were
these words exactly, without making them worse or better.
He said to me: I know they have told many things of me
to you, I said to him: Certainly, father, they have said
nothing of you to me. He said: I know it, for he who told
you told me. I said to him: Well, any one can rise as a false
witness, but I swear to you by the Corpus Cristi that they
have told me nothing which I remember. He said: Be it
go, but in this house there are evil tongues, and they have
slandered me, and not with the lowest in the house, but with
the highest, and this is no disgrace to me, and if 1t were not
for contradicting them I should alreddy be gone. Certainly
I tell the truth to your Highness, that I was excited and al-
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fuera de .tyento para poner las manos en el y demas desto
esta aborrecydo del Rey dinglaterra y de todos los yngleses
ver ‘uin frayle tan contino en ‘palacio y entre las miugeres
que no puede ser cosa mas aborrecida v no es buena sefial
no remediar el Rey de ynglaterra una cosa que tanto le
desplaze. Nuestro Sefior la vida y Real estado de Via Magd.
guarde y acreciente dandole mayores Reynos y Sefiorios como
V. Alt. lo dessea. De londres a 11]) de Marco de dix. De V.

‘Mt. humilissimo servydor y - vimeallo que sus Reales manos

besa. gutierre gomez de fuensalida,

[Sobre :] Al Catolico y muy poderoso Sefior el Rey nuestro
Senor.

3. KATHARINE, PRINCESS OF WALES, to KINg PERDINAND
THE CATHOLIC. -

[Archivo General de Simancas. Patronaio Rl Tratados con Inglaterra.
Legajo 5. £ 59, Holoyraph, ]
Princesa de Gales. Rixamonte,
9 de Marzo, 1509.

Muy alto y muy poderoso Sefior, |

Por una cavta que Via Alteza al enbaxador eserebyo
vy como esta determynado envyar aquy un perlado paraque
se de fin a los negocyos por lo qual beso las manos a Via
Alteza que sygun las cosas de aqua syenpre se enpeoran y my

- - ) .

-g (TRANSLATION. ) .
most beyond power of rvestraint from laying hands on him,
Moreover, the King of England, and all the English, abhor
so much to see such a friar so continually in the palace and
amongst the women, that nothing could be more detested by
them ; and it is not a good token that the King of England
does not remedy a thing which displeases him so much. May
cur Lord guard and augment the life and royal estate of
your Majesty, giving you greater kingdoms and lordships, as
your Highness may desire,

From London, the 4th of, March, 1509,

Your Majesty’s most humble servani and subject who
kisses your royal hands. ’

Gutierre Gomez de Fuensalida.
[Addressed :] To the Catholic and most powerful Lord the
King our Lord, )

-

3. Princess of Wales, Richmond,
9th of March, 1509°*

Very high and very mighty Lord,

From a letter which your Highness has written to the
ambassador I have seen that you ‘have determined to send
hither a prelate to conduct these negotiations, I kiss the
hands of your Highness for it, for as things here become
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vyda se aze yneonportable no puedo allarya manera como se
cufra qye los que asta aquy e tenido agora ya no me aprove-
chan por que my fortuna quyere que 10s que Vja Alteza aquy
enbya a le servyr*por mas sufycyentes que sean ayan de
estropear en lo que toca a su servyeyo que es my remedyo y
estado de venyr este enbaxador ya creo sabe Via Alteza
quanto esta fuera de la voluntad del Rey de ynglaterra y en
tanta manera que no le quyere veer ny oyr mo porque el no
sea fyel a lo ‘gue creo mas por no le saber tratar por que asy
como el dotor de puebla tenya demasyada dulgura en lo que
cunplya en los negocyos para con el Rey este otro a tomado
sobrado rigor con el y con los suyos mayormente en este caso
donde yo tengo de quedar sujecta a ellos no me puede
aprovechar syno lo que con medyana ragon se aze y por esto
yo suplyco a Via Alteza no olvyde lo que muchas veces le
tengo, escryto que es mandar presto envyar aquy el remedyo
como mas fuere servydo y con determynacyon de la manera
‘en.que Via Alteza quyere que yo Vyva pOr que por my im-
posyble tengo poder gufryr lo que asta agora e pasado y pasa
asy de los desabrymyentos del Rey y de las maneras que
conmygo tyene especyal despues que su fija se ha desposado
con el pryncype de Castylla que le parece que no tyene
necesydad ya de Via Alteza pues syn su consyntymyento esto

—_—— .

‘ (TEANSLATIQN.)

daily worse, and my life more and mgre insupportable, I can
8o longer bear this in any manner. Those [servants] whom
up to this time I have had are no longer of any use to me,
because my ill fortune wills it that those whom your High-
ness sends hither, however sufficient they might be, have
always so much crippled your service, that the sending of a
new ambassador is my only support and comfort. Your
Highness knows already liow much the King of England, who
does not like to see or to hear this one, would be pleased at
it. Not that he iz not loyal, but I think he does mnot
know how to treat matters. For as Doctor de Puebla c¢on-
ducted the affaird with too great gentlemess in every “thmg
that regarded the interests of this King, so this other be-
haves with too great rigour towards him and his servants,
especially as I, being dependent on them, cannot make use
of anything that is not done with moderation. Therefore,
T beseech your Highness not to forget what 1 have written
to you so many times, but immediately to send redress, and
to determine as to the way in which your Highness desires
me to live. It is impossible for me any longer to endure
what I have gone through and still am suffering from the
unkindness of the King and the manner in which he treats
me, especially since he has disposed of his daughter in
marriage to the Prince of Castile('), and thercfore imagines
he has no longer any need of your Highness, as this has

(Y Charles. ‘

B
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e & echo y pyensa azermelo entender con muchos desamores
aunque en lo sccreto syn confesarlo vyen conoce que en no
tencr la voluntad de Via Altezade Talta Ia mayor y myjor parte
y esto me causa tanta-pena por ser en deservyeyo de Vuestra
Alteza que aunque otra no tuvyese no me dexa que la pasc
syn azerselo saber y dyos sabe la que yo recybo en enojar a
Via Alteza con syenpre eserebyrle tantas desventuras y
necesydades mas acordandome como su fija no puedo acabar
comygo de no le avysar para que lo mande remedyar como a su
estado y servycyo pertenece y asy mysmo para decyrle como
ya my mnecesydad es tanta que no se de donde me pueda
sostener por que astaquy me (!) camara se a vendydo Io que
no e podydo escusar ny se de donde lo pueda aver por que el
Rey a my mysma pocos dyas a me dyxo ablandole yo sobre
mys necesydades como no era oblygado a dar de comer a los
IMyos Ly aun a my propya persona §yno que el amor que me
tenya no le daba lugar a que otra cosa yzyese por esto vera
Via Alteza de que manera estoy quando con solo el comer
€ e amenaza (ue casy e le dan por lymosna y una de las
COsas que mas syento es vel a todos los myos tan perdydos
como estan que aunque todos no me ayan servydo como
debyeran tengo pena por lo que toca a my concyencya no les

(1) bie.

——

A
- g
*

( TRANSLATIDH.)

been done without your consent. He tries to-make me feel
this by his want of love, although in secret and without
confessing it le knows that as long as he does not possess
the goodwill of your Highness, he is wanting in the greatest
and best part,  All this causes me much pain, as being
against - the interest of your Highness, and if I had not
any other cause, this alone would not permit me to let it
pass without making you acquainted with it. God knows
how much I am grieved that I have to write you always
of 80 many troubles and difficulties. But remembering that
I am your daughter, I cannot prevail upon myself to conceal
them from you, and not to beg you to remedy them ws your
station and service require. To tell the tfuth, my necessities -
have risen so high that I do not know how to maintain
myself. For I have already sold my household goods, as it
was impossible to avoid it, and I do not %now whence I -
can have anything else. Some days ago, speaking” with the
King about my wants, he said to me, that he was not bound
to give my servants food, or even to my o®¥n self, but that
the Iove he bore me would not allow him to do otherwise.
From this your Highness will see to what a state I am re-
duced, when T am warned that even my food is given me -
almost as alms,  What I feel most, isto see all my servants in
such a ruined state ag they are. Although not all have served
me as they ought, it gives me pain and weighs on my eon-
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poder pagar y despedyr a los que me sof causa de muchos
enojos egpecyal a Juan de Cuero que se me aze muy grave de
cufryr suseatrevymyentos por que €s %ausa dg que otros no
agan lo que an de azer y esto tengolo de desymular por la,
necesydad que a Via Alteza e dycho y sobretodo lo que mas
congojs me da es no poder en nynguna manera remedyar la
de my confesor porque le tengo el myjor que nunca muger de
my manera creo que tuvo asy €n vyda y santa dotryna como
en muy buenas letras como 2 Via Alteza muchas veces e
eseryto pename mucho no le poder tener como & &u ofycyo y
my estado requyere por Iy estrema necesydad en la qual el
syempre me a servydo y con tanto trabajo y pena que
nynguno otro lo ¢uiryera y esto con mucha lealtad asy en su
ofyeyo como en todos buenos consejos y exenplos y en pago
desto no Ime parece que €s ragon dexe de azer saber a VIa
Altezg quan malamente el enbaxador se avydo con el en lo
qual mucho me a enojado por que en esie caso a ido contra el
servycyo de Via Alteza y la causa a sydo porque el enbaxador
a tomado tanta aficion con este mercader francysco de
grymaldo que aquy truxo consygo y COn una my cryada
francysca de caceres en tanta manera quo ellos al fyn con su
fabor se ubyeron de casar contra toda my voluntad mas como
estoy de tal manera ubelo de dysymular por la onrra y one-

— e — — —— . ——h mE—— - . - —rr _—

’ (‘' RANSLATION.)
science that I cannot pay them, and send those away who
cause me great annoyance, especially Juan de Cuero, whose
Judaciousness it is very difficult for me to bear. He is the cause
thab others do not do what they ought %0 do, and I must be
silent, owing to my necessities, of which I have informed your
Highness. What afilicts me most is that I cannot 1n any
way remedy the hardships of my contessor, whom 1 con-
sider to be the best that ever womah of my position had, with
respect to his life, as well as to his holy doctrine and pro-
ficiency in letters, as 1 bave oftentimes written to your
Highness. It grieves me that I cannot maintain him in the
way his office and my rank demand, because of my poverty,
during which he has always served me with such labour
and fatigue as no one else would have undergone. He isvery
faithfal in his office as well asin giving cood advice and a
good example, and it seems to me it would be ingratitude if 1
neglected to inform your Highness how badly the ambassador
has behaved towards him. The service of your Highness
suffers thereby, and I have been much annoyed., The reason
of it is that the ambassador has strongly attached himself to
the merchant Francisco de Grimaldo, whom he has brought
over with him, and {o a servant of mine, Francisca de Caceres,
who, by his favour, were about to marry, contrary to my
wishes. . And situated as I am, I had -to conceal my feelings
ey the sake of the honour and honesty of my house. 1 {'nuELd

B 2
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stydad de my casa y vyme en tanto estrecho que dy una
cedula de suma de dyneros a mas a0 poder y vyen creo si Via
Alteza supyese lo que & ello me movyo sy toda my camara le
mandara no me culpara mas antes me lo ternya a echo de cuya.
fija soy y por el enojo que esta mujer me a echo yo la eche de
my casa y el enbajador de Via Alteza la a tomado en la suya
y @ su mesa que aun por lo que toca a su ofycio en representar
la persona de Via Alteza no me a parecydo vyen echo. ame
echo tantos synsabores con este mercader cada dya queryendo
darme a entender que se querya yry llevar el dynero del
dote syno le enpezaba a dar algo de lo que le promety de lo
qual no le devo nada sy byen se myra my letra y porque my
confesor desto todo me avyso el enbaxador tomo tema con el
y de que conoce quan sin ragon esto a echo por escusarse dyce
agora que el dycho my confesor se ponya a entender en su
enbaxada y esto por vyda de Viar Alteza que es el mayor
Juramento que yo puedo azer no es asy syno porque le enbye
a demandar la capytulacion para ver un punto de que tenya
necesydad porque el Rey no quyere que le vea fueme for¢ado
envyarsela a pedyr y el con este encjo ase dexado deeyr
tantas cosas que por no ser para escrebyr a Via Alteza no
dyre mas syno que no a myrado byen su servycyo ny la onrra
de my casa y no dizyendo verdad en ellas por lo qual yo
suplyco a Via Alteza le mande escrebyr dandole a entender

— am—rm

(TRANSLATION.)

myself in so great a difficulty, that I cowld not help giving a
bond for a certain sum of money, and I believe that if your
Highness knew the reason which moved me to do so, you
would not reproach me, but rather recognise me as your
daughter. On account of the annoyance this woman has
caused me 1 sent her away, but the ambassador of your
Highness received her into his house and at his table, which
did not seem well to me considering his official position as
representative of the person of your Highness. He has caused
me many annoyances every day with this merchant, giving
me {0 understand that he wanted to go away and to carry off
my marriage portion, unless I began to pay something of what
I had promised him. But if my bond is attentively con-
sidered, it appears that I owe him wothing. Because the
confessor gave me advice in all this, the ambassador has
quarrelled with him, and when he saw how little reason he had
to do so, he tried to excuse himself by saying that the con-
fessor meddled in the affairs of the embassy. - I swear by the
life of your Highness, which is the greatest oath I can make,
that that iy not the case. I sent lim to ask the [marriage]
treaty, of which I wanted to see one article. As the King
does not like that I should see it, I was forced to send and to
ask 1t from Lim. On account of this he grew angry, and
permitted himself to be led so far as to say things which are
not fit to be written to your Highness, and of which I shall
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como no es servydo ny consyento que asy se aya con my
confesor *a Ja qual por me azer Vra Alteza sefialada merced
leseryba otra tenyendole en servycyo de la mahera que me
servydo y mandandole que lo contyne syenpre y que no me

dexe por que el con estas cosas que el enbaxador con el

ha pasado cada dya me pyde lycencya y creo en nynguna
manera aquy ‘quedara si Via Alteza para ello no le fuerza y
porque me arya mucha falta tal persona yo suplyco a Via
Alteza se lo estorve y escriva al Rey como Via Alteza a
mandado a este padre que este comygo que el por amor de -
Via Alteza le quyera mandar muy byen tratar y saborear y a
sus perlados los tenga vuestra Alteza en servycyo su hestada
aquy por que la mayor ayuda gue para mys trabajos tengo es
la. buena consolacyon y esfuerco que el me da porque crea Vra
Alteza que ya me veo tal que casy como desesperada envyo este
¢ryadd myo a Via Alteza para suplycarle se le acuerde como
soy su fija y lo que por su servycyo e pasado y como contino
se me acrecyenta y no me dexe asy perder syno de lo que
fuere mas servydo luego con este me lo mande escrebyr porque
sygun me veo temo de my no aga alguna cosa gue ny el Rey

(TRANSLATION.)

only observe that he has had no regard for the service of your
Highness and the honour of my house, and said what 18 not
true. I therefore entreat your Highness to write to him, and

to give him to understand that you are hot well served, and I

do not consent that my confessor be treated in such a manner.

" _Your Highness would render me a signal service if you would

write to him(?) another letter, telling him that you are satisfied
with the manner in which he serves me, and commanding him
to continue and not to forsake me. TFor, in consequence of -

~ what the ambassador has said to him, he asks me leave every

day, and I think, on no condition will he remain here if
your Highness does not force him to do so. As I am in great
want of such a person as he is, 1 implore your Highness to
prevent him [from going away]; and to write also to the
King that your Highness has commanded this father to stay
with me, and to beg him that for the love of your Highness
he*should order that he be very well treated and humoured ;

~and o tell the prelates that your Higlness is pleased with his

staying here, For the greatest comfort in my troubles 18 the
consolation and the support he gives me. Your Highness
may believe that I feel myself reduced to such a state, that I
send almost in despair this my servant to your Highness to
implore you not to forget that I am your daughter, and how

"much I have suffered for your service and how much [my

sufferings] continually increase. Do not let me perish 1n this
way, but write directly by this messenger what you decide ;
otherwise, in the condition in which I am now, I am afraid 1

(1) 'The confessor.



22

1509,

QUEEN KATHARINE.

- de inglaterra ny Via Alteza que es mucho mas me lo puedan

estorbar syno que forcadaments por my aya de enbyar para
que aga el fyn destos pocos dyas que me quedan syrvyendo
a dyos que para my sera el mayor vyen que en el mundo me
podra venyr y en guardar a Via Alteza, cuya ¥yda y muy Real
estado Nuestro Sefior guarde y acrecyente como yo deseo.
De Rixamonte a ix de Marzo.

Suplyco a Via Alteza luego mande despachar a este
mensajero y le mande dar para la vuelta porque aunque Io
que fue menester para la.yda ube de mandar vender algo de
my camara y asy lo ago syenpre aun para comer quando no
me syento byen dyspuesta sy es tyenpo de pescado porque
carne aunque este para moryr en casa del Rey no la daran por
que tyenen por erejes a quyen la come. Humll servydora de
Via Alteza que sus manos besa.  La pryncesa de gales.
[Rubricado.]

[Sobre ;] Al muy alto y muy poderoso Sefior el Rey my

Senor.

(TRANSLATION.) -

‘might do something which neither the King of England nor

your Highness, who-has much more weight, would be able

to prevent, unless, and that is necessary, you send for me so

that I may conclude my few remaining days in serving God.
That would be the greatest good I copld have in this world.
God guard your Highness’ life and the royal estate, and
augment 1t as I desire, . S

From Richmond, 9th of March.

! beseech your Highness soon to send back this messenger,
and to give him money for his return. In order to Lpro-
vide him for what was necessary for his journey there, I was
obliged to sell from my wardrobe. T do the same always
when I am unwell during fasting time, for in the hougse of
the King they would not give meat to any one, even 1f he were
dying, and they look upon them who eat it as heretics,

Your Highness’ humble servant kisses your hands.

The Princess of Wales. [Sign manual]

[Addressed:] To the very high and mighty Juord the
King my Lord. | | | -
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90th March, 4, The KnioaT COMMANDER OF MEMBRILLA to King FER-
DINAND THE CATHOLIC.

[ Archivo General de Simancas. Patronato Real, Capitu?ﬂcinnﬂs con Ingla-
terra. Leyajo 5., Sin folio. Contemporary deciphering by Almazan,)

A su Alteza del Comendador de la Mem-
brilla. a xx de Margo de dviii). -

Despues que eserevi a V. Alteza por la via de Martin Sanchez
de Camudio son venidos aca_ embaxadores del Rey de los
Romanos y de madama margarita los wuales vinieron a sels
dias del mes de Margo y estuvieron och® dias sin ver al Rey
porque esta malo de la enfermedad de antafio y no se dexa
ver recibio el principe los embaxadores. he entendido de la
venida destos que han movido casamiento para el principe de
Gales con fija del duque Alberto de Baviera y fija de
hermina del Rey de los Romanos y segurandole que si faze
este casamiento que todavia casara con el madama margarita
y que le daran todas las seguridades que querra para el
casamiento fecho con el principe de Castilla y de su fija sera
firme. no lo he sabido esto de tal original que yo lo tenga por
cierto mas como las cosas desta corte todas incontinente que
se platican salgan afuera puede ser que el que me lo dixo lo
haya oido en buen lugar. assimismo soy avisado que dan
mucha, priessa los grandes del Reyno al Rey para que case su
fijo mayormente despues que le han visto enfermo y no le

(TRANSLATION. )

4, To his Highness from the Knight
- ’ Commander of Membrilla, the 20th
of March '509.

Since I wrote to your Highness by Martin Sanchez de
Zamudio, ambassadors from the King of the Romans and
Madame Margaret have come here. They arrived on the
sixth day of March, and were eight days without seeing the
King, because he was ill of the sickness of last year, and does
not allow himself to be seen. The Pringe reteived the am-

*bagsadors. Concerning this embassy, I have understood that
they have moved a marriage for the Prince of Wales with the
dhwughter of the Duke Albert of Bavaria, a daughter of the
sister of the King of the Romans, assuring him (the King)
that if he concludes this marriage he shall still wed with
Madame Margaret, and they will give all the securities that
he may desire that the match between the Prince of Castile
and Lis daughter shall be confirmed. I have not learned this
from such a source that I can hold it for certain, but as all
the affairs of this court directly that they are negotiated
become public, it may be that he who told it me may have
heard it in a good quarter. Also I am informed that the
nobles of the kingdom press the King much that he may
marry his son, above all since they have seen him 1ll, *and
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dizen mas con una que con otra salvo dezirle que se determine
en b que quiere o le estara mejor y que case al principe
porque ya el principe esta muy hombre y el Reyno esta a
peligro con un solo heredero., dizenme ha tomado termino de
dos meses para determinarsey estan todos muy maravillados
como tarda V. Alt. tanto en, responder y como tarda tanto el
que V. Al ha de ynbiar porque juan Astil ha escrito al Rey que
presto verna aqui un perlado y ahun certificadamente que
sera don pedro de Ayala obispo de Canaria y porque V. Al
searavisado de todas lus cosas acorde de embiar este mensagero
pofque me parece que para lo uno o para lo otro seria bien que
V. Alteza determinasse lo que quiere en este negocio porque
esbos no dexan de pedricar al pueblo y por todas las partes
que pueden que por no complir V. A. con el Rey de Ynglaterrsa,
se dexa de concluir este casamiento y ahunque de nuestra
parte hoviesse mejores predicadores no les farian creer otra
vosa 81no lo que ya tienen concebido.

yo no he visto al Rey de Ynglaterra desde que se desposo
si fija porque muestra tener gran encjo de mi y no dize que
¢s la causa porque yo no quise estar presente al desposorio

L

(TRANSLATION.)

they do not speak for ene more than for the other, but
tell him that he should decide on that which he wishes, or
is more profitable for him, and that he should marry the
Prinee, because he is already very manly, and the kingdom
i i danger with only one heir. They. tell me he has taken
a period of two months to decide, and they are all much
astonished at your Highness’s great delay in answering, and
at the slowness of him whom your Highness is to send.(1) For
John Stile has written to the King that a prelate would come
quickly here, and even certified that it would be Don Pedro
de Ayala, Bishop of Canaria. In order that your Highness
may be informed of everything, I decided to send this mes-
senger. Ior it appears to me that one way or the other it
would be well that your Highness should determine that
which you wish in this affair. They do not cease to preach
to the people, wherever they can, that because your Highness
does not fulfil your obligations towards the King of England
this marriage is not concluded ; and although on our side we
might have better preachers, they would not make them
believe anything except that which they. have already
Imagined. g

I have not seen the King of England since he betrothed
hiy daughter, hecause he appears to be very angry with me,
and he does not say that the cause is because I did not choose
to be present at the espousals of his daughter, but hecause I

(1) The new ambassador who was to take the place of the Knight Commander
of Membrilla. ‘
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de su fija sino que he fecho relaciones siniestras a V. Alt.
porque dande V. Alt. no ha concedidg lo que el pide segun
lo escrevi a V. Md. que el privasello me lo havia embiado a
dezir y que por aquello no queria verme sino teuia negoclos
sobre que fablar. y tampoco he visto desde entonces a la
princesa porque a los que consejan a Su Alt. Jes parece que
no es bien que Su Alt me vea pues el Rey de Ynglaterra
no esta bien comigo y Su Alteza les da tanto credito que
cree que es bien lo que ellos le dizen y no solamente se
finge estar Su Alteza mal comigo mas muestra estarlo de
verdad. v esto le han aconseiado porque temen que yendo yo
a ver a la princesa no podre estar sin dezirle alge de lo que
no me parece bien de aquellos que esto le consejan y con
este temor no solamente con la princessa han acabado que este
mal comigo v que lo muestre mas han grangeado por todas
las Partes que han podido para quitarme que 1o pueda

comunicar a Su Alteza y passan en su casa muchas cossas

que tienen necessidad de enmienda mas Su Alteza esta tan
obediente a un frayle que tiene por confessor que le faze
fazer hartas cosas que si no se fiziessen no se perderia nada
y ultimamente le fizo fazer una cosa que la sintio el Rey
mucho y fue que estando en una casa sola que esta en un

e - (TRANSLATION.)
had made sinister reports to your Highness, in consequence

* of which your Highness has not conceded that which he asks,

aceording as I wrote to your Majesty, and the Lord Privy
Seal had sent to tell me; and on that account he did not
wish to see me unless T had business on which to talk. And
neither have I seen the Princess from that time, for to those
who advise her Highness it does not appear good that her
Highness should see me, as the King of England is not very
friendly to me, and her Highness has such faith in them, that
she believes what they tell her is good. And not only does her
Highness feign &0 be angry with me, but shows herself to be
s0 in reality. And this they have advised because they fear

* thet, if T oo to see the Princess, I shall not be able to refrain

from telling her something which does not appear to me good
in those who advise her this, and with this fear not only have
they prevailed with the Princess that she is angry with me,
and that she shows it, but they have managed on all sides,
where they have been able to do so, in such & manner as to
remove me so that I may not communicate with her Highness,
Many things happen in her house which have need of amend-
ment, but her Highness is so submissive to a friar wlhom she
has as confessor, that he makes her do a great many things
which im would be better not to do. Lately he made her
do a thing which much grieved the King. It was this,
that whilst staying in a lonely house which is in a park,

-
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parque y de alli quisose venir el Rey de Ynglaterra a
Richamonte y mandole dezir a Za’princesa que otro dia Su
Alteza y madama maria su fija se fuessen a Richamonte por-
que el se yria delante dellas o despues. la princesa obedecio
cl mandamiento y estando otro dia para partiry que madama
maria la esperava eon la compafiia que estava diputada
para venlr con ellas vino el frayle y dixo a la princesa no vays
Oy en nunguna manera. es verdad que la princessa aquella
noche havia tenido un gomito. dixo la princesa buena estoy
no me quiero quedar sola.  dixole yo os digo so pena de pecado
mortal gue no vays oy. la princesa porfiava que estava buena
y que no queria quedarse alli sola. el frayle porfio tanto
que la princesa por no descontentarle determino de se quedar
y pasaron mas de dos oras que madama maria la estava
esperando. embio a dezir a madama maria que se fuesse que
no se sintia buena. de los ingleses vieron esto y habian
visto a la princesa en la missa y en la mesa cavalgaron con
madama maria y faeronse y quedosse la princesa sola con
sus mugeres y con solo su maestresala y su camarero que
vino acaso que no estava alli y de alli anchamente no havia
sino una legua. el recaudo que quedo a la princesa essa
noche no es menester dezirlo porque como cosa nacida sin
pensallo no se proveyo ni ellos se dieron mucho para pro-

. —— - —_— —_ -
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{ TRANSLATION,)

the King of England wished to go to Richmond, and sent 4o
say to the Princess that next day her Hiolness and Madame
Mary his daughter should be at Richmond, where he would
go before or after them. The Princess obeyed the order, but
next day when she was about to start, and Madame Mary
was waiting for her with the company deputed to go with
them, the friar came and said to the Princess, “ You shall not go
to-day.” It is true that the princess had vomited that night,
The princess said, “T am well: T do not wish o stay here
alone.”  He said, “I tell "you that upon pain of mortal sin
you do not go to-day.” The Princess contended that she
was well, and that she did not wish o stay there alone.
The friar, however, persevered so mueh that the Prin-
cess, not to displease him, determined to remain. When
Madame Mary had been waiting for more than two Eours she
sent to tell Madame Mary to go, but that she did not feel wel].
The English who witnessed this, and had seea the Prinecss
at mass and at table, rode off with Madame M ary and went
away, whilst the Princess remained alone with her women
and only the Maestre Sile and her chamberlain, who had
been absent and came by chance. The distance was at the
utmost less than onc league, There is no need to® speak of
the provisions the Princess had that night, for as the contin-
gency wes not expected it was not provided for, nor did they
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veello, finalmente que otro dia el Rey de Ynglaterra no fizo
mas pfomeymiento para embiar por*la princesa que si ella
tuviera compafiia la que le convenia y dizenme que el Rey
se enojo mucho de su quedada y otro dia la princessa con
tres mugeres cavalgando y el maestresala y el camarero y
el frayle sin otra viva ecriatura se vinieron anchamente y
destas cosas le faze fazer este frayle y otras de peor qualidad
mil. ¢l Rey ha mas de xx. dias que no ha visto a la prin-
cesa ni nunca ha embiado desde aquella quedada a saber
como esta ahunque ha estado mala, y assi dios me ayude que
acora, que he conocido bien las cosas de casa de la princesa

quito mucha y mucha parte de la culpa que fasta qui dava

al Rey de Ynglaterra y no me maravillo de lo que ha fecho
sino de 1o que no faze mayormente siendo de condicion que
quigre que en su casa y en su Reyno sin contradicion se
faga lo que el quiere y ordena y sufrir el Rey las cosas
deste frayle que tan mal le parecen y que tanto le tienen
sobre los ojos los que lo conocen no lo tienen por buena
sefial y porque he escrito con un criado de la princesa que
se llama juan de Azcotia el qual fue despachado a escuso
de mi no ‘quiero estenderme mas en esta materia porque
V. Alteza sabra de aquel la verdad de todas las cosas si

—————— . o m e ——— —_— - m—— — —

(TRANSLATION.)
sive themselves much trouble to provide forit. Next day

. the King of England did not again give an order to send

for the Princess, as though she had been staying in such
c8mpany as suited her, and they tell me that the King was
very much vexed at her remaining there. The following day
the Princess went [to Richmond] aceompanied by no other
living creature than threc women on horseback, the Maestre
Sale, the chamberlain, and the friar, a numerous [company ]!
These and other things of a thousand times worse kind the
friar makes her do. It is more than 20 days since the
King last saw the Princess, nor has he, since her staying
away, sent to know how she is, althougMwshe had been

« ill. ~May God forgive me, but now that I kndwr so well the

affairs of the Prineess’s household, I acquit the King of Eng-
tand of a great and very great portion of the blame which
I hitherto gave to him, and I do not wonder at what he has
done, but at that which he does not do, especially as he is of
such a temperament as to wish that in house and kingdom
tlint be done without contradiction which he desires and.
orders, That the King allows these things of the friar,
which appear so bad to him and which are so much brought
before his eyes, to go on is not considered as a good sign by
those who know him. As I have written by a servant of
the Princess, whose name is Juan Azcotia, and who was
despatched behind my back, I shall not dilate here on this
subject, because your Highness can hear from him the. fruth
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saberlas quisiere porque el es leal servidor de V. Alteza
y como hombre que le parecian mgl muchas cosas no pudiendo
sufrirlas ha dicho algo deste frayle por donde no le ha
vendo ningun bien mas V. Alteza sepa que es tanto menester
remediar esto deste frayle y quitalle de aqui como a persona
pestifera que assi lo es cierto.

El camarero Juan de Cuero como buen servidor no puede
estar que no diga la verdad laqual no se quiere oyr. esta la
princessa con el como si le hoviesse fecho la mayor traycion
del mundo y todo por que va a la mano que no vendan
cada dia una piega de plata para compliv las locuras del
frayle.  suplico n V. Alteza le faga merced de una cedula
para quien V., Alteza mandare que le tome la cuenta del
cargo que ha tenido porque es muy viejo y no querria que
le tomasse la muerte sin haberse quitado del cargo que esta
sobre el. V. Alteza lo deve fazer y ponerse ha freno al
vender que en xv. dias han vendido oro en dozientos
ducados y dellos no ha fecho la princesa cosa que Inza ni
se sabe en que lo gasta sino en libros y gastos del frayle.

Temiendo que si este Rey sintiesse que V. Alteza mandava,
que se demandasse la princessa sino quisiesse facer el casa-

(TrRANSLATION.)

of all these things if yow desire to know them. He is a loyal
servant of your Highness, and, as a man, being unable to
endure many things which appeared bad to him, he has said
something of this to the friar, for which o good has come to
him, Your Highness must know that there is very greab
need to remnedy these things of this friar, and to remove him
from here as a pestiferous person, for that he certainly is.

The Chamberlain, Juan de Cuero, being a good servant,
cannot do otherwise than speak the truth, which they do not
desire to hear. The Princess behaves towards him as though
he had committed the greatest treason in the world, and all
because he hinders them from selling every day a piece of

s plate to satisfy the follies of the friar. I entreat your High-

ness to grant him the favour of an order that' he whom your
Highness should send may settle with him the accounts of the
oftice which he has held, because he is very old and would uot,
wish that death should overtake him before having accounted
for all that for which he is responsible. Your Highness
ought to do it, and to place a restraint on the selling, for in
fifteen days they have sold gold for two hundred ducats, with
which the Princess has done nothing that can be s€en, nor is
1t known in what she spends it, except 1n books and the
expenses of the friar. Fearing that this King should resent
that your Highness commanded that the Princess should be
claimed, unless he should consent to hLer marriage, as he has
resented and known it in consequence of the little secrecy
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miento como lo ha sentido y sabido por el poco secreto que
ay en k camara de la princessa yg dixe a francisco de
grimaldo que poco a poco sacasse €l mas dinexo que pudiesse
v assy lo ha fecho que bien ay fuera de Ynglaterra mas de
xxxm. coronas y todo estotro se sacara poco a poco y se
pondra en lugar que si menester fuere para fazer el pago
al Rey de Ynglaterra pueda bolver aqui sin inconviniente
ninguno. esto he fecho por assegurar mi coragon que segumn
lo que aqua sentia y sientc me parecia que se devia ASSL
fazer. siotra cosa V. Alteza mandare mandeme avisar con
correo bolante porque yo no yerre. wi desseo no errara desto

estoy cierto. fecha a xx de Margo de dviiiy. Comendador
.de 1a Menbrilla,

20th Mareh. 5. The Knight CoMMANDER of MEMBRILLA to MIGUEL PEREZ

* vE ATMAZAN, First Secretary of State to King Ferdinand
the Catholic.

[ Archivo General de Simancas. Patronato Real. Capitulaciones y Tratados con
Inglaterra. Legajo 5 (sin folio). Holograph.]
A mi del Comendador de la Membrilla,
xx de Marzo de Diiij.

Manyfyco sehor.
De muchas maneras tengo congoxa por la dilacion que en
este megocio se da porque cada dia perdemos tierra y como

L]

(TRANSLATION.)

that there is in the chamber of the Princess, I told Francisco
de Grimaldo that by degrees he should send out of the
country as much money as he could ; and so he has done, for
happily there are out of England more than thirty thou-
sand crowns. The remainder shall be sent away by degrees,
and preserved at a place whence, if it should be necessary to
make the payment to the King of FKngland, it could be re-
mitted without any inconvenience. This I have done to
satisfy my consgience, for, according to what I have perceived
and do perceive, it seems to me that thus 1t ought to be done.
If your Highness should command anything else, inform me
by the flying courier that I may not be in error. I desire
hot to err in this T am sure. Dated the 20th of March °509.
’ Comendador de la Membrilla,

5. [ Written on the cover by Miguel Perez de
| Almazan, First Secretary of State of
King Ferdinand the Catholic :] To me,
from the Comendador de la Membrilla,
20th of March 1509,
Magnificent Lord, | :
| In many ways I am afflicted at the delay which there
has been in this affair, for every day we lose ground, and as
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eeerivo a Su Alteza de cada mata sale una liebre y visto el
tyenpo que ha pasado despues que de Alcala del Reyno me
escrevistes no se que piense de tanta tardanca mayormente
quel rrey dinglaterra tenya ya nueva de la venida del que
ha de venyr antes que yo recibiese las cartas de Su Alteza v
como ven su tardada hazen muchos juyzyos y proviense para
qualquier cosa que verna y no podran errar en las respuestas
pucs quo saben lo que queremos que como en dias pasados
escrevi a Su Alteza el poco secreto que ay en la camara de
la princesa nos a echo dafio por que no ay cosa que aya, vO
escrito encomendada a secreto que no la sepa el Rey dingla-
terra como yo lo se y aun con algunas adiciones de los repor-
tadores y por esta congoxa quetengo y por avisar a Su Alteza
de lo que lescrivo acorde de enbiar este mensajero y suplico
a V¥ra merced que sy este negocio se ha de dilatar que Su
Alteza me saque de aqui porque ni a dios ni a Su Alteza no
podre servir segun yo estoy rebuelto con todos.

a vramerced escrevi de un frayle que aqui esta por confesor
de la princesa que pluguiera a dios quel se estuviera en su
monasterio y 10 aqui por que no trae ny a traydo ningun pro-
vecho y si mucho esta trayra mayor dafio a Su Alteza escrivo
algo y no tan abierto como querrya porque va a Su Alteza un

(TRANSLATION,)

L write to his Highness, out of every bush springs a hare, and
considering, the time that has passed since you wrote to me
from Alecala del Reyno, I know not what “to think of such
delay, above all as the King of England had already news of
the coming of him, who has to come, before I received the
letters of his Highness. As they see that he delays [his
coming| they make many conjectures, and prepare themselves
for whatever may happen. They will not err in the
answers, as they know that which we desire. For, as some
days ago I wrote to his Highness, the little secresy which
there is in the chamber of the Princess has done us injury,
because there is nothing which I have written recommended
to secresy which the King of England does not know as ]
know it, and even with some additions of the reporters.
For this anxiety which I Lave, and in order to inform his
Highness of that about which I am writing, I determine to
send this messenger, and I entreat of your Honour that, if this
business is to be prolonged, his Highness will withdraw me
hence, because I shall not be able to serve either God or his

Highness, as I am at variance with every one. -

I wrote to your Lordship about a friar who is here as
confessor to the Princess, who would to God he were in his
monastery, and not here, hecause he neither brings nor has
brought any good, and if he is here much longer he will bring
greater injury on her Highness. I write something, and not
so openly as I should desire, because there goes to his Highness
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criado de la princesa que se llama juane de ascuetia el qual
fue despachado a escuso de mi y porque de aquel puede Bu
Alteza 3e» ynformado de lo que yo #e dygo deste frayle en
parabolas por eso no escrivo su proceso muy a la larga pues
aquel como onbre que lo a viste y lo sabe todo y como cryado
de la casa lo podra bien dezir y es el muy leal servidor del
rrey nuestro Seilor y de la princesa aunque log tales no son
tenidos aqui en tal precio como valen los buenos servidores
solamente aqui quiero dezir gque cunple que esto se remedie
quitando cste frayle a la princesa por quel esta contra vo-
luntad de todos los yngleses con Su Alteza y mas contra
la voluntad del Rey y Su Alteza, ¥y quiere myrar lo que se
devria myrar en el caso y dyos me destruya sy yo veo en
el frayle cosa porque tanta afection se le tenga que ni
ciencya ni parecer ny eryanc¢a ni suficyencya ny autorydad
no fyene y sy quyere pedricar nueva ley creersela an.

una cedula de quinientos ducados que e tomado a canbio
enbie alla a vuestra merced los quales tome de un pedro
centurion ginoves suplico a ¥ra merced que syno es pagada
que la mande pagar porque en la ora que se suplere que no
es aceptada recanbiaran sobre my y ya Yra merced ve que se
podra segulr de alli y tanbien os suplico que me mandes

(TRANSLATION, )

a servant of the Princess who is called Juan de Ascuetia, who
wag despatched behind my back; and because his Highness

*may be informed by him of what I say to him, concerning

this friar, in parables. For this reason I do not write more at
lehgth on the affair since he, as & man who has seen and knows
it all, and as servant of the house, will be able well to tell, and
he is a very loyal servant of the King and of the Prihcess,
although such are not here held in so much esteem as good
gervants are worth. -

I wish only to say here that this ought to be remedied by
withdrawing this friar from the Princess, for he 1s with her
Highness againgt the will of all the English, and especially
against the will of the King and his Highness.(*) You ought to

* congider that which ought to be considered in this case, and may

God destroy me if I see in the friar anything for which she
should have so much affection, for he has neither learning, nor
appearance, Nor manners, nor competency, nor credit, and yet
if he wishes to preach a new law they have to believe 1t.

A bill for five hundred ducats, wiiach I have taken in
exchange, I sent to your Lordship, the which I took from
one Pedro Centurion, a Genoese. 1 supplicate your lordship
that if it is not paid you will give orders to pay 1f, because
directly it is known that it is mnot. accepted they will
draw upon me, and your Lordship knows what might follow

(1} Henry, then Prince of Wales.
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proveer que juro por mi fe que esta tierra es tan costosa que
no basta lo de alla y lo de aca y a nuestro Sefior juro que
trezientos y mnoventa ducados Ylne menbiaron de Napoles
con todo lo recebido de alla y de aca es gastado y sino me
proveyedes y no pagades esto que he tomado no hallare quien
me de un ducado ni quien salga my fiador por el ni yo
podre salir_de aqui ni estar sino vendo lo que no es razon de
vender. -

Hste gallego a de aver por el viaje para yr v venir veinte
y cinco ducados yo le e dado aca dies ducados ansele de dar
alla quince dncados. Nuestro Sefior la vida y estado de
vuaestra mid acreciente como dessea. de londres xx. de
Margo de dix. Es muy cierto servydor de V. Md. gutierre
gomez de fuensalida. [Rubrica.]

Seiior este gallego tyene no se qug-pendencia y temese
de la justicia suplico a ¥ra merced sele gane una cedula para
mientra fuere y viniere a Su Alteza con cartas que no sea
detenido pues que no es el negocio crimen de muerte ni de
hurto.

[Sobre ;] Al manyfico Sefior el Seiior miguel perez de
Almagan secretario del Rey Nuestro Sefior ete.

(TRANSLATION.)

from that. I also entreat you to send orders to provide for
me ; for I swear by my faith that 1his country is 80 expensive
that what I possess there and here does not suffice, and I
swear by our Lord that three hundred and ninety duecats,
which they sent me from Naples, with all that I received
from there and here, is spent, and if you do not supply me,
and do not pay that which 1 haye taken, 1 shall not find any

one who will give me a dueal, or who will stand security for
‘me, nor shall I be able to go from here nor to remain, unless

I sell that which it is not reasonable to-sell.
- This Gallician is to have for the journey, going and coming,
twenty-five ducats; I have given him here ten, thus you
ought to give him there fifteen ducats, May our Lord add
to the Irfe and estate of your Lordship as yen desire.

From London, 20th of March, 1509. The Very sincere
servant of your Lordship. -

Gutierre Gomez de Fuensalida, [His 81gn manual.]

Sir, this Gallician has I know not what quarrel, and fears
the law. I entreat your Lordship that you will obtain for
him a warrant of protection for the time that he goes and
comes to his Highness with letters, that he may not be
detained, his affair not being a erime of murder or of theft,

[Addressed -] To the magnificent lord the Lord Miguel Perez
de Almazan, secretary of the King our Lord.
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20th March. 6. KATHARINE, PRINCESS OF WALES, to King FERDINAND THE
- CarHoLIC,

[ Archivo General de Simancas. Patronato Real. Tratados con Inglatersa.
Legajo No. 5. fo. 60, Original deciphering made by Almazan, First
hecremry of Stafe.]

El embaxador me embio a decir como tenia mucha neces-
sidad de embiar a VTia Alteza muy de priessa este mensajero
porque ge le havian revelado muchas cosas y porque he miedo
que algunas dellas no sean verdaderas no quise que fuesse sin
carta mia para suplicar a Via Alteza si de mi casa algo
escribiere en especial de mi confesor Via Alteza no le de
credito que assi dios me salve y por vida de Via Alteza quc
no dira verdad sino dice quan bien y lealmente me sirve y
por-que ha pocos dias escribi a V¥a Alteza con un eriado mio
aunque no tan largo como quisiera por que las cosas que este
embaxador contra mi estado y honrra de mi casa con su
lenguna desconcertadamente ha cometido por afficion de una
que fue mia  francisca de caceres no se sufee fiallas de papel
sino que querria mas morir que no ver lo que he pasgado y passo
cada dia deste embaxador y de todos los mios y no creere Via
Alteza me tiene por fija sino lo castiga y al embaxador le
manhde que no entienda en mas de 1o que toca a su
embaxuda v dexe las cosas de mi casa, y a mil me quiera Via
Alteza remediar antes que aqua se acabe mi1 vida por que temo

- (TRANSLATION.) -

6. The ambassador sends to tell me thet it is very necessary
for him to despatch this messenger in all haste to your High-
ness, because many things have been discovered to him,
and as I fear that some of them may not be true, 1 do not
like to let him go without a letter from e, beseeching your
Highness that if he writes anything about my household and
eﬂpec,mlly about my confessor, your Highness will not credit
it. For, by my sglvation, and by the life of your Highness,
he does not tell the truth if he states anything except that
[the confessor] serves me well and. loyally. A few days ago
I wrote to your Highness, by a servant of mine, although
not g0 much in detail as I could wish; for all that the
ambassador, with his disorderly tongue, has said against my
person and the honour of my house, from affection for a
certain Francisca de Céceres, a former servant of mine, can
not be put upon paper, and I would rather die than see
what I have suffered and suffer every day from this ambas-
sador and all my servants. 1 shall not believe that younr
Highness looks upon me as your daughter if you do mot
punish it, and order the ambassador to confine himself to the
affairs of his embassy, and to abstain from meddling in the
C



34

1509,

1510
25th May.

QUEEN KATHARINE.

sera corta segun los desecansos tengo. NTo Seiffor la vida y

muy Real estado de V¥a Alteza gyarde y acreciente como desseo.

De rixamonte a xx de Marco de dviiij.
la, princesa de gales.

7. Dieco FERNANDEZ, Confessor and Chancellor to Queen
Katharine, to KiNG FERDINAND THE CATHOLIC.

[ Archivo General de Simancas. Patronato Real. Capitulaciones con Inglaterra.
Legajo 5 (sin folio).]
A su Alteza de Diego Fernandez chanciller,
xxv, de Mayo de dx.

Muy alto y muy poderoso Sefior,
todo el tienpo pasado no ose escrevir a Via Alteza la dis-
posicion de la Reyna mi Sefiora por no la"encjar y por que
todos los medicos se engafiaban fasta yue el tienpo fue pues
de la verdad el postrero dia de Enero a la mabana Su Alteza
movio una fija sin dolor ninguno no mas de quanto la noche
antes le dohia una rodilla fue tan secreto este caso que no lo
supo fasta agora sinc el Rey mi Sefior y dos mugeres espaiio
las y un medico y yo. el medico dixo que Su Alteza quedava
refiade de otro fijo ¥ a8l fue creydo y guardose en secreto.
u Altess por dissimular no se curo de se guardar del frio
cresciole el vientre tanto quanto nunca a muger prefiada se

(TRANSLATION.)

affairs of my household. May your Highness give me satis-
faction before I die, for I fear my life will be short, owing to

my troubles.

From Richmond, 20th of March *509.
| The Princess of Wales,

9, " To his Hiphhess. Fiéhi Diego Fernandez,
Chanéellor, 26th of May 1510.
Most high and most powerful Lord,

All the past time I did not dare to write to your
Highness of the condition of the Queen my Lady, in order not
to annoy ler, and because all the physicians deceived them-
selves until time was the judge of the truth. The last day
of Janwary in the morning her Highness brought forth
prematurely a daughter, without any other pain escept that
one¢ knee pained her the mnight before, This affair was so
secret that no one knew it until now, except the King my
Lord, two Spanish women, a physician and I. The physician
sald that her Highness remained pregunant of another child,
and 1t was believed and kept secret.,

Her Highness, in order to conceal if, did not guard herself
againgt the cold, and her wierus infumait so much as never
was seen in gravidae wmaudiere. Her Highness believed her-
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vio Su Alteza teniase por prefiada aungue alguna duda
tenia a~wlazido a Nuestro Sefior de ger su medico en tal
manera que el vientre se le abaxo y por su infinita piedad la
torno a enprefiar. esto a de creer V. Alt. que es verdad asi
como vo soy hombre Su Alteza niegalo a todo el mundo y al
Rey mas a mi me lo ba dicho y que esta de tres meses y su
Alteza me dixo como ya le crescia mucho el vientre lo qual
su Alteza no puede negar porque le tiene ya gracias a Nuestro.
Sefior muy grande que todos lo conoscen los medicos assi lo
afirman y una muger espafiola que tiene en su camara secreta
me dixo lo mismo por sus causas que ellas saben secretas
Doy mi fee a Via Alteza que lo esta y que espero en Dios a
sido principio para dar a V. M. cien nietos fijos de los Reyes
mnis Sefiores por uno Su Alteza esta muy sana y la mas linda
criatura del mundo con la mayor alegria y contentamiento
que *nunca estuvo el Rey mi Sefior la adora y Su Alteza
a el Vuestra Alteza es obligado dar muchas gracias a
Nuestro Sefior porque le dio dos fijos tan christia-
nissimos en los Reyes mis Sefiores y tan sapientissimos
doctados todas las perfectiones naturales mas que otro nin-
guno. los Reales pies y manos de V. Md. beso por la crencia.
en todo lo que don luis Carroz embaxador de V. Alt. me
mandare me hallara muy verdadero servidor de Via Alteza

—_—

*

* (TRANSLATION.)

gelf to be with child, although she had some doubts. It
has pleased our Lord to be her physician in such a way
that uterus decrevit, and by hia infinite mercy he has again
permitted her to be with child. This your Highness is
to believe, for it is as true as I am a man. Her Highness
denies it to all the world and to the King, but to me she has
told it that she is since three months [pregnant], and her
Highness told me that wierus suus iam intumescit multum ;
her Highness cannot deny it, because she is already, by the
grace of our Lord, very large, so much so that all the physi-
cians know and-affirm it, and a Spanish woman who is in
her private chamber told me the same thing from secret signs
which they have. I pledge my word to your Highness that
ity is so, and I hope in God that it has been a beginning to
give to your Majesty a hundred grandsons of their Graces my
Sovereigns instead of one. Her Highness is very healthy, and
the most beautiful creature in the world, with the greatest
gaiety and contentment that ever was. The King my Lord
adores her, and her Highness him. Your Highness is bound
to give many thanks to our Lord that he gave you two such
Christian children in their Graces my Sovereigns, so very
wise, learned, and with all the natural perfections above all
others. I kiss the royal feet and hands of your Majesty for
your confidence. In all that Don Luis Caroz, ambassador of

your Highness, shall command me, you will find me a very
c 2
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como soy el ynteresse de mi estada en esta tierra despues de
serviradios (1) . . . . . . 7V, Alteza y a la Reyna mi
Sefiora. con muy firme y entera fee el dia que mandaren
vuestras Altezas (*) me torne a nuestro convento estoy muy
aparejado para yr a rogar a dios por sus personas y estados
Reales el qual nro Sefior a ¥ra Alteza conserve con muchos
mas ajuntamientos de Reynos y Seforios. de granuch los 25
de Mayo. D. V. A. perpetuo y humil siervo y capellan.
v. didac. ffs. [Rubrica.] |
Sobre:] Al muy alto y mny poderoso Setior el Rey.

8 Don Luis Csrroz, Spanish Ambassador in London, to

MIGUEL PEREZ DE ALMAZAN, First Secretary of State of
King Ferdinand the Catholic.

[ Archivo General de Simancas, Patronato Regl  Capitulaciones y Tratados
con Inglaterra. Legajo 5, folio (no le tiene). Autograph tn cipher.
Deciphered by Almazan.]

A mi de Don Luys Carroz, xxix (*) de
Mayo de dx,

La manera de como nos tratamos el frayle y yo es esta el me
da las meiores palabras que se pueden dar. fallo le en las obras

" muy frio y tanto que del ni dé su favor no me he podido

aprovechar para la mas minima cosa que se ha fecho, se cierto
(") Roto en el original. &) Sic.

Lk THLE L e

(TRANSLATION.)

true servant of your Highness as I am. The interest of my
stay in this land after serving Ged () . . . . . . . .
. « « « « « . your Highness and the Queen my Lady
with very firm and entire faith. The day that your High-
nesses shall command that I return to my convent I am quite
prepared to go, to pray to God for your persons and royal
states, which may our Lord preserve with many more
additions of kingdoms agd lordships.

From Greenwich, the 25th of May.

The perpetual and humble servant and chaplain of your

Highness. V. Didacus Fernandez. [Sign manual.]

[ Addressed ;] To the very high and very powerful Lord the
King. | ) -

8. [ Written by Almazan ;] To me from Don
.. Luys Carroz, 29th of May, 1510.

The way in which we, the friar and I, treat one another is
this: he gives me the best words that it is possible to give,
but I find him wvery cold in deeds, and so much so, that I
have not been able to make use of his help in the least little
thing which has been done. T know it for certain, and he is-

(1) Paper gone,
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y el no es tan discreto que lo sepa encobrir que es receloso y
temerodor de mi tanto que piensa y @ree que & ninguna otra
cosa yo soy venido agua sino a echar a el desta casa. lo que yo
he fecho y fugo con el es esto honoralle quanto es menester y
no demasiado porque no sospeche que en aquello ay engaiio
refirmarle a cada correo que viene quan servido es del Su
Alteza en los negocios que aqua se tratan por Su Alteza y se
que el los sabe se los fablo para que me ayude en ellos, y esto
digole que por mandamiento de su Alteza lo fago porque sabe
bien Su Alteza que en lo de su servicio mirara con la misma
diligencia que yo y en fin que ninguna cosa con el me puede
aprovechar que quanto mas adelante ymos peor lefallo. sin
duda su entendimiento no esta bien assentado y bien se
parece en sus obras. dafia mucho al servicio de Su Alteza en
esto que tiene ocupada la Reyna que no me puedo aprovechar
delld en ninguna cosa y es desta manera que si quiero embiar
a suplicar algo a la Reyna no fallo con quien que los de casa
por miedo del no lo osan fazer ni han ossado essos pocos que
hay venir a verme ni en la corte topandome fablarme. si lo
digo a el que lo diga a la Reyna de mi parte o lo faze en
manera que 110 me aprovecha o me faze razones por donde no
es hien fazer lo que yo quiero. en fin que concluyo con esto

-

( TRANSLATION. )

not so discreet ‘that he knows how to conceal it, that he 1s
very suspicious and fearful of me ; indeed, so much so, that he

~thinks and believes that 1 am come here for no other purpose

but to turn him out of this house. That which 1 have done
antl do with him is this :—to praise him as much as is neces-
sary, but not overmuch, that he may not suspect that there
is any deceit in it; to tell him, after the arrival of every
courier, how pleased his Highness is with him, how much I
am aware that he knows the affairs which are negotiated here,
and that I speak to him about them in order that he may
assist me. I tell him that I do this by order of his Highness,
because his Highness knows well that in all that councerns his
service he will act with the same diligence as I. Nevertheless

*1 cannot make use of him in anything, and-the more we

advance the worse I find him. There is no doubt his mind 1s
ot quite right, and it is clear that he greatly injures the
service of his Highness, inasmuch as he keeps the Queen
engaged, so that I cannot make use of her in anything ; so
much go, that if T wish to send to ask a favour of the
Queen, I find no one to send. For those of the household,
from fear of him, do not dare to do it, nor have the few
[Spaniards 7] who are there dared to come and see me, or
to speak to me when they meet me at court. If I beg him to
tell something to the Queen, either he does it in a way that
does me no good, or he gives me reasons why it 13 not well
to do what I wish, In fine, I may conclude by stating that 1
have never seen a more wicked person in my life. Accorfling
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que diria quelno he visto masmala persona en mi vida. y de lo
que %asta aqui he alcangado nos es Torgado dissimular con el y
sufrille honorandole y faziendole las meiores muestras que se ie
pudieren fazer. quando la Reyna salga yo la tratare y vere como
me governare en lo que me sera forcado negociar porque (*)
tercera persona con la Reyna mirare con quien y como en
maltera que todo este conservado. aqui esta aquella criada de la
Reyna que se dize francisca de Caceres y caso con francisco
Grimaldoe. esla mas aficionada persona al servicio de Su Alteza,
del mundo y la mas abil para lo que conviene assi a la Reyna
como al Rey nuestro Sefior. teme la el frayle cosa que no se
puede dezir y este nos defiende que esta ni entra en palacio ni
para estar en servicio de la Reyna ni para verla. ternia yo
por bien dos cartas de su Al la una para el Rey la otra para
la Reyna de ruego y en fin con crehencia para mi y lo que yo
entiendo de fazer es probar si se podra acabar que la Reyna
la cobre en su serviclo y donde no fazer que el Rey la tome
para madama maria su hermana y pues este dentro en
palacio ella misma se cobrara el lugar y sin cobrarle alla
aprovechara muy mucho que agora no teniendo alla madie
no alcango lo de alla como seriarmeneater. y offrecensse infinitas
cosas de cada dia ques bien ser sabidor dellas que como son

(') por que (P)

’ (TRAHEL&TIDE,)

to what hitherto I am able to understand; we are forced to
dissimulate with him, to endure him, honouring him and
making him the best demonstrations that can be made., When
the Queen goes out I shall speak with her, and see how to
guide myself, and by whom and in what manner those nego-
tiafdons with the Queen are to be carried on, which T am
forced to carry on through a third person. There is here a
servant of the Queen, whose name is Francisca de Céceres.
She iz married to Frgneisco Grimalde, and is the most
attached person in the world to the service of her High-
ness, and the most skilful for whatever suits the (Jueen
or the King our Lord. (") The friar fears her more than
can be said, and forbids tLis woman entering the palace, or re-
maining in the service of the Queen, or seeing her. 1 should
think that two letters of recommendation and with a power
for me from his Highness would be good, the onec for the
King and the other for the Queen. What I intend to do with
them is to try whether I can persuade the Quebn to take her
back into her service, and if not, to obtain from the King
that he takes her for Madame Mary, his sister. As soon as she
is 1n the palace, she herself will recover her place, and, even if
she does not recover it, she will render the greatest services
for now, having nobody there, I do not know, as I ought to
know, what passes there. Every day occur numberless things

('} The King our Lord is King Ferdinand.
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mogos los principes no pueden estar sin novedades. ha acahecido
esto, estahan en palacio dos hermanas del dugque de boquinguan
entramas casadas la una era muy tavorecida de la Reyna la
otra dizen que parecia bien al Rey y andava tras ella. en otra
maners dizen que estos amores no son del Rey sino de un
mancebo su privado que se dice conton (1) y solia ser repostero
del Rey muerto, este conton grangeava estos amores y dizen
que para el Rey y esto se cree mas cierto por lo que ha mostrado
sentir el Rey de lo que agora dire. la favorecida de la Reyna
ha andado muy solicita en esto de su hermana y ha ayuntado
consigo para lo que en este caso le parecia que convenia al
duque su hermano y a su marido y al marido de la hermanay
del conseio de todos quatro ha salido que estando el duque en
el aposiento de su hermana aquella de quien se tiene la
sospecha del Rey vino alli el conton a fablar con ella y vio al
duque. ataiose el duque travo con el de palabras y el fin dellas
fue que el cargo la mano con muchas palabras pesadas. el
Rey fue desto tan sentido que repasso al duque malamente. en
aquella misma noche el duque #e fue de palacio y no
entro ni torno alla de aquellos dias y assimismo se fue
¢l marido de aquella Sefiora y se llevo a ella. hala puesto
en un monesterio a lx millas de aqui que mno la vee
nadic. el Rey porque ha entendido que todo esto sale de

() Compton (?)

- (TRANSLATION. )
which it is well for me ¢o know, especially as the King and

1he Queen are young and cannot be without novelties. What

tely has happened is that two sisters of the Duke of
Buckingham, both married, lived in the palace. The one of
them is the favourite of the Queen, and the other, it 18 said,
is much liked by the King, who went after her. Another
version is that the love intrigues were not of the King, but
of a young man, his favourite, of tiie name of Conton,(") who
had been the late King’s butler. This Conton carried on the
love intrigue, as it is said, for the King, and that is the more
credible version, as the King has shown great displeasure at
what I am going to tell. The favourite of the (Queen has
been very anxious in this matter of her sister, and has joined
herself with the Duke, her brother, with her husband and her
sister’s husband, in order to consult on what should be done
‘n this case. The consequence of the counsel of all the four of
them was that, whilst the Duke was in the private apartment
of his sister, who was suspected [of intriguing] with the King,
Conton came there to talk with ber, saw the Duke, who
intercepted him, quarrelled with him, and the end of 1t was
that he was severely reproached in many and very hard
words. The King was so offended at this that he reprimanded

the Duke angrily. The same night the Duke left the palace,
| (1) Compton (?) |
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que la una fuc ida echo a la otra M@ palacio y a su marido con
ella y ahun porque entiende el Rey que bay algunas otras
mugeres del officio de’la favorecida es a saber que andan por
palacio assechando algun mal recaudo para presentarlo a los
oydos de la Reyna queria hecharlas todas sino porque le ha
parecido demasiado escandalo. despues quasi todos los de la
corte lo han sabido de que la Reyna ha estado enojada con
el Rey y el Rey con ella y assi anda este temporal entrelios.
dixelo al frayle y quexeme del en no haberme fecho parte
desto y sintiendome del enojo de la Reyna y diziendole algo
que me parecia convenia fazer a la Reyna en este caso y el
come me parecia que se devia governar porque en esto
entiendo saber mi parte assi por parte de casado como por
haver tratade tucho tiempo con cassados desta materia, nego-
melo reziamente y era como si se negara lo que estava pre-
gonado y dixome que estas sefioras no seran ydas por nada
de aquello y dizeme un disparatis quales el no mostre creer
lo que me dezia. ni fable mas en aquello.  yo se lo dixe por
provar si por estas o aquellas podria travar con el algunag

~ (TRANSLATION.)

and did not enter or return there for some days. At the same
time the husband of that lady went away, carried her off, and
placed her in a convent sixty miles from here, that no one
may sce her. The King having understood that all this pro-
ceeded from the sister, who is the favourite of the Queen, the
duy after the one was gone, turned the other out of the palace,
and her husband with her. Believing that there were other
women 1n the employment of the favourite, that is to say,
sach as go aboubt the palace insidiously spying out every
unwatched moment, in order to tell the Queen [stories], the
King would have liked to turn all of them out, only that it
has appeared to him too great a scandal. Afterwards, almost
all the court knew that -the (Queen had been vexed with
the King, and the King with her, and thus. this storm went,
on between them. I spoke to the friar about it, and com-
plained that he had not told me this. regretiing that the Queen
had been annoyed, and saying to him hqw I thought that the
Queenshould have acted in this case, and how he, in my opinion,
ought to have behaved himself., For in this I think I under-
stand my part, being a married man, and having often treated
with married people in similar matters, He contradicted
vehemently, which was the same thing as denying what had
been officially proclaimed. He told me that those ladies have
not gone for anything of the kind, and talked nonsense, and
evidently did not believe what he told me. I did not speak
more on that subject. I spoke with him in order to try
Whether I could not in this or that manner discuss with him
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pendencias y que siempre en lo de aqua no me tuviesse por
estrangero, ninguna manera con el hasta agora he podido fallar .
que me aproveche segun tiene mala cabeza ¥ las mugeres
inglesas y espafiolas desta casa que estan cerca la Reina son
simples yo he miedo que la Reyna no se govierne mal en
estas barrumbadas y ya lo faze porque no encubre nada el
mal que quiere a conton y esto pesa mucho al Rey y tambien
podria ser que al fraile segund bhe entendido le cupiesse su
parte de la fiesta lo que no me pesaria por su parte. todo esto
he querido dezir a V. md. para que si le parece lo diga (1) Su
Alteza y sino que se calle y a mi tambien que me mande

callar y no perder tiempo en estas cosas sino fago servicio con
ellas que pensando fazerlo me entremeto de lo que se faze en
palacio y puesto gue el frayle no me lo diga®alcango harta
parte dello en lo poco que ha que e